The University of Maine DigitalCommons@UMaine

Electronic Theses and Dissertations

Fogler Library

5-2004

The Role of Osteopontin in Vascular Remodeling

Daniel Myers

Follow this and additional works at: http://digitalcommons.library.umaine.edu/etd Part of the <u>Medical Cell Biology Commons</u>

Recommended Citation

Myers, Daniel, "The Role of Osteopontin in Vascular Remodeling" (2004). *Electronic Theses and Dissertations*. 337. http://digitalcommons.library.umaine.edu/etd/337

This Open-Access Dissertation is brought to you for free and open access by DigitalCommons@UMaine. It has been accepted for inclusion in Electronic Theses and Dissertations by an authorized administrator of DigitalCommons@UMaine.

THE ROLE OF OSTEOPONTIN IN VASCULAR REMODELING

By

Daniel L. Myers B.A. University of Maine, 1989 B.S. Saint Louis University, 1992

A THESIS

Submitted in Partial Fulfillment of the

Requirements for the Degree of

Doctor of Philosophy

(in Biological Sciences)

The Graduate School The University of Maine May, 2004

Advisory Committee:

Lucy Liaw, Scientist, Maine Medical Center Research Institute, Advisor Susan Hunter, Associate Professor of Cell Biology Thomas Gridley, Senior Staff Scientist, The Jackson Laboratory Stephen Pelsue, Associate Professor, University of Southern Maine Douglas Spicer, Scientist, Maine Medical Center Research Institute

LIBRARY RIGHTS STATEMENT

In presenting this thesis in partial fulfillment of the requirements for an advanced degree at The University of Maine, I agree that the Library shall make it freely available for inspection. I further agree that permission for "fair use" copying of this thesis for scholarly purposes may be granted by the Librarian. It is understood that any copying or publication of this thesis for financial gain shall not be allowed without my written permission.

Signature: Jun Marine Date: 3/39/cy

THE ROLE OF OSTEOPONTIN IN VASCULAR REMODELING

By Daniel L. Myers

Thesis Advisor: Dr. Lucy Liaw

An Abstract of the Thesis Presented in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for the Degree of Doctor of Philosophy (in Biological Sciences) May, 2004

Chronic obstructive vascular disease is a major contributor to mortality in developed nations. The pathology typically involves neointima formation accompanied by vascular remodeling in the presence of inflammation. The disease can be modeled in animals with the response to a direct injury of the vasculature. This text describes a project examining the role of osteopontin (OPN) in vascular remodeling. The project's goal was to mechanistically describe the contribution of OPN to the vascular injury response. The hypothesis that the presence of OPN affects the formation of neointima and constrictive remodeling associated with vascular injury was addressed using the strategy of comparing the remodeling response induced by carotid artery ligation of wild type mice to mice with a null mutation in the geen encoding OPN at time points known to be critical to lesion development.

OPN null mutant mice were compared to wild type mice before and after carotid artery ligation. As substantial variation is observed in the response to carotid artery ligation, the variance was analyzed for potential contributing variables. Distance from the site of ligation was shown to be a significant predictor, and data was analyzed using curvilinear regression. Prior to ligation, OPN null mice had increased heart rate, lower blood pressure, and increased circulating lymphocytes compared to wild type mice. OPN null vessels also demonstrated greater compliance accompanied by a loosely organized collagen network. Following carotid artery ligation, significant differences were also found in the remodeling response of OPN null animals. At 4 days after ligation, leukocyte adhesion/invasion was diminished by 10-fold in OPN null mice compared to wild type. At 14 days following ligation, the ligated arteries of OPN null mice had smaller neointimal lesions, but greater constrictive remodeling compared to wild type mice, resulting in similar lumen area. Continued remodeling resulted in a similar morphological phenotype in both groups at 28 days.

These data show that endogenous OPN regulates normal vascular physiology, and contributes to the vascular remodeling response by regulating vascular compliance and the inflammatory response.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

LIST OF TABLES	vii
LIST OF FIGURES	viii
LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS	x
Chapter	
1. THE INVESTIGATION OF CHRONIC OBSTRUCTIVE VASCULAR	
DISEASE	1
Factors affecting cardiovascular function	3
The blood	4
The heart	5
The vasculature	6
Structure and function	6
Regulation of vascular function	11
Methods to measure vascular function	13
Normal development of the vasculature	15
The vasculature forms early in development	15
Mature vessels remodel in response to physical forces	18
Chronic obstructive vascular disease	20
Examples of chronic obstructive vascular disease	21
Experimental models of chronic obstructive vascular disease	22
Sequence of events leading to chronic obstructive vascular disease	25
Many players mediate the vascular injury response	

Cells	28
Vasodilators and vasoconstrictors	30
Growth factors	32
Cytokines	33
The extracellular matrix	34
The work presented in this text	37
Goal	37
Hypothesis and strategy	38
Overview	39
2. A REGRESSION MODEL OF THE RESPONSE TO MURINE CAROTID	
ARTERY LIGATION	40
Chapter 2 Introduction	41
Carotid artery ligation of mice	41
Problems in analysis of the vascular response to carotid artery	
ligation	44
Chapter 2 Methods	45
Murine carotid artery ligation	45
Morphometric analysis	46
Data analysis	47
Chapter 2 Results	47
Data collection	47
Regression model of the vascular response to carotid artery ligation	49
Chapter 2 Discussion	52
Clots alter the vascular response	54

Theoretical problems	55
Summary	58
3. ALTERATIONS OF ARTERIAL PHYSIOLOGY IN OSTEOPONTIN NU	ЛL
MICE	59
Chapter 3 Introduction	60
The structure of SPP1, the gene that encodes osteopontin	60
The structure of osteopontin protein	62
Modifications of osteopontin	63
Receptors for osteopontin	66
The biological role of osteopontin	68
Bone	69
Kidney	69
Inflammation	70
Cancer	71
Vasculature	72
Similar Work	73
Chapter 3 Methods	74
Animals	74
Blood count, hemodynamics, and vascular compliance	74
Arterial ligation model	75
Western blot analysis	76
Morphometric analysis	76
Immunostaining	78

Statistical analysis	78
Chapter 3 Results	79
Vascular characteristics of OPN null mice	79
Expression of OPN following blood cessation in carotid arteries	91
Vascular remodeling response is regulated by OPN	92
Regression analysis describes osteopontin effects on the response to)
carotid artery ligation in greater detail	95
Cell proliferation and apoptosis	100
Rich inflammatory infiltrate following carotid artery ligation	103
Chapter 3 Discussion	105
4. SUMMARY, FUTURE PLANS, AND RESEARCH DESIGN	111
Summary	112
Future plans	115
Research design	116
Is the altered compliance of OPN null mice accompanied by altered	
elastin/ collagen structure?	116
Does osteopontin colocalize with collagen or elastin?	119
Does increasing concentration of osteopontin further decrease	
circumferential compliance?	120
Does osteopontin have multiple collagen or elastin binding sites?	121
Can osteopontin alter the compliance of elastin/ collagen	
matrices in vitro?	123
Do osteopontin null mice show greater vascular tone?	124
Limitations of the research design	126

Timeline for the proposed research design	
REFERENCES	129
BIOGRAPHY OF THE AUTHOR	

LIST OF TABLES

Table 1	Calculations to determine vessel areas	47
Table 2.	Much of the variation that occurs in response to carotid artery	
	ligation can be attributed to distance from the site of ligation	51
Table 3.	Regression model of the response to carotid artery ligation	52
Table 4.	Osteopontin receptors	68
Table 5.	The loss of osteopontin results in an altered concentration of	
	circulating lymphocytes	82
Table 6.	Traditional morphometric analysis of the ligated left carotid artery	97
Table 7.	Morphometric analysis of the contralateral right carotid artery in	
	response to ligation of the left carotid artery	98
Table 8.	Regression models describe how osteopontin is affecting the	
	response to carotid artery ligation	99

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1.	Neointimal lesion formation in the common carotid artery of rats	
	following endothelial denudation	8
Figure 2.	Growth factors and transcription factors involved in the development	t
	of blood vessels	16
Figure 3.	Timeline of events following vascular injury	24
Figure 4.	The site of the ligation in the carotid artery ligation model	43
Figure 5.	Example of scatter plot of morphometry measures	48
Figure 6.	The vascular remodeling response varies with distance from the	
	ligature	57
Figure 7.	The structure of the murine spp1 gene	61
Figure 8.	The structure of osteopontin protein	63
Figure 9.	Osteopontin exists in many different forms	65
Figure 10.	The loss of osteopontin results in altered hemodynamics	81
Figure 11.	Magnetic resonance angiograms show the aorta of OPN null mice to b)e
	the same size as wild type mice	85
Figure 12.	The loss of osteopontin results in the increased arterial wall	
	circumferential compliance of the common carotid artery	8 6
Figure 13.	The loss of osteopontin results in the increased arterial wall	
	circumferential compliance of the aorta	88
Figure 14.	The aortae of OPN null mice demonstrate increased compliance	89

Figure 15.	The presence of osteopontin does not affect the longitudinal	
	compliance of the common carotid artery	89
Figure 16.	Collagen fibers are organized more loosely in vessels of OPN null	
	mice	9 0
Figure 17.	Osteopontin expression is upregulated following carotid artery	
	ligation	91
Figure 18.	The response to carotid artery ligation varies with distance from the	
	site of the ligature and time	94
Figure 19.	Cell number, cell proliferation, and apoptosis in the neointima do	
	not differ between wild type and OPN null mice	. 102
Figure 20.	Leukocyte infiltration is diminished in OPN null mice	104
Figure 21.	Model of altered hemodynamics in OPN null mice	. 106
Figure 22.	Following endothelial denudation, rats demonstrate less constrictive	
	remodeling in response to anti-OPN treatment	. 10 8
Figure 23.	Anticipated sequence and time requirements for the different phases	
	of the proposed project	128

LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS

OPN Osteopontin

mRNA Messenger ribonucleic acid

Chapter 1

THE INVESTIGATION OF CHRONIC OBSTRUCTIVE VASCULAR DISEASE

Cardiovascular disease is the leading cause of mortality in developed nations¹. According to the World Health Organization, cardiovascular disease accounted for 16,585,000 deaths in the year 2002 or 29,3% of all deaths². In the United States, the American Heart Association reported cardiovascular disease accounts for 945,836 deaths or 39.4% of all deaths for the year 2003. Though the contribution of cardiovascular disease to mortality remains high, advances in the medical treatment of cardiovascular disease have markedly improved outcomes. From 1990 to 2000, the death rate from cardiovascular disease declined 17% in the United States. During this time, medical management of cardiovascular disease improved with the introduction of cholesterol lowering drugs, and vascular surgery methods improved with the introduction of stents. With regard to vascular research, it was less than ten years ago that Thayer et al. described the study of the molecular biology of vascular development as being in the earliest stages⁴. Since then, several of the key interactions involved with the development of the vasculature have been identified. Today, as research continues to investigate the basic functioning of the vasculature, we can expect discoveries that will lead to improved therapies in the future.

Chronic obstructive vascular disease, the major contributor to cardiovascular disease, is a group of distinct pathologies characterized by local changes in the vasculature that result in the restriction of blood flow. The maladaptation causes decreased oxygenation of downstream tissues, and, in some pathology, may result in embolism. As is often the case, if the site of the disease is upstream of a vital area, then progression of the disease may result in death due to failure of that vital area (e.g. stroke, myocardial infarction, etc.). This text presents background information on the pathology common to

all chronic obstructive vascular disease and some recent research into the processes underlying the disease.

Factors affecting cardiovascular function

It is necessary to consider the normal functions of vasculature before examining specific aspects of chronic obstructive vascular pathology. In essence, the mammalian circulatory system is an intermittent pump that circulates fluid through a hierarchical closed system of pipes. Though conceptually simple, the mammalian circulatory system is difficult to characterize due to the variables that affect each of its components⁵. Much of the function of the cardiovascular system can be explained with Poiseuilleís law⁵:

 $Q = (P_1 - P_2)r^4 / 8 n L$

Where Q is flow rate, P_1 - P_2 is the pressure difference, r is the radius of the tube, n is the viscosity of the liquid, and L is the length of the tube.

Poiseuilleís law relates the movement of a fluid through a rigid pipe of known diameter to the fluidís viscosity in response to a pressure drop. The law serves as a nice starting point to examine cardiovascular function as it specifies variables involved in simple fluid flow. However, Poiseuilleís law has two major shortcomings in its ability to describe blood flow in the circulatory system. The law assumes constant pressure in a rigid tube, whereas flow through the vasculature involves pulsatile pressures in an extensible tube. The pulsatile changes in pressure and extensibility of the tube confound the mathematical description of blood flow such that no expression has been proposed to describe the system. Rather mathematical description is done by analogy to electrical systems (Ohms law: Voltage = amperage x resistance) and series of pumps (windkessel). Thus, experimental analysis of hemodynamics remains largely descriptive while efforts continue to verify the mathematical relations of the variables involved.

The blood

For the purposes of this study, the simplest component of the circulatory system to consider is the blood. Viscosity, defined as shear stress (the force resisting blood flow) divided by shear strain (the change in flow with distance measured perpendicular to the flow), is the resistance of a fluid to change shape. According to Poiseuille, viscosity affects the rate of blood flow. The effects of viscosity on the regional differences in flow within the vessel have also been described 6,7 . In vitro, blood is normally 3-4 times as viscous as water. A Newtonian fluid, like plasma, demonstrates constant viscosity at all fluid flows. Blood, however, contains suspended cells that alter the fluid is behavior so as to make it non-newtonian. Unlike plasma, blood demonstrates decreased viscosity at increased flow rates. As red blood cells are, by far, the predominant suspended cell in blood, changes in red blood cell shape or iron composition will substantially alter blood viscosity⁸. As blood is a non-newtonian fluid, the parabolic flow pattern (i.e. faster in the center and slower along the walls) demonstrated by Newtonian fluids is not observed. This non-newtonian behavior of blood has physiologically beneficial effects. Blood is able to offer little resistance to flow in vessels with high flow velocity such as large conduit arteries, but is able to offer substantial resistance to flow in vessels with low flow velocity such as small arterioles. This slow movement of blood cells facilitates gas

exchange and interaction with endothelial cells. Interestingly, an effect related to small tube size occurs to prevent especially large viscosities from occurring at the very slow flow velocities characteristic of capillaries⁹. Poiseuilleís law can also be used to consider the effect of blood viscosity on the shear stress experienced by the vessel wall. At constant shear strain, shear stress increases with increasing viscosity. Thus, the sliding force exerted on the vessel wall increases with increasing viscosity of the fluid.

The heart

Whereas a consideration of the blood involves only its viscosity and nonnewtonian nature, a consideration of the heart involves pressure and cardiac output. For the purposes of this study, the heart can be viewed as a pump that at a regular rate injects a specific amount of fluid at standard pressure into the vasculature. The pulsatile nature of the heart results in the pressure within the arteries alternating between a high pressure experienced during contraction of the left ventricle (systolic pressure), and a lower pressure experienced during the distention of the left ventricle (diastolic pressure). The pressure difference between the systolic pressure and the diastolic pressure is referred to as the pulse pressure. It is the action of the heart that creates the pressure gradient described in Poiseuilleís law. The left ventricle contracts with a force that is sufficient to overcome the resting pressure of the vasculature and the viscosity of the blood. The work done by this muscle contraction results in the movement of blood into the aorta and an increase in aortic pressure. The amount of blood forced from the left ventricle into the vasculature with each beat of the heart is called stroke volume. Stroke volume is dependent on the difference in volume of the left ventricle when distended (diastole) and when contracted (systole), though it is slightly less than this difference because of a small

reverse flow of blood back into the left ventricle before closure of the bicuspid valve. Cardiac output is the amount of blood pumped by the heart in one minute, and is dependent on both heart rate and stroke volume. (Cardiac output = heart rate x stroke volume), but the linear relationship is only true at physiologic heart rates. Stroke volume drops substantially with especially slow heart rates¹⁰. Similar to Ohmís law, the mean arterial pressure of the heart is determined solely by cardiac output and total vascular resistance (Mean arterial pressure =cardiac output x total vascular resistance). Though it has been suggested that pulse pressure may be a better indicator of cardiovascular disease¹¹, mean arterial pressure remains the focus of most blood pressure management therapies.

The vasculature

Structure and function

The vasculature is a hierarchical system of distensible tubes. The levels of the vasculature are defined by the initial branching of large arteries into smaller arteries, then arterioles, then capillaries, then progressive merging into venules, then smaller and ultimately to large veins. The composition of each blood vessel is critical to its function in the hierarchy¹². Blood vessels are composed of specifically arranged cell types in a matrix that contains collagen, elastin, and proteoglycans. The dry weight of an artery is approximately 30% of the total weight, with collagen and elastin typically being 50-75% of the total dry weight¹³. Proteoglycans, consistent with their function as space fillers, take up the majority of the extracellular space in arteries despite their low contribution to total weight. The proteoglycans present in arteries include: versican, biglycan, and

decorin. The glycosaminoglycans hyaluronic acid, chondroitin sulfate, heparan sulfate, and dermatan sulfate are also present¹⁴. The blood vessel wall has three distinct layers: the adventitia, the media, and the intima (Figure 1A, C). The adventitia is the outermost layer and is composed of loose connective tissue that is comprised mostly of collagens I and III¹⁵. The media is the fleshy middle layer that, in a healthy blood vessel, constitutes the bulk of the vessel wall. This layer appears as concentrically arranged layers of smooth muscle cells in a matrix that consists mostly of collagen type I, III, and V^{15} separated by a fixed number of elastic lamina based on species and elastin expression¹⁶. The innermost layer is the intima. As the endothelium is only a single cell layer thick, the intima of a normal artery essentially does not contribute to the overall size of the artery, but does provide a smooth, non-thrombogenic surface for blood flow. The tight junctions that join the cells of a functional endothelium prevent plasma components from coming in contact with the thrombogenic medial layer. Between the medial layer and intimal layer is a basement membrane that contains collagen IV colocalizing with laminin, and collagen $V^{15,17}$. Whereas collagen provides tensile strength, the elastin, which makes up the elastic lamina of the medial layer, provides the extensible material that allows blood vessels to demonstrate both circumferential and longitudinal stretch. As elastin fibers run along the length of the vessel, longitudinal stretch has been shown to be influenced by elastin content, circumferential stretch has been shown to be mediated by both elastin and collagen content 13,18. An increase in collagen I content strengthens the vessel, but the ratio of collagen I to collagen III can also affect the vascular flexibility¹⁷. Conversely, the loss of type I collagen has been shown to substantially weaken arteries¹⁹.



Figure 1. Neointimal lesion formation in the common carotid artery of rats following endothelial denudation. Cross-section of the common carotid artery from a rat following sham manipulation (A), and from a rat harvested two weeks after balloon catheter denudation (B). The sections were stained with Massonís trichrome stain indicating the presence of collagen in blue and proteoglycan in reddish purple. (C, D) Parts of the vessel. Balloon catheter denudation induces an injury response that is considered very similar to restenosis in humans. The elastic laminae appear as bands within the media.

The extensibility due to the elastin / collagen ratio¹³ of the vascular wall allows the vessel to expand in response to an increase in pressure. This change in vessel size in response to pressure, termed vascular compliance, is critical to proper vascular function. The localized expansion of the aorta converts the kinetic energy of systole into a localized potential energy. The energy is then released over diastole as a smooth, passive constriction of the aorta that moves the blood forward, causing another localized expansion. The active expansion / passive constriction of the artery dampens the pulsatile flow of blood from the heart and is propagated along the vessel as a pressure wave. The velocity with which the wave propagates along the artery, called pressure wave velocity, is affected by both arterial compliance and blood viscosity. It should be noted that pulse wave velocity does not equate to the velocity of blood through the vessels, and this point allows distinction of the two functions of arteries: 1) to provide a conduit for blood flow, 2) to conduct the energy of the contraction of the heart necessary for movement of the blood. The specialization of the arterial network can be appreciated with the realization that different circuits of the circulatory system have different nutritive needs as well as different energy requirements. The circulatory system meets these different needs through the regulation of the lumen size and compliance of each individual artery. Whereas most distensible materials demonstrate constant elasticity in response to varying force (isotropy), blood vessels demonstrate different elasticities at different pressures (anisotropy). This anisotropy is considered to be the most important feature of blood vessels, as it provides the vessels with an efficient mechanism to regulate blood / energy transfer²⁰. The aorta perhaps best demonstrates the specialization for transport of blood and energy. The aorta is tapered in size with the ascending aorta having the largest lumen on cross section, and the base of the abdominal aorta having the smallest. Numerous

arteries branch from the aorta along its length to provide blood to different circuits. Not only does the size of the aorta change along its length, but so does its compliance²⁰. In this way, the aorta is able to provide both the correct amount of blood to each circuit and the correct amount of energy to properly move that blood through the given circuit. Interestingly, a smaller, reverse pressure wave is initiated at each transition at branch points. It is believed that these reverse pulse waves provide a feedback mechanism by which energy (heart rate and strength of contraction) is finely regulated throughout the circulatory system.

Vascular compliance also affects the amount of work the heart must do in order to circulate the blood. Cardiac output has been related to arterial compliance as follows²¹.

Cardiac output = mean arterial pressure x (compliance / time constant)

As cardiac output increases linearly with an increase in compliance, increased compliance reduces the pressure at which the heart must operate to maintain cardiac output. As mean arterial pressure is related to total vascular resistance, the relationship suggests therapies that increase compliance should result in decreased resistance to blood flow. However, other factors, such as the alteration of total number of vessels must be considered when selecting therapy, and the relationship should be considered valid only in time frames that do not allow other compensations of the body. Vascular compliance has also been documented to affect pulse pressure²²⁻²⁴. Such an effect is intuitive with the realization that a rigid vasculature would not be able to dampen pressure.

The venous system has different specializations that reflect its function. Whereas arteries need to be able to handle the high pressures that result from being proximal to the heart, most of this energy is lost by the time the blood arrives in veins. Thus, the venous system transports blood at relatively low pressure with its primary function being return of the blood to the heart. Consistent with this lower pressure, veins demonstrate larger lumen areas and smaller medial areas than arteries at a comparable level. As the large driving pressure is largely absent, veins have specialized valves that keep the blood moving in one direction.

Regulation of vascular function

Several hormones are known to regulate vascular tone including vasopressin, endothelin, angiotensin, and nitric oxide. Vasopressin, also called anti-diuretic hormone, is a vasoconstrictor that is used at the level of the entire circulatory system to regulate blood pressure. Synthesized in the hypothalamus and secreted by the posterior hypothalamus, vasopressin in small concentrations stimulates water resorption in the nephron, but in larger concentration acts as a potent vasoconstrictor. Stimuli that lead to vasopressin secretion include: low blood pressure, high blood osmomolarity, and activation of the sympathetic nervous system.

The vascular response to the renin / angiotensin / aldosterone system is a method by which pressure is regulated at both the system level and at the level of the individual vessel. Renin is secreted in response to a drop in blood pressure or by a drop in plasma sodium concentration. The juxtaglomerular cells of the kidney, located on the afferent arterioles immediately adjacent to the entry to Bowmanis capsule of a nephron, sense the drop in blood pressure,. The juxtaglomerular cells are believed to respond as stretch receptors to sense a change in blood volume. The juxtaglomerular cells are also positioned next to cells of the distal convoluted tubule. As these cells of the distal convoluted tubule are involved with the resorption of water / sensing of sodium, they are believed to communicate with the juxtaglomerular cells. In response to sensing low sodium or low blood pressure, the juxtaglomerular cells secrete renin into the blood. Renin acts as an enzyme on angiotensinogen, a protein secreted by the liver that maintains a steady blood concentration, to create angiotensin I. The conversion of angiotensinogen to angiotensin I occurs in the general blood supply throughout the body. Angiotensin I has mild vasoconstrictive properties that can provide a quick response to the low blood pressure that led to its formation. Angiotensin I is acted upon by angiotensin converting enzyme to form angiotensin II. Though angiotensin converting enzyme is found in the general circulation, its primary site of activity is in the lungs. It is estimated that in one pass through the lungs, 80% of the angiotensin I is converted to angiotensin II. Angiotensin II has two targets of action: 1) it acts on the general vasculature as a potent vasoconstrictor and substantially raises blood pressure quickly, 2) it acts on the zona glomerulosa of the adrenal gland to stimulate the secretion of aldosterone. Aldosterone acts on the nephron, specifically the distal convoluted tubule, to increase resorption of sodium ions, which also increases resorption of water. Aldosterone also has an action on the pituitary to increase secretion of vasopressin. Thus, vasopressin would target the distal convoluted tubule to increase sodium and water resorption as well. Angiotensin II stimulates collagen synthesis in smooth muscle cells in vitro²⁵. Thus, angiotensin II regulates vascular compliance both in the short term, by smooth muscle tone, and long term, by altering the collagen / elastin ratio. In response to certain stimuli, angiotensin converting enzyme can be expressed by

cells of the vascular wall allowing individual vessels some control of vascular tone. Endothelin is also secreted by the endothelium where it acts as a potent vasoconstrictor providing additional control of individual vessels²⁶.

Another messenger molecule through which the endothelium regulates arterial function is nitric oxide. As nitric oxide exists as a gas at standard temperature and pressure, the detection of its presence is more difficult than for that of most other signaling molecules. Typically, the presence of nitric oxide is determined by change in the concentration of its precursors (L-arginine and citrulline). Nitric oxide in the vasculature is the product of three different enzymes: endothelial nitric oxide synthase, inducible nitric oxide synthase, and neural nitric oxide synthase²⁷. As the mRNAs resulting from transcription of these genes are very similar, it is the promoter, and thus situations under which transcription occurs, that distinguishes the individuality of these genes. Endothelial nitric oxide synthase is an endothelium specific gene that is always expressed to some degree in endothelial cells.

Methods to measure vascular function

Laboratory methods exist to measure the movement of both blood and energy through the vasculature. In the case of transport of blood, relevant measurements must be made in vivo in a manner that does not interfere with blood flow. Doppler technology allows blood flow measurements to be made from a vessel with minimal disturbance. As sound waves are propagated through material interactions, blood flow through a vessel can be determined by measuring the shift of sound waves as they pass through a blood vessel.

Measurements of the movement of energy can be made with similar technology. Ultrasound with sufficient sampling rates and resolution can be used to measure pulse wave velocity. However, the determination of vascular compliance is not as straight forward. Though arterial compliance can also be measured using ultrasound²⁸ with systolic / diastolic changes in vessel diameter used to calculate compliance in the physiological pressure range, these methods rely on measurement of the change in vessel diameter occurring with each beat of the heart. Critique of the method centers on the lack of sufficient time for the vessel diameter to equilibrate at each pressure. Vascular compliance measurements are often measured in vitro using direct methods. Methods include the use of the wire myograph 29,30 and the pressure myograph 31,32 . Compliance is determined in a wire myograph by longitudinally passing two thin but rigid wires through the vessel lumen. A known force is then applied to the wires to separate them from each other, resulting in the circumferential stretch of the vessel. Measurements can then be made of the change in width of the vessel in response to the force to determine extensibility of the vessel. Arteries studied in a wire myograph only demonstrate stretch circumferentially as no change in the length of the vessel occurs. The pressure myograph takes a different approach. The arterial segment is ligated at one end, then sutured to a catheter at the other through which a known pressure can be applied. Like a balloon, vessels studied in a pressure myograph stretch both circumferentially and longitudinally. Comparison of compliance results of similar vessels in the different myographs reveals that deformation of the vessel alters compliance biaxially 33,34, and results obtained from one type of myograph may be very different from those obtained from the other. This

verifies that compliance measurements are geometry specific and has raised questions as to the validity of measurements from these devices³⁵. Generally, the pressure myograph is considered to be more physiologically relevant than wire myograph³⁶.

Normal development of the vasculature

The vasculature forms early in development

The formation of the circulatory system begins following gastrulation, and involves complex interactions of extravasated plasma proteins and endothelial cell proteins induced by key cytokines³⁷. Blood and blood vessels begin as hemangioblasts from the paraxial and splanchnopleural mesoderm forming concentrations in the gut, lung, aorta, and yolk sac. With the correct signals, these blood / vascular stem cells differentiate into endothelial cells and form primitive tubes. These blood islands then form the initial blood and capillary networks of the body. The expression of three families of vascular endothelium-specific growth factors are critical to the initiation of vasculogenesis: five members of the vascular endothelial growth factor family, four members of the angiopoietin family, and ephrin-B2. The interaction of these factors is complex, and the reader is referred to Yancopoulos et al. 38 for review of the actions of these factors. Additionally, Oettgen has reviewed the transcriptional regulation of blood vessel development (Figure 2). Vascular endothelial growth factor, originally called vascular permeability factor, appears to be the factor that initiates vessel formation, followed by Angiopoeitin-1 and ephrin-B2, which are involved in vessel maturation³⁹. The expression of the ephrin-B4 receptor appears to be involved in the differentiation of arteries and veins⁴⁰.





Vessel maturation involves both the recruitment of surrounding mesenchymal cells then their differentiation into vascular smooth muscle cells, and the remodeling of the extracellular matrix. The specific factors involved in maturation remains an area of investigation, though the continued expression of angiopoeitin-1 appears to be involved in the maintenance of vessel quiescence following vessel maturation³⁸. The structural remodeling of the vessel occurs in response to the chronic physical forces to which it is exposed, such as pressure and shear stress, the specific function of the artery (transport vs. gas exchange, large vs. small artery), and compensatory mechanisms at the level of the individual artery and circulatory system. In vitro work suggests many factors may be involved. Growth factors have been shown to have specific effects on vascular cells and their supporting matrix. Consistent with the suggestion Schwartz and Liaw that fibroblast growth factor- 2 overcomes endogenous inhibition of proliferation of endothelial cells then allows cells to enter mitosis in response to injury⁴², fibroblast growth factor expression has been observed to increase cell number, but does not effect chondroitin sulfate content or dermatan sulfate content¹⁴. Similarly, epidermal growth factor acts as a mitogen but does not affect proteoglycan content. Opposing the action of these growth factors, insulin-like growth factor ñ1 and platelet derived growth factor do not act as an in vivo mitogen for smooth muscle cells, but to stimulate synthesis of chondroitin sulfate, dermatan sulfate and cell hypertrophy¹⁴. Interestingly, none of these growth factors affected heperan sulfate deposition¹⁴. Platelet derived growth factor, and transforming growth factor - β also appear to play a role in vessel maturation⁴¹. The expression of matrix metalloproteinases 2 and 9 occurs in the region around developing arteries, and null mutation results in early embryonic lethality presumably due to disturbed vessel formation⁴³.

The development of blood cells has been reviewed⁴⁴, with the specific lineage of different white blood cells being a topic of debate. Blood cell differentiation and development are also dependent on factors present in the area. Interestingly, the development of blood cells from hemangioblasts involves expression of several proteins that mark endothelial cell differentiation in response to many of the same factors. The differentiation of blood components with blood vessels is believed to involve either undiscovered differentiation factors, or local differences in concentration of known differentiation factors.

As compared to small arteries that form as small beds throughout the body during development, large arteries develop with the patterning of the early embryo. As described by Gilbert⁴⁵, following gastrulation, thickened areas of intermediate mesoderm fold to form lumens bilaterally. These cardiac primordia, though not containing blood, demonstrate pulsations. The tubes are drawn closer together as neurulation proceeds, and ultimately fuse to form the cardiac tube. In humans and mice, elongation of the central portion of the tube results in formation of an S-shape with left ñ right orientation. This S shaped structure develops into the 4 chambered heart. The anterior portion of the tube, linking with the aorta vessel network, forms the aortic arches surrounding the pharynx, while the posterior portion forms the vitelline veins. Meanwhile, the developing capillary networks expand to join the large central vasculature. In humans and mice, some of the aortic arches degenerate while others merge and expand to form the aorta, pulmonary artery, and carotid arteries. The capillary network of the chorion merges with the vitelline veins to supply nourished blood to the heart. Thus, the circulatory system forms from a merger of several circulatory subsystems, as opposed to the expansion of a central system.

Mature vessels remodel in response to physical forces

The metabolic needs of the body change throughout life as the body grows and exercise levels fluctuate. In order to meet these needs, the cardiovascular system must change as well. New blood vessels form in areas in areas of body growth, but instead of being replaced, established large vessels remodel their structure so as to meet the body is changing needs. Vascular response to acute needs is mediated by vascular tone in response to vasoconstrictors and vasodilators. Hormones, such as angiotensin II and vasopressin, regulate the entire vasculature, while paracrine factors, such as nitric oxide and endothelin, provide local control of individual vessels. Vascular function in response remodeling to chronic needs is mediated by changes in vascular structure and smooth muscle cell reactivity. It is likely that the structural changes occur in response to expression of genes induced by certain vasoconstrictors^{25,46}.

The normal remodeling of the vasculature that occurs throughout life has been best demonstrated with the response of the vasculature to increased blood pressure. The increase in blood pressure disturbs the cardiac output- total vascular resistance balance⁴⁷, and is detrimental to the body as it places greater structural demands on the vasculature and shifts it out of the compliance range that is efficient for energy and blood transport. The remodeling of individual blood vessels in response to increased pressure depends on both the source of the pressure increase 48,49 and the position of the vessel in the vascular hierarchy⁵⁰. Vascular remodeling may involve changes in gross vessel morphology, changes in the structural composition of the vessel, and local changes in the organization of the vasculature⁵¹⁻⁵³. Changes in gross vessel morphology that have been observed in the presence of increased blood pressure include: increased medial area without changes in lumen area⁵⁴, increased medial area with decreased lumen area^{55,56}. and decreased lumen area without changes in medial area^{31,57}. Both increased⁵⁶ and decreased compliance^{31,58} have been observed in small vessels in response to increased blood pressure. In large vessels, both decreased compliance 59-63 and no change in compliance 50,64 have been observed in response to increased pressure. The collagen

content of vessels has been observed to increase with age and may partially explain the correlation of decreasing vascular compliance with increasing age^{65-67} . In response to increases in blood pressure, the vascular content of fibronectin⁶⁸, and collagen V has been observed to increase⁶¹, whereas elastin and proteoglycans⁶⁹ decline. The organization of the components also appears to be a source by which vessels can alter function as studies have shown both no change in the physical properties of vessel wall components^{68,70} as well as physical changes^{69,71,72}. The mechanism by which fibronectin participates in vascular remodeling was proposed to involve increased attachment of smooth muscle cells to the matrix⁶⁸. In response to increased blood pressure, the vasculature has also been observed to reduce the number of small arteries and capillaries in a local area (rarefaction)^{52,53}.

Changes in smooth muscle cell reactivity have also been observed to accompany increased pressure^{73,74,57}. The increase in pressure that accompanies aging was observed to correlate with decreased response to nitric oxide^{56,67,75}. The source of hypertension appears to affect the response to specific vasoconstrictors / vasodilators is different in different animal models of hypertension^{26,29,29,49,55}.

Chronic obstructive vascular disease

Chronic obstructive vascular disease involves the remodeling of the vasculature in the presence of inflammation. The degree of inflammation differs between the specific diseases as well as the composition of the remodeled vascular areas. In general, a local vascular lesion that includes both neointima formation and vascular remodeling (Figure 1B, D) characterizes the diseases. Whereas the intimal layer is normally thin and consists of a single layer of endothelial cells, the neointima may become so thick as to fill the lumen and consist of many layers of smooth muscle cell marker expressing cells. Whereas tight junctions form between the endothelial cells of the normal intima, neointima demonstrates substantial matrix deposition. The vascular remodeling that accompanies chronic obstructive vascular disease may be positive (increase in vessel total cross sectional area), or negative (decrease in vessel total cross sectional area) depending on the specific disease.

Examples of chronic obstructive vascular disease

Stenosis is perhaps the simplest of the chronic obstructive vascular pathologies and occurs in response to a chronic drop in blood flow (reduction in shear stress). The initial decrease in lumen area is due to vasoconstriction. Later, the reduction in lumen area involves permanent changes in the vessel wall. The stimulus that initiates inflammation is not known, but may be disruption of the tight junctions of endothelium from the longterm compression of the intimal layer allowing blood to contact the thrombogenic medial layer. Neointima formation varies from minimal to severe.

Unlike stenosis, restenosis involves neointima formation that is often accompanied by positive remodeling (an increase in the cross sectional area of the entire vessel)⁷⁶. In this case, the lesion forms in response to the surgical excision of stenosed area or other disruption of the endothelium. Inflammation is induced by this direct injury to the vasculature. Restenosis occurs in 30-50% of all angioplasties⁷⁷.

Atherosclerosis has a complex etiology 57,78, and the reader is referred to Lusis for review⁷⁹. In essence, this disease is a response to injury caused by oxidative modification of lipoprotein. Briefly, circulating lipoprotein is able to diffuse through the tight junctions of the endothelium and accumulates along the basement membrane. Sites of accumulation of lipoprotein are termed "fatty streaks" and are determined by characteristics of blood flow. In a process similar to that which will be described for all chronic obstructive vascular disease, macrophages (but not neutrophils) migrate to the subendothelial space to take up the lipoprotein. The lipoprotein along the basement membrane undergoes modifications including oxidation, lipolysis, and proteolysis so as to facilitate uptake by the macrophages. The modification of lipoprotein is believed to involve the enzymes myeloperoxidase, sphingomyelinase, and secretory phospholipase in the presence of several reactive oxygen species. The lipid-laden macrophages, now called "foam cells", alter the developing neointima so as to make it less stable. Lesion rupture generally occurs along lesion edges which are rich in foam cells and appears to involve an altered balance of matrix deposition / degradation in response to inflammatory factors. Interestingly, the incidence of myocardial infarction and stroke has been noted to increase during acute infection suggesting the involvement mediators of immunity with vascular disease.

Experimental models of chronic obstructive vascular disease

The remodeling of the vasculature that occurs in chronic obstructive vascular disease is similar to the remodeling of the vasculature that occurs throughout life in that it occurs in response to physical stimuli acting on the vessel. Whereas the vascular remodeling which occurs throughout life represents a system level adaptation to a
changing body, the remodeling associated with chronic obstructive vascular disease is a maladaptation to a local irritant. All of the chronic obstructive vascular diseases involve vascular remodeling in the presence of inflammation and most of the damage that occurs in lesion formation is due to the inflammatory response following the irritant. Though the presentation of the vascular lesion, underlying cause, and degree of inflammation vary in each chronic obstructive vascular disease, the vascular response to inflammation is believed to be similar in each case. Thus, any method that reliably induces an inflammatory response in the vasculature may be considered to be a model for the many aspects common to all chronic obstructive vascular diseases. Current models include animals which have been genetically modified to remove a vasoprotective protein (e.g. apolipoprotein E)⁸⁰, animals which have been genetically modified to over-express proteins which are harmful to vessels (e.g. renin)⁸¹, infusion of chemicals which damage vessels (e.g. lipopolysaccharide)⁸², and direct physical injury of the vessel. Direct injury methods have included cauterization⁸³, application of corrosive agents⁸⁴, electrocution⁸⁵, endothelial denudation⁸⁶, dehydration⁸⁷, cuffing^{88,89}, vibration⁹⁰, and ligation⁹¹.



Vascular Injury Events

Figure 3. Timeline of events following vascular injury. Though there are many different vascular injury models, many induced events are believed to be common to all models. The precise timing of the events differs between models. INOS = inducible nitric oxide synthase, eNOS = endothelial nitric oxide synthase, TGF- β = transforming growth factor - β

Sequence of events leading to chronic obstructive vascular disease

Animal models that involve direct injury of the vasculature allow more precise temporal study of the injury response. Though specific timing of events varies between models, a general pattern of platelet / leukocyte aggregation followed by smooth muscle cell proliferation, migration, and extracellular matrix deposition can be identified. Studies that have observed the injury response at different times have been especially helpful in clarifying the processes of the injury response⁹²⁻⁹⁴. Using information gathered from studies using the many models, a general description of the vascular response to injury can be made by dividing the injury response into three periods: early, middle, and late (Figure 3).

The early period involves the first 4 days following injury. General responses to the procedure as well as responses specific to the injured vasculature characterize the immediate post-procedure period following induction of the inflammatory response. For example, matrix metalloproteinase -9 expression is observed in the common carotid artery of both ligated and sham manipulated mice immediately following surgery⁹⁵. A second example is that arteries typically respond to any manipulation with a vasoconstriction whose duration seems determined by the level of trauma. Responses specific to the injured vasculature can be seen beginning the day after the procedure. The strong expression of adhesion molecules on the surface of endothelial cells is first observed soon after injury⁹³. Platelets in conjunction with leukocytes can be seen aggregating near the endothelium⁹². The leukocytes involved in the initial interactions in the early period were determined to be neutrophils, that are quickly joined by macrophages⁹³. The leukocytes extravasate and, in a reperfusion injury model, inhibition of neutrophil extravasation at

this time with annexin-1 has been shown to reduce neointima formation96. Proliferation of medial smooth muscle cells coincides with this leukocyte invasion⁹⁷, and smooth muscle cell migration from the medial layer to the intimal layer is observed to begin 2 to 4 days after the procedure⁹⁸. Deposition of collagen type VIII⁹⁹, and fibrin deposition is seen along the vessel wall⁹² also at this time, and, in models involving blood stasis, clot formation may occur between 2-3 days post procedure⁹². Along with an increase in transforming growth factor - β expression, tissue factor is observed to be expressed between the inner wall of the media and the forming fibrin layer¹⁰⁰. By the end of this period, both neutrophils and macrophages are observed to have penetrated into the medial layer⁹³.

The period from 4 to 7 days following the procedure is marked by the appearance of a platelet / fibrin rich neointima extending into the lumen⁹². Interleukin-1 expression is observed in the media at this time, then peaks at day 10^{101} . In models that demonstrate constrictive remodeling, the bulk of constrictive remodeling prior to day 7 is believed to be due to vasoconstriction94.

From 7 to 28 days, cell replacement is evident in both the neointima and media as both proliferation and apoptosis are observed. Smooth muscle cell proliferation is described as optimal for observation until day 14⁹². Smooth muscle cell apoptosis occurs after 7 days, and a decreased number of smooth muscle cells is observed at 14 days^{91,94}. As this is the time that the observed constriction is increasingly unresponsive to vasodilator, Rudic et al. speculated the structural changes were due to smooth muscle cell apoptosis⁹⁴. Despite the loss in intimal cell number following day 14, intimal area has generally been observed to increase due to continued matrix deposition. As current lesion analyses do not consider the length of the involved arterial segment, the observed increase in intimal area may reflect a lesion that extends over a larger segment and not an actual increase in cross sectional area. At day 7, basal nitric oxide synthesis is observed to decrease at this time without a concomitant change in endothelial nitric oxide synthase levels⁹⁴. Additionally, inducible nitric oxide synthase expression is observed in the adventitia from invading inflammatory cells 102 , and expression of matrix metalloproteinase -2 is first observed to increase over its constitutive level at this time and remains elevated throughout this period 103. Interestingly, the expression of this matrix metalloproteinase was shown to be related to flow restriction in the endothelial denudation model, with no change in expression in the case of high flow 103. Angiotensin converting enzyme expression is observed to increase along the lumen border between 1 to 2 weeks following injury 104 and strong tissue factor expression persists in the neointima. By day 14, cells expressing smooth muscle cell markers are present throughout the neointima⁹². Transforming growth factor-b returns to baseline expression at this time 97 and interleukin-1 is no longer observed after this time 101 . By day 28 post procedure, both neointimal formation and constrictive remodeling are believed to be stable in that little change in these important parameters occurs⁹¹. The application of vasodilator does not alter lumen area at this time, implying the vessel to be rigid.

Many players mediate the vascular injury response

The vascular lesions of chronic obstructive vascular disease form in response to the interactions of several cell types, secreted messengers, and modification of the extracellular matrix. Though it is believed that neointima formation results from smooth muscle proliferation in the media followed by migration to and further proliferation in the intima, the migration of these cells has not been proven. Smooth muscle cells in the intima display the smooth muscle cell markers of medial cells 91 , but they also display a markedly different morphology. Whereas the nuclei of medial smooth muscle cells are large and oval shaped on vessel cross section, the nuclei of the intimal smooth muscle cells appear small and punctate in vessel cross section. Alternatively, it has been suggested that the intimal smooth muscle cells are the result of differentiated adventitial fibroblasts that migrated to the intima¹⁰⁵. Although intimal cells appear in the absence of endothelium, it has also been suggested that the expression of smooth muscle cell markers represents a loss of differentiation of endothelial cells 105 . This question as to the origin of neointimal cells could be partially addressed with the use of mice containing an inducible smooth muscle specific reporter construct in which the reporter is expressed then inhibited just prior to injury. The appearance of reporter expressing cells in the neointima would indicate migration from the media.

<u>Cells</u>

Endothelial cells appear to play a multi-faceted role in the response to injury. Endothelial cell expression of cell adhesion molecules allows homing of inflammatory cells to the site of injury. Cell adhesion molecules belonging to the integrin, selectin, and immunoglobulin superfamily are expressed following injury, and loss of function of Mac-187,106,107, selectins (E.L.P)108,109, intracellular adhesion molecule-1110,111 results in decreased neointima formation. Platelet binding to sites of vascular injury is initiated with the binding of platelet glycoprotein Ib-V-IX to von Willebrand factor on endothelial cells. P-selectin and Mac-1 are involved in the interaction of platelets with white blood cells^{109,112}. Despite the presence of the endothelium, the compressive force associated with constrictive remodeling may directly interfere with the ability of the endothelium to prevent the thrombogenic media from coming in contact with blood. The interaction of platelets and leukocytes suggests the contact activation system may be involved in mediating the vascular response to injury. Support for this possibility is provided by the observation that overexpression of kallikrein results in diminished macrophage infiltration¹¹³ and neointima formation^{114,115}. Endothelial cells are a critical source of both vasoconstrictors (endothelin) and vasodilators in this system. Additionally, endothelial cells express different growth factors in culture than in vivo¹¹⁶ suggesting the disruption of the cells with injury may induce a different phenotype.

The inflammatory cells believed to participate in the injury response have not been well characterized. Kumar and Lindner described the observation of macrophages in both the intima and media using BMA BM8, a cell surface marker of macrophages, immunostaining of cross sections⁹¹. Since that time, neutrophils have been observed to be the predominant inflammatory cell type in the first three days of response⁹³. Little has been done in addition to these studies to characterize the inflammatory cells mediating the response to carotid artery ligation. Questions remaining to be answered involve the identification of other leukocyte types in the injury response, and the determination of the activation state of the invading leukocytes. The role of prostaglandin has been studied in this model only through a drug studies in which aspirin was shown to have no effect on the response to ligation^{27,102}.

Vasodilators and vasoconstrictors

As with normal remodeling of the vasculature, vasodilators and growth factors affect vascular remodeling in the presence of inflammation. The amount of vasodilator present in the vessel during the early stages of the response to carotid artery ligation may substantially reduce constrictive remodeling. The initial vasoconstriction in response to injury may be due to reduced expression of endothelial nitric oxide synthase, as nitric oxide expression is noted to be diminished and vessels changed to low flow do not demonstrate altered response to angiotensin, aldosterone, prostanoids, or endothelin. The loss of endothelial nitric oxide synthase function is believed to involve posttranslational modification as mRNA levels remain the same94. Interestingly, smooth muscle cells become hypersensitive to nitric oxide at this time, and studies using nitric oxide donors¹¹⁷ or calcium channel blockers, which increase nitric oxide118, have shown decreased neointima formation via a MEK/ extracellular signal related kinase pathway^{119,120}. However, arguing against this role for nitric oxide, endothelial denudation results in an acute increase in diameter and compliance of rat arteries⁶⁷. In addition to this possibly important role as a vasodilator, nitric oxide has been shown to inhibit smooth muscle cell proliferation / migration, enhance endothelial cell migration and reorganization^{94,121}, and has anti-aggretory effects on platelets. Mice over-expressing

endothelial nitric oxide synthase showed less neointima, no change in total area, had decreased expression of endothelial adhesion molecules and subsequently fewer invading inflammatory cells^{94,102}. The other source of nitric oxide in this system is from inflammatory cells. Various leukocytes express inducible nitric oxide synthase, and upon activation can secrete relatively large amounts of nitric oxide¹⁰². Besides being a potent vasodilator, nitric oxide is a reactive oxygen species involved in the destruction of pathogens^{122,123}.

Another important regulator of vascular tone that appears to have effects on the injury response is angiotensin II. Angiotensin II has been demonstrated to be involved in atherosclerosis, hypertension and restenosis¹²⁴. Though not secreted by the cells at the site of injury, angiotensin concentration at the site of injury is elevated due to the expression of angiotensin converting enzyme at the injury site along the lumen border¹²⁵, and inhibiting angiotensin converting enzyme limits neointima formation¹⁰⁴. Angiotensin infusion lead to iron deposition on renal tubules, heart and coronary arteries, but neointima formation was blocked with an iron chelator¹²⁶. In vitro Angiotensin II and tumor necrosis factor - α induce smooth muscle cell proliferation via cyclooxygenase-2 activation of mitogen associated protein kinase/ extracellular signal related kinase¹²⁷, and inhibiting elastin synthesis in smooth muscle cells⁴⁶.

Growth factors

The expression of several growth factors has been noted from endothelial cells, smooth muscle cells, and inflammatory cells following injury¹²⁸. fibroblast growth factor -1 and fibroblast growth factor -2 have both been observed to alter the injury response. Infusion of fibroblast growth factor -1 results in increased neointima formation¹⁰⁴, while fibroblast growth factor -2 infusion following denudation lead to a 4 fold increase in proliferation¹²⁹. These effects may involve angiotensin as fibroblast growth factor has been observed to induce angiotensin converting enzyme expression¹⁰⁴. Blockade of fibroblast growth factor -2 did not affect neointima size, but substantially reduced constrictive remodeling 130. As heparin is able to bind many growth factors including fibroblast growth factor, it is not surprising then that heparin inhibits smooth muscle cell proliferation and reduces neointima formation in a manner that was free of coagulation effects^{113,131}. Neither vascular endothelial growth factor nor one of its receptors FLK-1 was detected after injury, but high levels of another vascular endothelial growth factor receptor, FLT-1, were seen after injury¹²⁹. Consistent with the shear stress response element GAGACC in its promoter, platelet derived growth factor is expressed following injury in an injury model blood stasis. Epithelial growth factor expression has been observed following injury from enothelial cells, smooth muscle cells, macrophages, and T cells. The promoter of transforming growth factor - β also contains the shear stress response element and expression of transforming growth factor - β following injury has been observed to increase with increasing flow⁹⁷. In vitro, transforming growth factor - β inhibits vascular smooth muscle cell growth and migration and inhibits expression of

proteins involved in matrix degradation (collagenase, elastase, urokinase)^{132,133}.

Following endothelial denudation, transforming growth factor - β and its type II receptor expression localize to the wound edge, and blockade of transforming growth factor - β type II receptor profoundly inhibits constrictive remodeling¹³⁴. The effect is probably due to transforming growth factor - β induction of collagen I and III expression. Other hormones that appear to have an effect on the injury response are estrogen¹³⁵, and 25 hvdroxy cholesterol¹³⁶.

Cytokines

Regulators of immune function also have been demonstrated to affect the injury response. In general, expression of proinflammatory factors leads to greater neointima formation, and expression of anti-inflammatory factors leads to decreased neointima formation. Tumor necrosis factor - α has been observed in atherosclerotic plaques and following vascular injury¹⁰¹. Tumor necrosis factor - α precedes smooth muscle cell migration and leads to increased intracellular adhesion molecule-1 expression. Following carotid artery ligation, mice modified to overexpress tumor necrosis factor - α null mice demonstrate increased neointima formation, whereas tumor necrosis factor - α null mice demonstrate greatly reduced neointima¹⁰¹. Similarly, interleukin - 1 is expressed following vascular injury and interleukin - 1 receptor 1 null mice demonstrated 7 fold less neointima than wild type¹⁰¹. Monocyte chemoattractant protein has been shown to be chemotactic for macrophages, and blocking CCR2, the receptor for monocyte chemoattractant protein-1, decreases neutrophil and macrophage invasion leading to less

neointima formation¹¹⁵. Interestingly, infection of the vasculature with monocyte chemoattractant protein-1 expressing virus does not lead to white blood cell accumulation at the walls of the vasculature¹³⁷ demonstrating the complex regulation of the vascular injury response. Prostacyclin expression reduces neointima formation due to its ability to inhibit smooth muscle cell proliferation and prevent platelet accumulation¹³⁸. Some aspects of the injury response have been shown to be model specific as interleukin -10 expression has been shown to block atherosclerosis, but following injury interleukin -10 null mice did not demonstrate the expected increase in neointima formation as compared to wild type. Though dexamethasone inhibits macrophage accumulation after injury¹³⁹, primary cell lines derived from neointima showed decreased glucocorticoid receptor¹⁴⁰ suggesting that the steroid has less effect on cells of the neointima.

The extracellular matrix

Vascular injury also results in substantial changes to the extracellular matrix. Tai examined 68 genes involved in synthesis and breakdown of extra-cellular matrix using real time polymerase chain reaction and found 47 were differentially expressed following injury¹⁴¹. The matrix of the neointima is initiated with the deposition of fibrin along the lumen border. It is possible that the majority of early neointima is simply clot attached to the vessel wall. Consistent with this view, early neointima is observed to be eccentric, vary substantially in area, and have large portions of the neointimal area occupied by trapped red blood cells. Substantial remodeling in terms of both structure and composition involving fibrinolysis⁸⁴ results in later neointima appearing substantially

more dense and concentric. Fibrin has been shown to be a substrate for both endothelial cell and smooth muscle cell migration⁹², and neointima formation was observed to be substantially decreased in a carotid artery ligation study using fibrin deficient mice 92. Consistent with these results, inhibition of tissue factor by overexpression of tissue factor pathway inhibitor resulted in decreased neointima formation.¹⁰⁰. On the other hand, overexpression of plasminogen did not alter neointima formation, but did alter the response of the media⁸⁹. The collagen fibers that form in the neointima are thicker than those of the uninjured intima and have been shown to be thrombogenic 15. Collagen type IV, present in the basement membrane underlying the endothelial cells, but not in uniniured intima, is present in neointima¹⁵. In contrast, mature atherosclerotic plaques contain mostly collagen I and collagen III, moderate amounts of collagen V, but no collagen IV¹⁴². However, collagen type IV may be found, along with collagens I, III, V in the fatty streaks that occur earlier in the development of plaques. Additionally, vascular injury induces a decrease in elastin 143 , resulting in vessel stiffening 32 .

Many components of the extracellular matrix that are expressed in response to injury contain the sequence arginine-glycine-aspartic acid. Examples include fibronectin, vitronectin, collagens, thrombospondin, fibrinogen, von Willebrandís factor, and osteopontin (OPN)¹⁴⁴. The sequence is known to mediate interaction with integrin receptors, and, in vitro, changes to the sequence around arginine - glycine - aspartic acid affects binding to different receptors^{144,145}. Evidence suggests that the $\alpha V\beta$ 3 integrin is especially important in interacting with these extracellular matrix components. Studies

have shown this integrin to be involved with tumor progression146, cell survival147, cell migration^{148,149}, cell shape¹⁵⁰, cell proliferation¹⁵¹, regulation of matrix metalloproteinase expression¹⁵², angiogenesis¹⁵³, vasodilation¹⁵⁴, and vascular remodeling¹⁵⁵⁻¹⁵⁸. Intracellular signaling involved with $\alpha V\beta$ 3 includes: phosphatidyl inositol 3 kinase, Phospholipase A, and calcium. The vasodilation of aortic rings in response to arginine-glycine-aspartic acid peptides requires $\alpha V\beta$ 3 and is mediated by phosphotidyl inositol 3 kinase / Akt¹⁵⁹. Interestingly, phosphotidyl inositol 3 kinase is known to physically associate with $\alpha V\beta$ 3¹⁵⁹. With regard to vascular disease, increased $\alpha V\beta$ 3 expression has been observed in lesions from patients with restenosis, atherosclerosis, and transplant vascular disease^{155,160}.

The expression of matrix metalloproteinase has been observed following injury¹⁰³ and may be a mediator of the injury response. As these enzymes are known to remodel extracellular matrix and breakdown basement membrane, they may be involved in the remodeling of the neointima, and movement of cells from the media into the intima. The differential expression of matrix metalloproteinase correlates with smooth muscle cell migration¹⁵² and, though the size of the neointima remains the same, smooth muscle cell migration is blocked with the matrix metalloproteinase inhibitor GM6001¹⁶¹. In addition to these critical roles in the matrix modification, matrix metalloproteinases have also been shown to modify the functional activity of various matricellular proteins through cleavage and subsequent exposure of cryptic sites within these molecules¹⁶². Thus, matrix metalloproteinases may affect the injury response directly through enzymatic action on

matrix components, and indirectly, through the modification of signals to other responsemediating cells. Metalloproteinases identified so far include matrix metalloproteinase -2 and matrix metalloproteinase -9^{103} which our laboratory has also observed to cleave OPN.

The work presented in this text

<u>Goal</u>

The work presented in this text was funded by the American Heart Association (Grant #0250150N) with the broad goal of advancing our understanding of the processes that underlie chronic obstructive vascular disease such that interventions can be developed to reduce the associated morbidity and mortality. The specific goal of the project was to mechanistically describe the contribution of OPN to the vascular injury response. As will be described in chapter 3, OPN expression is known to be regulated by factors expressed in response to vascular injury, and high levels of OPN expression have been observed in chronic obstructive vascular disease. OPN is an arginine-glycine-aspartic acid containing protein that typically localizes to the matrix where it has been shown to alter the activity of attached cells. With regard to inflammation, OPN may be either pro-inflammatory or anti-inflammatory depending on the type and state of the tissue that produced it. Given, as described in previous sections, that vascular injury recapitulates many of the factors involved in chronic obstructive vascular disease, and the severity of the injury response generally correlates with degree of inflammation, we reasoned that the expression of OPN would have an effect on the vascular injury response. We further reasoned that determination of mechanism of its action would provide key insights into the pathological processes that underlie chronic obstructive vascular disease.

37

Hypothesis and strategy

We sought to test the following hypothesis: The presence of OPN affects the formation of neointima and constrictive remodeling associated with vascular injury. We suspected the loss of OPN would result in a diminished inflammatory response leading to reduced neointima formation. To test the hypothesis we chose the following strategy: Compare the injury response induced by carotid artery ligation of wild type mice to mice with a null mutation of the gene encoding OPN at time points known to be critical to lesion development. As described in previous sections, the response to vascular injury involves the interaction of many different factors at specific times. We believe that such complexity can only be accurately modeled in vivo, and determination of mechanism of action requires observations at different stages of lesion development to isolate the timing of OPN action. Additionally, as the vascular response to injury is complex, we suspected large variation in injury response within groups would require a large number of observations from subjects in a controlled environment. These experimental needs preclude the use of human subjects. Mice are commonly used as human models in the study of disease as, with respect to evolution, they are closely related to humans, can be obtained in large numbers, and their environment can be tightly controlled. The large vessels of mice are relevant for this study, as they are similar in size to human small arterioles, a possible site of disease. Mice have the added advantage of a ready availability of genetically modified lines. Indeed, as OPN null mice are available, and, as this is an exploratory study, subjects more closely related to humans are not required, we considered mice to be the ideal organism to use in this study. As compared to other vascular injury models, carotid artery ligation has

38

been shown to be a relatively simple means of reliably inducing a consistent vascular injury response in mice. The method has the additional benefit of being the most commonly used method in mice facilitating the incorporation of this work with that of others.

Overview

The work presented in this text makes a significant contribution not just to the study of chronic obstructive vascular disease, but to the general study of vascular biology as it identifies OPN as not only having a role in the response to vascular injury, but in the function of normal, healthy arteries as well. Additionally, the work demonstrates the first application of regression to the analysis of carotid artery ligation data that, due to increased comparative power and quality of description, should facilitate future experimentation and interpretation of studies.

Chapter 2

A REGRESSION MODEL OF THE RESPONSE TO MURINE

CAROTID ARTERY LIGATION

Chapter 2 Introduction

Chronic obstructive vascular pathology (e.g. stenosis, restenosis, arteriosclerosis) remains a widespread health problem and the largest contributor to the morbidity and mortality of both men and women in developed nations⁹⁸. These illnesses each involve a response to physical stimuli, such as oxidative injury or change in shear stress, and inflammation resulting in vascular remodeling and neointima formation. As this pathology has been shown to involve complex regulation of several cell types there continues to be great need for in vivo models of vascular pathology. As described in chapter 1, there are many different animal models of chronic obstructive vascular pathology including models that involve physical manipulation as well as animals that, due to genetic background, spontaneously demonstrate pathology. Each of these models has certain advantages and disadvantages that must be considered when selecting a model of vascular injury. Though the pathological processes may be similar, care must be taken in the interpretation of experimental data that may or may not reflect aspects common to all models. For example, OíBrien et al. observed the proliferation of smooth muscle cells in response to endothelial denudation is different than that observed in atherosclerotic plaques¹⁶³. Additionally, as exemplified by Rogers et al., changes in experimental technique such as route of drug delivery may profoundly affect the vascular injury response¹³¹.

Carotid artery ligation of mice

Murine models of vascular injury are especially useful in determining the contribution of specific gene products to the vascular injury response as they take advantage of the ready availability of genetically modified mice. Comparison of the vascular lesions of wild type mice to those of modified mice is one method that allows the proteinís contribution to the injury response to be determined in a system free of neutralizing antibodies. The complete ligation of the carotid artery is one method of inducing an injury response in mice. Originally described by Kumar and Lindner⁹¹, this model has the added advantage of being simple to perform. A small incision is made which allows exposure of the left common carotid artery. The artery is then ligated with suture just proximal to its bifurcation into the internal and external carotid arteries (Figure 4). Though the procedure does create a crushing injury, it is the loss of blood flow that is believed to induce the vascular injury response. Since its original description, this model has since been used to identify the role of plasma protein systems^{84,114,115}, cytokines^{101,164} and physical forces such as pressure¹¹⁸ and shear stress ⁹¹ in the

vascular remodeling response.

Several variations of the carotid artery ligation model have been used in specific analyses. Song et al. performed ligation of the left common carotid artery in conjunction with endothelial denudation of the right common carotid artery in order to observe the effects of increased flow on the loss of endothelial cells⁹⁷. Rudic et al. ligated the left external carotid artery in order to observe the response of left common carotid artery to reduced shear stress in the absence of injury⁹⁴.



Figure 4. The site of the ligation in the carotid artery ligation model. The relative ease with which the mouse genome can be manipulated provides a powerful tool with which to study the role of various genes in the arterial response to vascular injury. However, the blood vessels of mice are very small and as such preclude the use of balloon catheter denudation to induce vascular injury. Carotid artery ligation is a means of inducing a vascular injury in mice similar to the response induced by balloon catheter denudation. In the carotid artery ligation procedure, the left common carotid is ligated just proximal to the branching of the internal and external carotid arteries. Because blood from the left and right common carotid arteries combine at the Circle of Willis, either can be completely occluded without causing significant harm to the animal. Previous work has shown that the response to carotid artery ligation differs in mice of different backgrounds implying the response to carotid artery ligation involves the interaction of gene products from multiple loci¹⁶⁵. Interestingly, neointima formation and constrictive remodeling were found to be separable responses. Some strains of mice demonstrated large neointimas with little constrictive remodeling, and vice versa¹⁶⁵. Thus, the selection of genetic background in which to perform the study is critically important as some strains show a marked response while others show little response. The variable response of different strains suggests this model may have application in quantifying the contribution of different loci to the vascular injury response.

Problems in analysis of the vascular response to carotid artery ligation

Whereas the vascular lesions in response to other direct injuries, such as endothelial denudation, provide a relatively constant response over the involved arterial segment, murine carotid artery ligation induces a response which is generally greatest at the point of injury, then gradually diminishes over the involved arterial segment (3-5 mm from the site of ligation). Additionally, the blockage of blood flow following complete ligation of the carotid artery occasionally results in thrombus formation. If thrombus does occur, it typically occurs in the 1 mm segment closest to the ligature. To avoid the additional variable of thrombus formation, the 1 mm arterial segment closest to the ligation and potential for thrombus complicate analysis of carotid artery ligation data. Analyses of the lesions induced by carotid artery ligation have been done in one of two ways: determination of mean response over the involved segment, or limiting analysis to a specific portion of the segment. Both of these methods of analysis have problems that

44

limit their interpretation. The representation of a predictably changing response with a mean does not indicate important aspects of the data and results in excessively large standard deviation. Limiting analyses to comparable regions begs the question as to how comparable regions were determined as inspection of data prior to analysis violates statistical premises. Both Yogo et al.²⁷ and Sindermann et al.¹⁶⁶ recognized the need to consider the effect of distance from the site of ligation in the analysis of response in this model. In this study we attempt to build on their work with the presentation of a regression analysis of data from a carotid artery ligation experiment. This method of analysis provides non-graphical description of the injury response over distance that is more precise than previous methods, as well as a way to compare the injury response that provides statistical significance. The method demonstrates that distance from the site of ligation is a significant predictor of the injury response. As regression analysis is a commonly used statistical method, actual calculations are not presented, and the reader is referred to SAS linear regression procedures¹⁶⁷ for description of the actual calculations performed.

Chapter 2 Methods

Murine carotid artery ligation

The Institutional Animal Care and Use Committee approved all protocols. Mice used in this study were on a 129 x Black Swiss hybrid background and 16-24wk old males were used for experiments. Ligation of the carotid arteries of mice was performed as previously described⁹¹ on a test group of six mice and sham operations were performed on a control group of six mice. Briefly, mice were anesthetized with a solution of ketamine (80 mg/kg, Fort Dodge Laboratories, Inc.) and xylazine (5mg/kg, Lloyd Laboratories) injected intraperitoneally. The left common carotid artery was exposed through a midline incision of the neck, and completely ligated just proximal to its bifurcation into the internal and external carotid arteries. The incision was then closed with surgical clips.

Two weeks following ligation, tissues were perfusion fixed with 4% paraformaldehyde in 0.1 M / L sodium phosphate buffer, pH 7.3. Vessels were harvested and embedded in paraffin such that initial sections from the block came from the internal / external carotid arteries. At least 800 consecutive serial sections were cut from both arteries of each mouse (7 μ m thick). Sections including the ligature were easily identified as they sectioned very poorly due to the clearly visible suture material.

Morphometric analysis

As every section was saved and numbered, the distance from the site of ligation (relative start site in the case of sham manipulation) and between sections was precisely known. Sections of the internal / external carotid arteries were discarded. As analysis of previous work using this strain showed that substantial change in remodeling could be observed in sections 200 mm apart, we considered sections 280 µm apart to be independent observations. Ten sections from each mouse collected every 280 µm starting at the site of the ligatiojn, thus representing an arterial segment approximately 3 mm long, were stained with orcein to accentuate the border between the layers of the vessel, and morphometric analysis was performed. Digitized images of these vessels were analyzed using image analysis software (NIH Image 1.60). The lumen surface, the perimeter of the neointima, and the perimeter of the tunica media were traced, yielding circumference and

area of the lumen, internal elastic lamina, and external elastic lamina, respectively. The medial area was calculated by subtracting the area defined by the internal elastic lamina from the area defined by the external elastic lamina. Intimal area was calculated as the area between the lumen surface and internal elastic lamina. As the shape of the cross sections is often distorted due to sectioning and the neointima may be unevenly distributed, lumen area could not be measured directly. Assuming the external elastic lamina was circular, lumen area was calculated by subtracting medial area and intimal area from the total area calculated from the circumference of the external elastic lamina (Table 1).

Area	Formula				
Medial Area	= external elastic lamina area – internal elastic lamina area				
Intimal Area	= internal elastic lamina area – traced lumen area				
Total Area	= (external elastic lamina circumference)2 / (4p)				
Lumen Area	umen Area = Total Area – Medial Area – Intimal Area				

Table 1. Calculations to determine vessel areas

Data analysis

Data was analyzed using a standard PC with SAS v8.0 as described in results.

Chapter 2 Results

Data collection

Mice (129xBlack Swiss) were separated into a test group (n=6) which underwent carotid artery ligation, and a control group (n=6) which underwent sham manipulation. We chose to harvest the carotid arteries at two weeks after the procedure as this is a

commonly used harvest time in carotid artery ligation experiments. Data were then gathered as described in methods. Interpretation of the resulting data was initiated with scatter plots of the different vessel areas versus distance for each mouse, and mean values for each distance were calculated (Figure 5).



Figure 5. Example of scatter plot of morphometry measures. Measurements of lumen area are indicated as a function of their corresponding distance from the site of ligation. The data from both wild type and OPN null mice (discussed in chapter 3) appears well-behaved (continuous and differentiable).

Consistent with the description of Kumar and Lindner, the response to ligation was observed to be greatest near the ligature, then diminished with increasing distance⁹¹. As the scatter plots for both the individual mice and groups appeared well behaved (continuous and differentiable at all points), we considered the data suitable for regression analysis. The data was coded into SAS v8.0 including distance from the site of ligation for

each analyzed section. The contribution of variability with distance to the total variability was determined using Proc GLM as listed below. As changes in medial area, intimal area, lumen area, and total area all contribute to the injury response, separate models were calculated for each using the following command.

Proc GLM;

Model Total, Media, Intima, Lumen = ligature distance ligature*distance / solution;

The output listed both type I and type III sum of squares which showed distance from the ligature to be a significant predictor of lumen, intima, and medial area (Table 2). The output also provided parameter estimates for the linear regression model. With the exception of total area, these data indicated distance or the interaction of ligation with distance to significantly contribute to total variance.

Regression model of the vascular response to carotid artery ligation

We then sought to improve the models through fitting a curve to the mean response. Various functions were tested against the data for best fit. The scatter plots suggested y=arctan (x), y=e-x, and y=e- (x2) as possibilities for lumen and intimal area. Models were determined for total, medial, intimal, and lumen area using Proc Reg (Table 3) with the following command.

Proc Reg;

Model total media intima lumen = ligation distance ligdis;

Table 2. Much of the variation that occurs in the response to carotid artery ligation can be attributed to distance from the site of ligation. Analysis of variance reveals distance or interactions of distance with the presence of ligation to significantly predict the vascular remodeling response. The data shows a consideration of distance substantially increases the explained variance.

		<u>Total Area</u>	L		
Source	Degrees	Type I	Pr>F	Type III	Pr>F
	of	Sum of		Sum of	
	Freedom	Squares		Squares	
Ligation	1	0.09604	< 0.0001	0.00585	0.2348
Distance	1	0.00009	0.8769	0.00376	0.3398
Ligation*Distance	1	0.00869	0.1486	0.00869	0.1486
Error	85	0.34774			
R-Square		0.23164			
		Intimal Ar	ea		
Source	Degrees	Type I	Pr>F	Type III	Pr>F
	of	Sum of		Sum of	
	Freedom	Squares		Squares	
Ligation	1	0.22187	0.0001	0.02780	< 0.0001
Distance	1	0.02303	< 0.0001	0.00621	0.0339
Ligation*Distance	1	0.00642	0.0311	0.00642	0.0311
Error	85	0.11364			
R-Square		0.31244			
		Medial Ar	<u>ea</u>		
Source	Degrees	Туре І	Pr>F	Type III	Pr>F
	of	Sum of		Sum of	
	Freedom	Squares		Squares	
Ligation	1	0.01994	<0.0001	0.00198	0.0026
Distance	1	0.00009	0.5176	0.00067	0.0743
Ligation*Distance	1	0.00103	0.0283	0.00103	0.0283
Error	85	0.01755			
R-Square		0.54534			
		Lumen Ar	<u>ea</u>		
Source	Degrees	Туре І	Pr>F	Type III	Pr>F
	of	Sum of		Sum of	
	Freedom	Squares		Squares	
Ligation	1	0.00039	0.6581	0.01815	0.0032
Distance	1	0.02285	0.0010	0.00189	0.3314
Ligation*Distance	1	0.01997	0.0021	0.01997	0.0021
Error	85	0.16799			
R-Square		0.20461			

With the exception of medial area, curvilinear regression models provided substantial improvement over the linear models. For example, the curvilinear of intimal area model had an r-square of 0.5548 using a x (1/7) curve as compared to 0.31244 for the linear model. The linear model proved best for medial area.

	Intima	Total	Media	Lumen
B ₁	-0.0084	0.1236	0.0365	0.00889
B ₂	0.2457	0.02074	0.01915	-0.08118
B 3	< 0.0001	-0.000134	-0.00005	0.00009
B4	-0.1074	<0.0001	0.00005	0.0012
N	1/7	3	1	3/4
R-Square	0.5548	0.4027	0.5453	0.4723

Model: Area = B₁ + B₂(Ligation) + B₃(Distance) + B₄(Ligated *Distance)

 Table 3: Regression model of the response to carotid artery ligation. Curvilinear

 regression can be used to describe the response to carotid artery ligation with greater

 detail. All parameters demonstrated statistical significance.

Chapter 2 Discussion

As this study only examined the effects of ligation and distance from the ligation on the vascular injury response, only wild type 129 x Black Swiss mice were used. Within the model, the presence of ligation was described with a boolean variable (variable: ligation), and the distance from the ligation was described with numeric variable (variable: distance). However, the analytical method can be easily extended to consider the effect of individual genes by comparison of genetically modified mice to wild type. For example, the comparison of wild type mice to mice lacking a particular gene can be performed with the inclusion of an additional boolean variable (describes the presence of the gene. See chapter 3 for analysis of the contribution of OPN to the remodeling response using this method of analysis.). Similarly the comparison of wild type to mice that over-express a particular gene product can be done with the inclusion of a numeric variable (describes the interactions of test variables as demonstrated by the interaction of ligation with distance (variable: ligation*distance) in this study.

Our analysis demonstrates that variation with distance is a significant contributor to the total variance. Comparison of sum of squares shows distance contributes to 9%, 5%, 12%, and 66% of the explained variance for total, medial, intimal, and lumen area, respectively. The models also provide a quantitative description of the change in vessel areas with increasing data. Such information improves the description of the response as compared to previously used methods. In this case, the analytical method also expands on the description of two dimensional cross sectional areas by providing a consideration of the third dimension (distance from the site of ligation). The models could serve as the basis for the calculation of vessel layer volumes over an arterial segment.

As the vascular response is known to involve many factors, the flexibility of this method to consider variable interactions makes these methods especially suitable. In this study interaction is best demonstrated between the ligation procedure and distance in the model of neointima formation. No significant change in intimal area occurs over an arterial segment in the absence of ligation. However, there is significant change in intimal area over an arterial segment in a ligated vessel. Phrased in terms of the intimal model, the dependence of a distance effect on ligation is expressed as interaction of ligation and distance being a significant predictor of intimal area. The clarification of the relationships of the many variables involved in the vascular response provided by this analysis should improve our understanding of obstructive vascular pathologies.

Clots alter the vascular response

Further analysis of the data and regression models reveals that one mouse had a response to ligation that was much greater than those of the other ligated mice. Examination of the injury response in this mouse showed a large fibrous deposit in the lumen in the region less than 1 mm from the ligature. This deposit is probably the result of altered coagulation or a procedural problem and demonstrates the many influences involved in the vascular response. Interestingly, the outlying data came not just from sections containing the fibrous deposit, but also from sections observed to be free of the deposit. We interpret this as showing that the presence of the deposit alters not just the response of sections containing the clot, but the response along the entire vessel. Thus, the routine exclusion of the data from the one-millimeter arterial segment closest to the ligature removes the ability to detect an important source of response variation. To determine the effect of this outlying data on the analysis we repeated the analysis with the outlying data included. Though slight decreases in r-square values occurred for the linear models of the different vessel areas, inclusion of the outlier data did not alter the predictor significance of each variable. However, our attempt to improve the model with curve fitting was not as successful. The curvilinear model offered little improvement over the linear model using the data set containing outlying data. Thus, the exclusion of data from mice that demonstrate an obviously atypical response to the ligation procedure is important to the development of good models of the vascular response.

Theoretical problems

As often occurs in the regression analysis of data from experiments, there are some theoretical problems in applying regression analysis to the data from carotid artery ligation experiments. Regression analysis requires observations to be independent. This condition is not met in these experiments as the response at one point in the artery is physically linked to the response at every other point. We addressed this problem with the selection of a distance between arterial points (280µm) over which previous work has shown substantial change can occur. Regression analysis also requires equal variance at each independent variable point. Examination of figure 6c shows that this condition is clearly not met. We addressed this problem with the use of weighted regression. However, as the method did not improve the model, we chose not to present this technique. We consider these theoretical problems to be minimal as compared to those of typically used methods (appropriateness of mean to describe changing data and inspection of data prior to analysis). **Figure 6.** The vascular remodeling response varies with distance from the ligature. Medial, intimal, lumen, and total areas are shown as a function of distance from a relative start site for sham manipulated mice (A), and from the site of ligation for mice harvested 14 days following ligation of the carotid artery (B). While no significant change in the vessel occurs with distance in the sham manipulated mice, substantial variation in vessel areas occurs in ligated mice with increasing distance from the site of. If not accounted for, this variation with distance can complicate description and comparison of the injury response. (C) Standard deviations are shown for each mean intimal area calculated at different distances from the site of ligation. Variation in intimal area not only occurs with increasing distance from the site of the same background. Note that the variation in intimal area at each distance is not the same. Similar results were obtained for medial, lumen, and total areas.







Summary

The vascular response induced by carotid artery ligation is typically localized to the 3 to 5 mm region closest to the ligature. In this study the response was observed to involve approximately 3 mm. Several other models of obstructive vascular pathology involve a similar localized response. These pathology models might also benefit from regression analysis as the responses are multifactoral and may vary with distance along an arterial segment.

In summary, distance from the site of ligation was shown to be a significant predictor of the vascular injury response in carotid artery ligation experiments. By allowing simultaneous consideration of many factors, regression analysis provides both improved description of the response as well as increased comparative power through reduction of the unexplained variance.
Chapter 3

ALTERATIONS OF ARTERIAL PHYSIOLOGY IN OSTEOPONTIN NULL MICE

Chapter 3 Introduction

Both genetic and physiological factors have been shown to affect vascular physiology/pathophysiology. Platelets⁹², leukocytes 87,92,106,109,168, endothelial cells^{169,170}, and smooth muscle cells^{91,109,115,152} interact in a complex system regulated by plasma protein systems^{84,114,115}, cytokines^{99,101,134}, growth factors^{130,134}, and physical forces such as pressure^{11,118} and shear stress ^{91,97,171} to remodel arteries in response to injury. In this study the arterial effects resulting from the removal of OPN are examined.

OPN, also known as early after T cell activation-1 (ETA-1), 2ar, secreted phosphoprotein1 (SPP1), and bone sialoprotein 1 (BSP-1), was originally isolated as a non-collagenous bone matrix protein¹⁷² which was later found to be identical to a protein secreted by cancerous bone¹⁷³. Early studies centered on a role for the protein in bone, but it was soon realized that OPN was transiently expressed in many different tissues undergoing remodeling following events such as infection, injury, or transformation.

The structure of SPP1, the gene that encodes osteopontin

The structures of the gene that codes for OPN, and the OPN protein itself have been reviewed¹⁷⁴⁻¹⁷⁶. OPN is the product of the secreted phosphoprotein (spp1) gene that exists as a single copy found on chromosome 5 near the ric genetic marker in mice, and on chromosome 4 at q13 in humans. Sequences homologous to human OPN have been found in rat, pig, cow, and chicken. The mammalian sequences share approximately 40% homology while the chicken sequence is only 19% homologous to human. The gene spans approximately 7 kb, contains 7 exons, and a 0.5 ñ 2 kb promoter (Figure 7). Promoter elements include sites related to ras activation (The AP1 site is for the binding of a heterodimer of cFos / cJun), protein kinase C activation, a vitamin D response element, a Pu box, a GAGACC element shown to be responsive to shear stress in platelet derived growth factor95, and a CCAAT that binds a factor necessary for v-SRC stimulation of OPN expression¹⁷⁷. Consistent with the presence of these elements, OPN expression has been shown to be induced by activated ras / MAPK178, calcium, and activated PKC¹⁷⁹. Factors known to induce OPN expression include: parathyroid hormone, Vitamin D3, angiotensin II¹⁸⁰ (occurs via ERK/p38 pathway¹⁸¹), and transfoming growth factor - β^{182} , whereas estrogen, angiotensin converting enzyme inhibitors, angiotensin II receptor antagonists have been shown to decrease OPN expression¹⁸³. Vitamin D induced OPN expression is suppressed by HES-1 in osteoblasts¹⁸⁴.



Figure 7. The structure of the murine spp1 gene. (Taken from Denhardt and Guo¹⁷⁵)

The structure of osteopontin protein

The OPN protein has an amino acid backbone that is 264 (chicken)¹⁸⁵ to 317 $(rat)^{173}$ amino acids in length depending on the species (parenthetical references to specific amino acids refer to the human protein). The protein is rich in aspartic acid, glutamic acid and serine residues making it quite acidic. The secondary structure has been predicted to contain 8 sections of alpha helix and 6 short beta sheet sequences¹⁷⁵. Circular dichroism experiments suggest a random tertiary structure in which regions linking secondary structures are free to move¹⁸⁶. Consistent with a flexible structure, no crystal structure has been reported. The protein contains a relatively large number of domains with potential biological activity (Figure 8). A transglutamination site is found in the N terminal of the protein that can interact with the enzyme to crosslink OPN to other proteins via glutamine ñ lysine covalent bonds. Calcium binding loops are found in the middle of both the N (aa 86-95) and C (aa 216-228) halves, and two heparin binding loops are found the C terminal half of the protein (aa 168-174, aa 298-305). The integrin binding arginine-glycine-aspartic acid sequence is found in the middle of the sequence (aa 158-162) close to an RS thrombin cleavage site^{187,188} (aa168-169). Interestingly, a second integrin binding site containing the sequence SVVYGLR¹⁸⁹ (aa 162-168) is found between the arginine-glycine-aspartic acid sequence and the thrombin cleavage site. This second integrin binding site is cryptic for $\alpha 9\beta 1$ and a4b1 as it only becomes active upon cleavage of OPN by thrombin¹⁹⁰. Additionally a ELVTDFPTDLPAT site (aa 131-143) upstream of the arginine - glycine - aspartic acid sequence can act as a second binding site for $\alpha 4\beta 1^{172}$.







Modifications of osteopontin

Mechanisms that modify the structure of osteopontin include differential splicing, post-translational modification, cleavage, and cross-linking (Figure 9). Three OPN splice variants have been described, all of which involve the selective splicing of exon 3^{191,192}. Each of the OPN splice variants contains an export sequence, and upon translation OPN enters the secretory pathway where it may be extensively modified. The post translational modifications are both tissue and cell state specific^{193,194}. Modifications may include O-linked glycosylation (6 sites), N-linked glycosylation (1 site), phosphorylation (15 sites) and sialation (10 sites)^{175,186,195}. The specific phosphorylation of OPN can be done in a cell free system^{175,196} as Butler¹⁸⁶ described

that the ser -X- glu (12 sites) sequence marks a potential site for casein kinase phosphorylation of OPN, and the ser -X- glu sequence (2 sites) marks sites for phosphorylation by casein kinase II.

Specific post-translational modifications and interactions with other molecules that modify its conformation largely determine the biological activity of OPN. These observations imply there is a strict structure ñ function relationship in the action of OPN and support the belief that the different forms of OPN have different biological activity. Jono et al. demonstrated a phosphorylation requirement for OPN to mediate calcification of smooth muscle cells¹⁹⁸. The binding of OPN by factor H alters the OPN structure so as to hide the arginine-glycine-aspartic acid sequence resulting in reduced inflammation¹⁹⁹. Though OPN binding of calcium is not phosphorylation dependent¹⁹², the binding of calcium also alters OPN conformation²⁰⁰. The ability of OPN to bind wells coated with collagen types I, II, III, IV, and V is calcium dependent^{186,201}. OPN has been shown to bind fibronectin ²⁰². and osteocalcin and the binding of osteocalcin inhibits transglutaminase action on OPN²⁰³.



Figure 9. Osteopontin exists in many different forms. A) There are three known OPN splice variants. B) Though intracellular OPN has been described, C) OPN generally enters the secretory pathway where it may undergo extensive post-translational modification. D) Upon leaving the cell, OPN may be cleaved by matrix metalloproteinases or thrombin, or E) cross-linked by transglutaminase.

OPN is also structurally modified by cross-linking and cleavage of the protein. OPN is a substrate for transglutaminase (factor 13a)^{195,204}, which creates OPN multimers and links OPN to fibronectin²⁰⁵. The formation of OPN multimers results in increased collagen binding²⁰¹. The cleavage of OPN by thrombin exposes the cryptic integrin binding site and yields fragments with different biological activity than that of full length OPN^{188,206} ²⁰⁷ ²⁰⁸. Other work in our laboratory has identified cleavage sites for matrix metalloproteinases 3 and 7 in the OPN sequence²⁰⁹. Interestingly, one of these sites is just four amino acids downstream of the arginine-glycine-aspartic acid integrinbinding site (aa 166), and is internal to the cryptic integrin-binding site. The cleavage effects of these matrix metalloproteinases on the cryptic integrin-binding site have not been determined. Additionally, our laboratory has also observed OPN cleavage by matrix metalloproteinase- 2 and matrix metalloproteinase - 9, but these cleavages have not yet been characterized. The cleavage fragments do not equate to splice variants.

Though OPN is typically considered to be a secreted protein, Zohar et al. used confocal microscopy to localize intracellular OPN outside of the secretory pathway²¹⁰, and has proposed this intracellular OPN to act as a survival factor²¹¹. Though intriguing, the published experiments are not convincing as they lack important negative controls.

Receptors for osteopontin

There are eight known receptors for OPN²¹², seven of which are integrins (Table 4). Binding affinities have only been determined for the αV containing integrins, all of which occur in the nano-molar range¹⁷⁴. As with most integrin mediated signaling,

intracellular signaling as a result of OPN binding is complex. Rather than signaling through the direct formation of a second messenger, integrins are believed to transduce signals through the formation of an intracellular complex involving the cytoskeleton whose specific three dimensional conformation results in enzymatic activity²¹³. Key players in integrin signaling include: focal adhesion kinase, integrin linked kinase, caveolin, paxillin, and talin²¹⁴. The ability of integrins to bind ligand is often believed to involve reversible modification of the intracellular domains of the integrin subunits (activation). Thus, integrins can exist in different states, and the ability of integrin to bind ligand is state dependent. The binding of OPN to platelets and lymphocytes requires this activation of the integrin 215, 216. Pathways that have been shown to be activated in response to integrin signaling include alterations in calcium levels including both increases and decreases¹⁷⁵, alteration of pH, transient increase in protein phosphorylation, activation of protein kinase C, mitogen associated protein kinase and phosphatidyl inositol 3 kinase²¹⁵. The biological effects resulting from interaction with OPN are mediated by distinct integrins¹⁴⁹. Particularly notable is the aVb3 integrin requirement for motility¹⁴⁹ whereas other integrins are primarily involved with adhesion 149, 217. The non-integrin receptor for CD44 has been shown to exist as many different splice variants, only one (exons v4, 5,6,9) of which serves as an OPN receptor²¹⁸⁻²²⁰.CD44 binding of OPN is involved in cell survival²²¹ and is required for OPN mediated migration²²²⁻²²⁴.

OPN Receptor	Features				
ανβ1	Adhesive receptor ¹⁴⁹				
αγβ3	Involved in angiogenesis ²⁹⁷ and cell motility ^{215,149}				
αγβ5	Involved in cell motility ¹⁴⁸				
α4β1	Involved in leukocyte adhesion ²⁹⁸				
α5β1	May be involved in the progression of atherosclerosis ²⁹⁹				
α8β1	May be involved in matrix deposition/ adhesion ³⁰⁰				
α9β1	Binds cryptic site exposed by thrombin cleavage ¹⁸⁸				
CD44	Associated with tumor progression ²²⁰				

Table 4. Osteopontin Receptors

The biological role of osteopontin

OPN expression has been observed in bone, kidney, tumors, placenta, the cochlea, milk, and other bodily fluids²²⁵⁻²²⁷. The in vivo role of OPN has mostly been studied in mice. Both OPN transgenic^{228,229} and knockout mice^{230,231} have been described. In both cases, the mice are viable, fertile, with a "normal" phenotype. The normal appearance of these mice is not surprising given the transient nature of OPN expression in response to tissue remodeling. Also, there is much redundancy in the domains of matricellular proteins implying that the function of OPN, in most cases, can be fully achieved by a combination of other matricellular proteins¹⁴⁰. The findings of studies that have observed alterations in response to the presence or absence of OPN are often contradictory, probably owing to the functional effects of OPN conformation. These contradictions and the diversity of the areas in which OPN is expressed make it difficult to describe the function of OPN outside of the system being studied. Though the functions of OPN in specific areas of the body can be described, a general description of the role of OPN in the body remains conjectural²³².

<u>Bone</u>

In bone, OPN has been shown to both facilitate and oppose bone resorption. OPN has been shown to facilitate accumulation of osteoclasts at sites of bone resorption²³³ and OPN null mice show altered osteoclast formation²³¹. The expression of OPN is required for bone resorption in response to parathyroid hormone²³⁴ and decreased mechanical stress²³⁵, and OPN null mice are resistant to ovariectomy induced bone resorption²³⁶. Additionally, osteolytic tumor cells that are osteolytic upregulate OPN secretion in osteoblasts²³⁷. However, the effect of OPN on mineralization appears to be conformation dependent as treatment of OPN with phosphatase increases mineralization¹⁷⁵.

The induction of OPN in response to stress has been observed in bone cells. In vitro, OPN is induced with mechanical stimulation of osteoblast cells, and OPN null bone cells are defective in producing nitric oxide in response to pulsatile fluid flow^{238,239}.

Kidney

As the kidney is a vital organ involved in the maintenance of blood pressure and blood composition, the primary effects of OPN expression in this organ may cause secondary effects throughout the body. OPN is expressed in the developing tubule epithelium²⁴⁰ and is constitutively present in the loop of Henle and the distal convoluted tubule of adults^{183,240}. OPN is differentially expressed by podocytes of the glomerulus in response to stretch²⁴¹, thus, as hypertension correlates with atherosclerosis^{242,243}, it is not surprising that increased OPN expression has been observed in the kidneys of atherosclerotic patients²⁴⁴. Consistent with these pressure effects on OPN expression, infusion of angiotensin II leads to increased OPN expression throughout the kidney²⁴⁵.

OPN is also expressed throughout the kidney in tubulo-interstitial disease where its effects are harmful as OPN null mice demonstrate less injury²⁴⁶ in response to induced disease. Conversely, OPN null mice showed reduced tolerance to ischemia in kidneys²⁴⁷. As described in chapter 1, the glomerular cells, juxtaglomerular cells, and cells of the distal convoluted are believed to communicate such that pressure sensed at the glomerulus can alter fluid resorption at the tubule. Expression of OPN in the distal tubule suggests a role the maintenance of blood pressure and possible mediation of flow through the glomerulus by inhibition of nitric oxide²⁴⁸.

Inflammation

The expression of OPN has been shown to have both proinflammatory and antiinflammatory effects ^{183,249}. In vitro, OPN has been shown to be expressed by and chemotactic for macrophages²⁵⁰⁻²⁵², and T cells²⁵³. Indeed, OPN may be the most abundantly secreted protein from T-lymphocytes²⁵⁴. Dendritic cells and Langerhan cells also demonstrate migration toward OPN via a CD44/αV mechanism²⁵⁵. Consistent with OPN mediation of inflammatory cell migration, OPN null mice demonstrate a decreased number of macrophages in tubulo-interstitial disease²⁵⁶, decreased ability to clear respiratory infections²⁵⁷, and altered granuloma formation in response to sterile irritant104. Additionally, OPN has been shown to alter the interleukin -10 to interleukin -12 ratio²⁵⁸ so as to promote inflammation, and T cells from OPN null animals have been shown to make less interleukin -10 and interferon gamma²⁵⁹. OPN expression induces B cell proliferation and expression of immunoglobulin²⁵⁴. However, OPN also demonstrates anti-inflammatory actions as it inhibits the synthesis of nitric oxide, a reactive oxygen species, from inducible nitric oxide synthase^{122,260,261}.

Cancer

The role of OPN in tumor progression has been studied also with seemingly contradictory results probably owing to the results of modifications or cleavage on protein function^{162,206,262}. OPN expression has been observed in various tumors²⁶³ and OPN expression has been shown to increase in response to transformation^{264,265} leading to the use of OPN as a cancer marker^{266,267}. OPN can be detected in the blood when expressed in high amounts, and high plasma levels of OPN have been shown to positively correlate with the metastatic potential of tumors²⁶⁸. Anti-sense blockade of OPN leads to decreased malignancy²⁶⁹ and tumorigenicity^{270,271}. However, the tumor inhibiting functions of OPN have also been demonstrated as OPN null mice show

accelerated tumor growth / progression²⁶². OPN blocks 12-O tetradecanoyl phorbol 13 acetate induced anchorage independence and reduces tumorigenicity and metastasis²⁶². Additionally, as described above, OPN has proinflammatory properties that should limit tumor progression.

Similar to this role in promoting metastasis, OPN is believed to play a role in embryonic implantation. OPN is expressed in decidua basalis where it aids the avoidance of immune detection of fetal cells²⁷². As in cancer, the conformation of OPN is important as different charge forms affect action²⁷³.

Vasculature

OPN is present in small amounts in uninjured arteries²⁷⁴, but is abundantly expressed by smooth muscle cells, endothelial cells^{141,274}, and activated inflammatory cells^{249,252,254} in injured arteries. Abundant OPN expression has also been observed in human atherosclerotic lesions²¹⁷ and thoracic aneurysms²⁷⁵ aortic valvular lesions²⁷⁶, left ventricular hypertrophy²⁷⁷, and the presence of OPN in the blood following angioplasty was shown to positively correlate with detrimental post procedural events⁷⁷. In vivo studies confirm the relevance of OPN during vascular remodeling and repair. Chiba et al. observed that hematopoetic over-expression of OPN resulted in increased atherosclerotic lesion formation²²⁹. The role of OPN as a physiological inhibitor of vascular calcification was demonstrated in studies showing that spontaneous vascular calcification in the matrix of Gla protein null mice was significantly increased on an OPN null background²⁷⁸. Recently, the constitutive overexpression of OPN in mice was observed to result in increased neointima formation following cuffing of the femoral artery²⁷⁹. This overexpression of OPN in uninjured mice did not result in accumulation of leukocytes in the vessel wall, indicating that control of vascular inflammation is complex.

Though matrix metalloproteinase $-2^{95,103}$ and matrix metalloproteinase -9^{103} are both expressed after vascular injury, and our laboratory has observed these matrix metalloproteinases to cleave OPN, western blot shows the small amount of osteopontin present in uninjured vessels exists as three widely separated bands, whereas following injury only the heaviest band remains²⁹⁶.

Similar work

The in vivo work that most closely relates to the present study demonstrated anti-OPN antibody to inhibit neointima formation following endothelial denudation²⁸⁰. In this model, a catheter is inserted into an artery. The catheter is then inflated and pulled back such that the endothelial lining of the blood vessel is stripped away. In this model, OPN expression was initially observed two days following the procedure at the site of injury. Strong OPN staining was observed in the newly formed neointima at day 7 peaked at day 10, then slowly faded until absent by day 42.

This present study utilized a genetic OPN null murine model to test the hypothesis that OPN regulates vascular remodeling in vivo. Our studies show the first demonstration that endogenous OPN contributes to normal blood vessel structure and function, and that OPN is a regulator of both constrictive remodeling and neointimal lesion formation. We provide evidence to support a model where OPN is mediating these effects through regulation of vascular compliance and the inflammatory response.

Chapter 3 Methods

<u>Animals</u>

The Institutional Animal Care and Use Committee approved all animal protocols. The OPN null mutant allele has been described281, and mice used in this study were 16-24 week old males on a 129 x Black Swiss hybrid background. Heterozygous breeding pairs were used to generate wild type or OPN null groups.

Blood count, hemodynamics, and vascular compliance

25ml of blood was obtained by retro-orbital collection (wild type: n=10, OPN null: n=10), diluted to 200ml, and then analyzed by flow cytometry (Cell-Dyn 4000). Blood pressure measurements were made using a Visitech BP200 tail cuff (wild type: n=29, OPN null: n=17). Following a one-week conditioning period, 30 measurements were made in a single daily session, over 5 days. The initial 10 measurements were discarded, and the last 20 averaged to give a single daily blood pressure measurement for each mouse.

Blood flow was measured using a Transonic flow probe with T160 computer interface (wild type: n=18, OPN null: n=17). Animals were anesthetized with Avertin (2ml of 2.5% solution/100g, intraperitoneal), and the common carotid artery exposed and placed within the Transonic flow probe (0.5 VB). Flow rate and heart rate were recorded simultaneously.

Circumferential vascular compliance was measured using a standard micromanipulator and microinjector (Nashige, IM 300). The left carotid artery was isolated, sutured closed at the distal end, and sealed proximally with suture onto a microneedle. The carotid artery was then inflated to 50, 100, 150, 200, and 250 mm Hg. Vessel diameter was measured from digitized images taken at each pressure (wild type: n=4, OPN null: n=4). Extensibility was calculated as described by Li et al. 16 Example: extensibility at 125 mmHg = [(diameter at 150 mmHg)-(diameter at 100 mmHg)/ (diameter at 100 mmHg)] x 100. A similar experiment was performed on a segment of the descending aorta between the renal arteries and the iliac bifurcation (wild type: n=4, OPN null: n=4). The isolated, segment was sutured closed at the proximal end, and sealed distally with suture onto a blunted 30 gauge needle. The aorta was then uniformly pressurized at a rate of 3ml/min using an Intraflow valve, with pressure measured with a standard arterial line pressure transducer. Longitudinal compliance of carotid arteries was determined similarly. The proximal end of the carotid artery was sutured closed, then tied to the inside of a petri dish filled with lactated Ringer's solution. The distal end was then sutured closed and tied so as to support a hanging weight. Vessel length was measured from digital photographs taken before and after application of the force.

Arterial ligation model

Ligation of the left carotid arteries of mice (wild type: n=14 at 28d, n=8 at 14d, n=8 at 4d, n=8 unmanipulated, n=6 sham; OPN null: n=14 at 28d, n=12 at 14d, n=8 at 4d, n=8 unmanipulated, n=6 sham) proximal to the internal/external carotid artery bifurcation was performed as previously described⁹¹, with sham-operated mice used as controls. Bromodeoxyuridine injections (100µl of 25 mg/ml bromodeoxyuridine solution)

were given to each animal 15h and 1h prior to harvest. At the indicated times following ligation, tissues were perfusion fixed with 4% paraformaldehyde in 0.1 M sodium phosphate buffer, pH 7.3. The perfusate was allowed to drain from an incision in the left carotid artery just proximal to the ligature. Vessels were harvested and embedded in paraffin. At least 800 consecutive serial sections were cut from both arteries of each mouse (7 µm thick). For the right carotid artery, all analyzed sections were cut from the vessel distal to the brachiocephalic artery.

Western blot analysis

Single ligated left carotid arteries were harvested and homogenized in lysis buffer (50mM TRIS pH=8.0, 0.1% SDS, 2.5mM NaCL). 100 mg total protein/sample was analyzed by SDS-PAGE (12.5% gel) followed by transfer to PVDF membrane, and immunoblotted using an anti-OPN antibody282 (2k1, kindly provided by Dr. T. Uede). Recombinant OPN was used as a positive control, and the relative amount of OPN/sample was quantified using Imagequant software and normalization to smooth muscle α -actin (clone 1A4, Sigma) levels. Triplicate analyses were performed.

Morphometric analysis

Morphometric analysis was carried out on ligated left common carotid arteries from both wild type and OPN null mice harvested at 14 and 28 days following ligation as well as unmanipulated and sham manipulated controls. The contralateral right common carotid artery was analyzed from harvests 28 days following ligation as well as unmanipulated and sham manipulated. Eight sections were collected in 280 mm intervals from the proximal 2.25mm closest to the ligature and orcein-stained for analysis (NIH Image 1.60). The lumen surface, the perimeter of the neointima, and the perimeter of the tunica media were traced, yielding circumference and area of the lumen, internal elastic lamina, and external elastic lamina, respectively. Very small folds were not included in the IEL and external elastic lamina measurements. The medial area was calculated by subtracting the area defined by the internal elastic lamina from the area defined by the external elastic lamina. Intimal area was calculated as the area between the lumen surface and internal elastic lamina. As the shape of the cross sections is often distorted due to sectioning and the neointima may be unevenly distributed, lumen area could not be measured directly. Assuming the external elastic lamina was circular, lumen area was calculated by subtracting medial area and intimal area from the total area calculated from the circumference of the external elastic lamina. No difference in vessel areas was observed between sham and unmanipulated animals. Sections adjacent to the orcein-stained sections were stained with hematoxylin, and the number of nuclei in the media and intima for ligated, contralateral, and control arteries were counted using software developed specifically for this project by Sentient Machines (Wells, ME), which was validated to be consistent with manual counts. Lumen area of aortae of anesthetized unmanipulated mice was also measured in situ by magnetic resonance angiography (Siemens Magneton) utilizing blood flow for contrast (wild type: n=2, OPN null: n=2), and total artery size quantified by direct measurement following surgical exposure of the carotid artery (wild type: n=2, OPN null: n=2).

Immunostaining

A total of 8 sections, taken every 280 µm apart from each mouse harvested at 2 weeks following ligation were analyzed for cell proliferation using an antibromodeoxyuridine antibody (ICN Biomedicals) at a 1:2000 dilution followed by a biotinylated secondary antibody at a 1:500 dilution. Similarly, a total of 10 sections, taken every 280 µm apart from each mouse harvested at 4 days following ligation were analyzed for leukocyte infiltration using a biotinylated anti-CD45 antibody (ICN Biomedicals) at a 1:200 diluition. Sections were then treated with ABC reagent (Vector Labs.), followed by incubation with 3,3i-diaminobenzidine (Sigma). Digitized images of CD45 stained vessels were analyzed (NIH Image 1.60), and the staining quantified by first thresholding all non-stained areas from the image, then measuring the remaining positively stained area. Sections directly adjacent to those analyzed for leukocyte infiltration were analyzed for apoptosis using a TUNEL assay kit (Clontech, Apo-alert DNA fragmentation assay). Collagen was visualized with Massonís trichrome stain.

Statistical analysis

Morphometric data was structured as a two factor (OPN status, harvest time) randomized design then analyzed using Fisherís LSD procedure. Two factor ANOVA was performed on medial, intimal, lumen and total area measurements. Each showed OPN to have a significant effect. The effect of OPN was then further clarified using Studentís ttest. Remaining comparisons involving a single variable (OPN genotype) at a single time point were carried out with Studentís t-test. For the blood flow studies, measurements were considered outliers if they were greater than 3 standard deviations away from the mean, and were excluded from analysis of blood flow rate. Most of the outliers were found to have heart rates lower than 250 beats/min, which is consistent with the observations of Hart et al. that heart rates below a certain point dramatically affect stroke volume 10. Thus, we considered flow measurements in mice with heart rates lower than 250 beats/min to be invalid, as flow rate correspondingly was decreased. All data are reported as mean ± standard deviation.

Chapter 3 Results

Vascular characteristics of OPN null mice

OPN null mice are overtly similar to wild type mice with respect to size, viability, and physical activity. Low levels of OPN expression in unmanipulated arteries have been previously described274. As the significance of this expression had not been explored, we first compared OPN null mice to wild type mice with respect to cardiovascular function. Blood pressure and heart rate measurements were obtained using the tail cuff method. Unexpectedly, we observed significantly lower blood pressure and increased heart rate in OPN null mice. Heart rate in the wild type group was 490 ± 57 beats/min, compared to 600 ± 62 beats/min in the OPN null group (p< 0.001)(Figure 10A). Conversely, the systolic blood pressure in wild type mice was 146 ± 12.2 mm Hg, compared to 130 ± 9.8 mm Hg in the OPN null mutants (p< 0.001)(Figure 10B). As increased heart rate often results from anemia, we analyzed blood cell composition by complete blood count (Table 5). No difference in red blood cells and platelets were observed, but a clear trend in increased white blood cells was observed in the OPN null mice. Further analysis showed that this WBC trend was accounted for by a significant increase in lymphocytes in OPN null mice (p=0.033).

We then sought to determine the consequences of altered heart rate and blood pressure on blood flow. A standard dosage of anesthesia resulted in equal heart rates in both OPN null (314 \pm 40 beats/min) and wild type mice (320 \pm 40 beats/min). Blood flow through the common carotid artery was determined by placing a flow probe around the exposed vessel. The blood flow in wild type mice was significantly greater than in OPN null mice at similar heart rates. Whereas the flow rate in the wild type vessels was 0.68 \pm 0.16 ml/min, average flow in the OPN null vessels was 0.50 \pm 0.21 ml/min (p=0.029)(Figure 10 C). These results suggest that the increased heart rate in OPN null animals may be due to a compensatory mechanism to counter reduced stroke volume. Blood flow is predicted to be similar in conscious mice due to the higher heart rate in OPN null mice.



Figure 10. The loss of osteopontin results in altered hemodynamics. Though OPN null mice are similar to wild type mice with respect to appearance, activity tolerance, viability, and fertility, closer examination reveals a cardiovascular phenotype associated with the loss of OPN. As compared to wild type, OPN null mice demonstrate: (A) increased heart rate, (B) lower systolic blood pressure, and (C) decreased blood flow at equivalent heart rates.

	RBC	HGB	НСТ	PLT	WBC
wild type	11.31+/- 0.62	18.36+/- 0.83	53.98+/- 2.92	1096+/- 120	4.22+/- 1.06
OPN null	11.10 +/-1.22	16.64+/- 2.72	53.28+/- 6.30	1273+/- 608	5.13+/- 0.09
p value	0.678	0.15	0.79	0.477	0.089
	NEU	LYM	MONO	EOS	BASO
wild type	0.77 +/- 0.22	3.30+/- 0.95	0.07+/- 0.06	0.08+/- 0.13	0 +/- 0
OPN null	0.66 +/- 0.20	4.37+/- 0.89	0.08+/- 0.07	0.01+/- 0.02	0 +/- 0
p value	0.305	0.033	0.614	0.154	ND

Table 5. The loss of osteopontin results in an altered concentration of circulating lymphocytes.

Comparison of complete blood count and differential cell counts of unmanipulated animals shows OPN null mice to have significantly more lymphocytes than wild type mice. No significant difference in other values was noted. Values presented are average ± S.D. The p value listed represents a comparison in each population between the wild type and OPN null values. RBC: red blood cells, HGB: hemoglobin, HCT: hematocrit, PLT: platelets, WBC: white blood cells, NEU: neutrophils, LYM: lymphocytes, MONO: monocytes, EOS: eosinophils, BASO: basophils, ND: not defined. Italics indicate statistical significance.

To determine if the vessel structure of OPN null mice reflected the altered hemodynamics, we compared magnetic resonance angiograms of OPN null mice to wild type. No difference was observed in aortic lumen areas (Figure 11). To expand on the angiograms, digital photographs of surgically exposed common carotid arteries were compared and also showed no difference in total vessel size. Having found no difference in arterial morphology, we suspected that characteristics of the arterial wall were related to the rate of blood flow and heart rate, and thus measured carotid artery wall circumferential compliance as a function of intravascular pressure. Determination of small vessel circumferential compliance has been previously described³¹. Left carotid arteries were isolated, then inflated to specific pressures. Vessels were digitally recorded at pressures from 50 mm Hg to 250 mm Hg. In OPN null mice, we observed a very rapid increase in vessel wall diameter at physiological pressures (as determined by our blood pressure measurements of these mice), while carotid arteries from wild type mice demonstrated similar increases in size only at significantly higher pressures (Figure 12). The percentage increases in vessel size at all pressures measured was greater in vessels from OPN null mice, compared to wild type mice, and the responses of each carotid artery sample of a particular genotype was remarkably consistent. To exclude the possibility that increased circumferential compliance in OPN null mice was unique to the carotid artery, a similar experiment was performed on segments of abdominal aorta (Figures 13,14). The aorta demonstrated a similar increase in circumferential compliance in OPN null animals as compared to wild type. Interestingly, the compliance data predicts OPN null arteries to be larger than wild type at physiological pressures, which is not observed in situ. We interpret this apparent inconsistency as supportive evidence of increased vascular tone in OPN null mice as a compensatory mechanism for increased

83

compliance. Circumferential compliance is mediated by both elastin and collagen content, whereas longitudinal compliance is mediated predominantly by elastin^{13,18}. To determine if longitudinal compliance was altered from that of wild type in OPN null mice, a left common carotid artery from each group was mounted in a petri dish so as to support different weights along the longitudinal axis. No difference in longitudinal compliance was observed (Figure 15).

As the compliance data suggested collagen might be altered in OPN null mice, we examined vessels histologically in an effort to determine the origin of the difference in compliance. Arterial cross sections were stained with orcein and Massonís trichrome stain to visualize elastin (Figure 16A,B) and collagen (Figure 16C,D), respectively. No difference in the elastic fibers was noted between groups, but the collagenous matrix appeared to be organized much more loosely in the OPN null mice, particularly in the adventitial region. Interestingly, this observation does not correlate with the observation of Giachelli et al. which localized the major sites of OPN expression to along the elastic laminae²⁷⁴.



Figure 11. Magnetic resonance angiograms show the aorta of OPN null mice to be the same size as wild type mice. Mice (Wild type: n=2, OPN null: n=2) were anesthetized with avertin and examined in a magnetic resonance imaging scanner intended for human use. As the diameter of the aorta varies along its length, only a single measurement from a comparable location (indicated by arrow) was made from each mouse. Despite the poor resolution, the aorta diameter of OPN null mice (n=2) can be seen to be not significantly different than that of wild type (n=2).



Figure 12. The loss of osteopontin results in the increased arterial wall circumferential compliance of the common carotid artery. Left carotid arteries were isolated from wild type and OPN null mice, then sutured to a catheter such that intravascular pressure could be regulated. Intravascular pressure was slowly increased to allow equalization. Diameters were then measured from digitized images taken at the indicated pressures. (A) OPN null carotid arteries demonstrate greater compliance than wild type at physiological pressures. Note that the increase in diameter of OPN null vessels is greater than that of wild type. (B) Measurements of vessel diameter at the corresponding pressure were used to determine vessel extensibility. The carotid arteries of OPN null mice demonstrate greater extensibility than wild type at the pressures determined in earlier experiments to be physiological for these mice. Asterisks (< 0.05).

Figure 13. The loss of osteopontin results in the increased arterial wall

circumferential compliance of the aorta. Segments of aortae extending from the renal artery to the iliac bifurcation were isolated from wild type and OPN null mice, then sutured such that intravascular pressure could be modulated / measured with standard arterial line equipment. Arterial segments were then inflated with isotonic saline at 3 ml/min. Digitized photographs were taken at indicated pressures. As the diameter of the aorta differs along its length, only a single measurement from a comparable location was made from each mouse. Arterial diameter was measured at sites indicated by arrows. Indicated in each panel is vessel size as a percentage of the relaxed vessel and vessel size as a percentage of the expanded vessel at 175 mm Hg. OPN null mice demonstrated greater arterial wall compliance than wild type mice as indicated by a greater increase in vessel diameter at both 80 mm Hg (wild type: 106% of relaxed diameter, OPN null: 153% of relaxed diameter) and 175 mm Hg (wild type: 141% of relaxed diameter, OPN null: 164% of relaxed diameter). Bar = 2mm.









Figure 15. The presence of osteopontin does not affect the longitudinal compliance of the common carotid artery. Left common carotid arteries of equal length from a wild type (n=1) and an OPN null mouse (n=1) were mounted in a petri dish so as to photograph the vessels before and after application of a known force along the longitudinal axis. No difference in vessel length was observed between wild type and OPN null mice.



Figure 16. Collagen fibers are organized more loosely in vessels of OPN null mice. Sections from unmanipulated carotid arteries were stained with orcein (A, B) or Massonís trichrome stain (C, D) to visualize elastin and collagen, respectively. No difference in organization of elastin fibers was noted in wild type (A) versus OPN null vessels (B). However, the organization of adventitial collagen fibers in arteries from OPN null mice (D) appeared looser compared to wild type arteries (C). Elastin appears brown in A and B, collagen appears blue in C and D. Bar=20 $m\Box m$.



Figure 17. Osteopontin expression is upregulasted following carotid artery

ligation. (A) Western blot of 100 mg of total protein from individual carotid arteries was performed with 12.5% SDS-PAGE followed by blotting with anti-OPN. (B) OPN bands were then quantified following normalization against smooth muscle α -actin. The blot was repeated in triplicate and results are reported as mean with standard deviation.

Expression of OPN following blood flow cessation in carotid arteries

To quantify the temporal induction of OPN protein following carotid artery ligation, vessels from OPN null or wild type mice were collected at 4 and 14 days after ligation. Sham manipulated vessels were collected as control samples. Single ligated left carotid arteries from each group were homogenized, then analyzed by Western blot for the presence of OPN (Figure 17A,B). OPN protein in each vessel was quantified by densitometric comparison and normalized to smooth muscle α -actin levels. Antibodies to smooth muscle α -actin was used instead of antibodies to smooth muscle β -actin in an effort to normalize the length of the arterial segment analyzed (proliferation of cells

following ligation would be expected to increase the amount of β -actin present as compared to an equivalent length segment of uninjured artery. We sought to determine the differential expression of OPN in arterial segments of equivalent length, as opposed to the number of cells present.) In vessels from wild type mice, low levels of OPN were detected in unmanipulated carotid arteries. OPN protein was increased at 4 days after ligation, and was abundant at 2 weeks after ligation. No OPN was detected in any arterial samples from OPN null mice.

Vascular remodeling response is regulated by OPN

We used the carotid artery ligation model to test the hypothesis that OPN regulates vascular remodeling responses. Groups of wild type and OPN null mice were ligated with sham manipulation and unmanipulated mice as control. Carotid arteries were then harvested at 14 and 28 days following ligation. We chose to harvest the carotid arteries at 14 and 28 days following the procedure as previous work has indicated these times to be optimal for proliferation92, and a time of stable neointima formation91 respectively. Eight sections from the proximal 2.25mm closest to the ligature were analyzed from each mouse (Figure 18). No differences in vessel areas were found between unmanipulated and sham manipulated arteries (Table 6). Consistent with their increased compliance upon isolation from the body, the unmanipulated carotid arteries in OPN null mice were significantly smaller than those in wild type counterparts (Table 6). Following ligation, the ligated left carotid artery in all mice showed negative remodeling (decrease in total area), while the contralateral right artery underwent positive remodeling (increase in total area).



The ligated left carotid artery of OPN null mice showed significantly less neointima formation and greater constrictive remodeling (as evidenced by change in total area) at 14 days following ligation compared to that of wild type mice (Table 6). Interestingly, the negative remodeling occurred such that the lumen area was no longer different between groups. At 28 days following ligation, additional remodeling resulted in similar intimal, lumen, and total areas between wild type and OPN null mice. At this time, only medial area demonstrated a significant difference, and was smaller in the OPN null than wild type vessels. Thus, the carotid arteries of OPN null mice displayed different remodeling responses to arrive at 28 day remodeled arteries that were morphologically similar to controls.

The right common carotid artery of all mice showed compensatory increases in lumen area (p<0.001) and total area (p<0.001) with no significant changes in medial or intimal areas as compared to unmanipulated vessels (Table 7). Consistent with having increased compliance, the actual change in lumen area was greater in OPN null mice.

Regression analysis describes osteopontin effects on the response to carotid artery ligation in greater detail

Having demonstrated the loss of OPN to alter the vascular injury response, we sought to determine if OPN affected how the injury response changed with distance from the site of ligation. Using the analytical method described in chapter 2, we found the response of OPN null mice to be dramatically different than that of wild type mice. Whereas wild type mice showed changes in vessel areas with increasing distance from the site of ligation, OPN null mice did not. Additionally, the changes in vessel areas that characterized the wild type response changed with harvest time. Though OPN null mice
		Lumen Area			Total Area		
P(wt/null)	0.375	0.040	<0.001		0.003	0.659	
OPN Null	0.016 +/- 0.002	0.021 +/- 0.007	0.023 +/- 0.005	NA	0.005 +/- 0.003	0.015 +/- 0.022	
Wild Type	0.016 +/- 0.002	0.023 +/- 0.005	0.027 +/- 0.006	NA	0.02 +/- 0.024	0.017 +/- 0.033	
<u>.</u>	Control	14d	28d	Control	14d	28d	

Intimal Area

14d

0.032

0.065 + / -

0.050 + / -

Control

0.081 + / -

0.074 +/-

0.009

28d

0.025

0.061 +/-

0.061 + / -

Madial	A maa
Iviediai	Агеа

14d

0.022 + / -

0.019 +/-

0.018

Control

0.008

0.057 +/-

Wild Type 0.064 +/-

OPN Null

 0.008
 0.013
 0.019
 0.009
 0.025
 0.032

 P(wt/null)
 0.002
 0.420
 0.087
 0.005
 0.024
 0.785

0.019 + / -

0.024 + / -

Table 6. Traditional morphometric analysis of the ligated left carotid artery.

28d

0.001

Comparison of the injury response of OPN null mice to wild type mice was first done with mean areas for the entire vessel as described by Kumar and Lindner91. Mean medial, intimal, lumen, and total areas from left carotid arteries harvested 14 and 28 days following left carotid artery ligation, and from left carotid arteries harvested from unmanipulated mice are presented. Data from sham manipulated mice did not differ from unmanipulated at any time point. Two way ANOVA (OPN/harvest time) indicated OPN to have a significant effect that was then clarified with Studentís t tests. At 14 days following ligation, OPN null mice demonstrated greater constrictive remodeling (as indicated by a decrease in total area) and less neointima formation than wild type mice. At 28 days following ligation, with the exception of medial area, the remodeled arteries of OPN null mice did not differ from wild type. Values presented are average areas (mm2). S.D. NA: values too small to be precisely measured. Italics indicate statistical significance.

<u>Source</u>	<u>Media</u>	<u>Intima</u>	Lumen	<u>Total</u>
OPN (before injury)	· · · · · · · · · · · · ·		x	X
Distance (before injury)	x	X	x	
OPN (after ligation)		x	x	X
Distance (after ligation)				
Harvest time(after ligation)	x	X	x	X
OPN * Harvest (after ligation)		x	x	
OPN * Distance (after ligation)	1	x	x	X
OPN * Harvest * Distance (after ligation)	x	X	X	x
R2	0.5105	0.2145	0.3907	0.3610

Table 8. Regression models describe how osteopontin is affecting the response to carotid artery ligation. Though the response to ligation changed with harvest time in both wild type and OPN null mice, the response of wild type mice showed vessel area changes with distance that were not constant at each harvest time. Checked boxes indicate the associated parameter was found to be statistically significant (p<0.05).

Cell proliferation and apoptosis

Our morphometric analysis demonstrated that the loss of OPN does not affect remodeling responses along the vessel in a uniform manner. We sought to determine if the observed difference in neointima formation at 14 days between wild type and OPN null mice could be explained by altered cell proliferation or apoptosis. Sections directly adjacent to those analyzed for morphology were used to determine intimal cell number. At 14 days following ligation, no difference was observed in the total number or distribution of intimal cells (Figure 19A). Total cell number was observed to correlate with intimal area. Sections were additionally analyzed for proliferation by bromodeoxyuridine incorporation. Again, no difference was observed in total number of proliferating cells (Figure 19B). As with total cell number, cell proliferation correlated with intima area with approximately 10% of intimal cells undergoing proliferation. Apoptotic cells were quantified on adjacent sections using a fluorescent deoxyribonucleic acid end labeling assay (Figure 19C). In both wild type and OPN null mice, apoptosis was observed in only 1% of the intimal cells. Like cell proliferation, the presence of intimal apoptotic cells was observed to correlate with intimal area. While these particular experiments do not indicate differences on the OPN null background, the results demonstrate that the size of the neointima correlates with high rates of cell turnover. Thus, the injury response at the cellular level also demonstrates regional differences.



20

10

0 -2100

0 0

_ _ B

₿

-700

m

8

0

H



-**0-0-0**-3500

2100

Р

700

Distance from site of maximum neointimal area (um)

Rich inflammatory infiltrate following carotid artery ligation

As OPN has been shown to control the influx of inflammatory cells in vivo, we examined if early inflammation was quantitatively different between OPN null and wild type animals. Using an antibody against the pan-leukocyte marker CD45, immunostaining was performed on sections of carotid arteries from both groups collected 4 days after ligation. In sections from wild type animals, CD45 positive leukocytes were abundant in the region with the largest neointima, but rare in the remainder of the vessel (Figure 20A). Analysis of OPN null animals revealed few leukocytes in any region along the entire length of the carotid artery (Figure 20B). Quantification of the area of positive immunostaining of wild type mice showed a 10-fold increase over that of OPN null mice. We attempted to specify the type and activation state of the invading inflammatory cells using antibodies to CD-4, CD-8, CD-25, and CD-45 with flow cytometry. A digest time could not be found that allowed cell dissociation, and cell viability.



Figure 20. Leukocyte infiltration is diminished in OPN null mice. Representative section from wild type (A) and OPN null (B) vessels harvested 4 days following ligation in regions close to the ligature are shown. Sections were stained with anti-CD45 pan-leukocyte antibody. Note the absence of leukocytes in the OPN null sections. Arrow in panel B shows a region of some leukocyte influx. Bar = $500 \mu m$.

Chapter 3 Discussion

Both gene products and physical forces have been shown to affect vascular physiology / pathophysiology. In this study, the loss of OPN was shown to alter hemodynamics and arterial mechanics. As normal wild type mice express very little OPN in blood vessels, our findings of significant changes in normal blood vessel physiology on the OPN null background was unanticipated. Compared to wild type, we observed unmanipulated OPN null mice to have more lymphocytes, lower systolic blood pressure, increased heart rate, arteries with greater compliance, and reduced blood flow at similar heart rates. These observations are consistent with previous work which has observed increased systolic pressure associated with stiffened vessels²²⁻²⁴. Though increased compliance can increase the lumen area of resistance vessels thus reducing peripheral resistance / blood pressure, other factors must be considered as this has not been observed in every case^{31,50,70}. However, contrary to the predictions of Campbell²¹ (Cardiac output = mean arterial pressure x (compliance / time constant)), we observe increased compliance in the presence of decreased cardiac output, suggesting the lowered systolic pressure observed in the OPN null mice of this study may reflect lowered mean arterial pressure. Interestingly, the difference in large artery diameters predicted by our compliance data was not observed in an in situ comparison of OPN null mice to wild type. Though our in situ observations were not in alert mice (and we did not measure the blood pressure of the anesthetized mice), we interpret this inconsistency as supportive evidence of a compensatory increase in vascular tone in OPN null mice.

Our data support the following model of OPN activity in the normal vessel wall (Figure 21). As OPN null mice are similar to wild type in size, physical activity, and oxygen carrying capacity (Table 5, and data not shown), blood flow is similar in both

groups. Because of the lack of OPN, vessel wall compliance is greater, resulting in decreased systolic pressure. Though the OPN null mice attempt to compensate for increased compliance with increased smooth muscle cell tone, this compensation is incomplete as evidenced by lower blood pressure [Arterial pressure=(flow)(vascular resistance)]. Additionally, the loss of OPN is associated with reduced stroke volume which is compensated for by an increased heart rate [Flow=(stroke volume)(heart rate)]. Although the OPN null mice are overtly similar to wild type mice, our model predicts the mice to be compromised upon cardiovascular challenge.



Figure 21. Model of altered hemodynamics in OPN null mice. The structural changes noted on the OPN null background include disorganized collagen and increased vessel wall compliance. OPN null mice compensate for increased vascular compliance with increased vascular tone, and reduced stroke volume with increased heart rate.

The structural change involving the collagen matrix is of interest, as OPN is thought to interact with collagens 186,201, fibronectin 202, and other components of specialized matrices including osteocalcin 174 . With respect to collagen, we previously found that on the OPN null background, wound healing in the skin occurred with a defect in the fibrillar organization of collagen, and formation of large dermal collagen fibrils was lacking²⁸¹. Similarly, following myocardial infarction, Trueblood et al. observed increased dilation in the presence of smaller and more loosely organized collagen fibers in the remodeled heart of OPN null mice as compared to wild type²⁸³. In arteries, the circumferential stretch of arteries has been shown to mostly involve elastin and collagen structure^{13,18,284}. Functionally, defective collagen organization has been shown to increase aortic compliance and reduce strength 19 , which is consistent with our observations. Collectively, these observations suggest that the presence of OPN is important for matrix remodeling and collagen structure in vivo, and suggests that OPN modification of collagen structure may be the molecular mechanism underlying the altered compliance of OPN null mice.

As we had hypothesized, we found that the remodeling response of OPN null vessels to cessation of blood flow was distinct from that in wild type vessels. The response to carotid artery ligation has been shown to be mediated by factors affecting inflammation¹⁰¹, vascular tone^{27,102,118}, plasma proteins^{84,92,100,114}, cytoskeletal components³², hormones / growth factors^{130,135}. Following ligation, OPN null mice demonstrated greater initial constrictive remodeling and less neointima formation as compared to wild type. The observation of decreased neointima formation in the response

of OPN null mice to carotid artery ligation is consistent with our previous observation of decreased neointima formation following endothelial denudation in rats treated with anti-OPN antibody²⁸⁰. As it was possible that the increased constrictive remodeling reflected an endothelium dependent response, we re-examined our earlier data using anti-OPN antibody infusion following balloon catheter denudation²⁸⁰. Similarly, we found significantly increased constrictive remodeling in the anti-OPN treated group compared to wild type (Figure 22). This suggests that blocking OPN function may be a means to increase vascular compliance. Another consistent finding between the endothelial denudation model and the carotid artery ligation model was that we could not detect changes in cell proliferation, apoptosis, or cell density.



Figure 22. Following endothelial denudation, rats demonstrate less constrictive remodeling in response to anti-OPN treatment. Previously published data concerning the effect of OPN on the vascular remodeling of rats following endothelial denudation was reexamined. Consistent with the data presented in this chapter, the loss of OPN resulted in decreased constrictive remodeling. Single asterisk indicates a previously described significant difference. Double asterisks indicate significant difference found on review.

OPN null mice, despite having more circulating lymphocytes, did not demonstrate the early leukocyte infiltration that characterized the response of wild type mice. OPN has been verified as an important mediator of immune cell migration and activity²⁸⁵ and leukocyte invasion has been observed to be an important determinant of neointima formation. For example, decreased leukocyte infiltration was associated with reduced neointimal size in P-selectin null mice¹⁰⁹ and endothelial nitric oxide synthase transgenic mice¹⁰². Conversely, endothelial nitric oxide synthase deficient mice demonstrated greater neointima formation in the presence of increased leukocyte infiltration²⁷ and fas ligand deficient mice showed increased neointima formation preceded by increased leukocyte infiltration 168. While our study supports a positive association of leukocyte infiltration and neointimal lesion size, we also observed increased constrictive remodeling associated with decreased neointimal lesion size in OPN null mice. Interestingly, this altered remodeling occurred in such as a way to maintain the remodeled lumen size. The mechanism of the altered response will require additional study. While we hypothesized that loss of the macrophage chemoattractant properties of OPN would directly alter the vascular injury response of OPN null mice, the altered response may be secondary to the unexpected difference in hemodynamics/vessel mechanics. This alternative explanation is supported by several studies that have observed an association of inflammation with increased blood pressure^{242,286}.

As hypertension has been observed with increased calcification 243,287 , and Speer et al. 278 observed increased induced arterial calcification in mice on an OPN null / Gla null

background, our observation of decreased blood pressure and increased compliance in OPN null mice initially seemed counterintuitive. It is most likely that the altered hemodynamics / vascular mechanics of OPN null mice are due to both primary and secondary effects of loss of OPN. We suspect the loss of direct inhibition of calcification by OPN overcomes the secondary feature of lower blood pressure. Thus, our observations rather than conflicting with those of Speer et al. combine to demonstrate the many factors that must be considered when analyzing vascular response.

In summary, the regulation of vascular function is indeed complex. This study demonstrated OPN to have a role in determining the hemodynamics / vessel mechanics of normal arteries as well as remodeled vascular phenotypes. Our data, combined with that of others, suggests alteration of collagen structure may be the mechanism by which compliance is changed in OPN null mice. We are currently seeking to distinguish which of the observed effects are primary and secondary due to loss of OPN.

Chapter 4

SUMMARY, FUTURE PLANS, AND RESEARCH DESIGN

<u>Summary</u>

The work presented in this text makes a significant contribution not just to the study of chronic obstructive vascular disease, but to the general study of vascular biology as it identifies OPN as not only having a role in vascular injury response, but in the function of normal, healthy arteries as well. Comparison of the morphology of the carotid arteries of wild type mice to OPN null mice before and after vascular injury demonstrated that OPN does not affect the morphology of large arteries before vascular injury or after stable lesion formation, but does affect the path by which the stable lesion is achieved. Comparison of the vascular function of large arteries between wild type and OPN null mice demonstrated the hemodynamics of uninjured OPN null mice are different than wild type mice, and the physical / structural characteristics of the large arteries are different as well. Comparison of the complete count of OPN null mice to that of wild type mice revealed OPN null mice to have a greater concentration of lymphocytes. The loss of OPN was shown to result in decreased inflammation and followed by less neointima formation. Additionally, the work demonstrated the first application of regression to the analysis of carotid artery ligation data that, due to increased comparative power and quality of description, should facilitate future experimentation and interpretation of studies. The work was exciting to perform as the differences between uninjured wild type and OPN null were not expected.

The work presented in this text has several limitations that prevent further interpretation of the results as they relate to the projectis goal, the determination of the mechanism by which OPN affects the vascular injury response. The major problem is the presence of OPN caused differences in the negative controls for the vascular response (sham manipulated and unmanipulated mice). Though this observation is exciting as it

112

demonstrates the first vascular phenotype of uninjured OPN null mice, and suggests that OPN may be a novel target for blood pressure therapy, the lack of equivalent baseline complicates analysis. The difference observed in the vascular injury response of OPN null mice from that of wild type mice may be due to conditions that existed prior to injury. This limitation occurred because we simply did not expect the small amount of OPN present in the vessel prior to injury to have a significant effect on vascular function. In retrospect, in vivo systems are complex, and the action of OPN at sites other than the vasculature must be considered as it may have secondary effects on the vasculature. For example, it is possible that the expression and action of OPN in regions of kidney involved with blood pressure regulation affected hemodynamics such that the structure of the vasculature compensated with altered compliance. Additionally, as inflammation has been shown to correlate with blood pressure²⁴², the diminished inflammatory response of OPN null mice may be secondary to reduced blood pressure. We chose to complete the study with the belief that the full data would help us design better follow-up experiments, and any follow-up experimental design would require the data.

A second limitation of the data that prevents further interpretation is the complete lack of data on vascular function after injury. Thus, the effect of vascular injury on hemodynamics and vascular compliance is not known. As expression of OPN increased following injury and a difference in injury response was observed at this time, the simultaneous observation of an effect of OPN on either compliance or hemodynamics would have greatly helped this study. This limitation occurred because of time constraints: the need to return borrowed equipment and a shortage of mice. Fortunately, these problems can be addressed in follow-up experiments. A third limitation of the data is the failure to localize OPN expression. This occurred due to technical problems with OPN immunostaining. Despite attempts with several different antibodies, the technical problem (localization of non-specific antibody to the same area) could not be overcome. Thus, though OPN expression was quantified before and after injury with western blot, the location of the expression is not known. In the laboratory, we are currently developing rabbit polyclonal anti-mouse antibodies that may help us address this problem. The presentation of altered adventitial collagen in the uninjured vessels of OPN null mice as compared to wild type suggests OPN is directly involved in organization of these collagen fibers. However, previous work in rats did not demonstrate the adventitia to be a site of OPN expression in uninjured vessels. It is possible the altered collagen appearance results from compliance effects on the movement of the vessel wall with each pulse wave. Possible solutions to this problem include the use of frozen sections instead of paraffin embedded sections, or the use of in-situ hybridization.

Despite these limitations, the data presented in this text does allow the projectis hypothesis to be addressed. We accept the hypothesis. The data presented in this text clearly shows that the presence of osteopontin does affect the response to vascular injury. However, the failure of the hypothesis to consider the expression of OPN prior to injury as a source of alteration of the injury response reveals the flawed reasoning in hypothesisi conception, and prevents achievement of the project goal (i.e. determination of the mechanism of action of OPN in vascular injury). As presented in the following sections, the continued advancement of this project centers on the formulation of a hypothesis that considers what was learned in the execution of this portion of the project.

114

Future plans

Though capable of addressing the project's hypothesis, the data presented in this text does not adequately address the projectis goal, which was the determination of the mechanism by which OPN affects the vascular injury response. Given that OPN affects the function of uninjured blood vessels, the future goal requires an examination of the role of OPN in the function of uninjured vessels. Thus, though the overall goal remains the same, the future goal must be more specific. The revised project goal is to mechanistically describe the role of osteopontin in normal vascular function. The successful attainment of this goal will improve our understanding of the basic processes that underlie vascular function. As the data presented in this text identified OPN as a mediator of vascular compliance, the targeting of OPN may be therapeutically useful. As there are currently no drugs that directly alter vascular structure, if OPN proves to have direct action on the vasculature, then pharmacologic agents that act on OPN would represent a novel drug class. The revised project goal will be addressed with the proposed hypothesis that osteopontin alters vascular function through a direct effect on collagen. The projectis hypothesis could be tested with the following strategy. Project strategy: Identify the effect of osteopontin on factors known to be involved with vascular function. To advance the project, two specific aims are proposed. Their successful achievement should allow the proposed hypothesis to be addressed, and provide substantial data toward the achievement of the revised project goal. Specific Aim 1: Identify the structural basis for the difference in compliance between

wild type and OPN null mice.

Specific Aim 2: Identify the basis for the difference in vascular tone between wild type and OPN null mice.

Research design

Specific Aim 1: Identify the structural basis for the difference in compliance between wild type and OPN null mice

Hypothesis: Osteopontin binding of collagen alters collagen fiber formation and organization.

Strategy: Comparison of electron micrographs of the vessel wall of OPN null mice to that of wild type mice in conjunction with osteopontin-collagen / elastin binding assays.

Is the altered compliance of OPN null mice accompanied by altered elastin/ collagen structure?

Regardless of whether the effect of OPN on the vasculature is primary or secondary to OPN action elsewhere, the arterial wall of OPN null mice is physically different than the equivalent arterial wall of wild type mice. This difference is not due to vascular tone as the pressure myograph experiment in chapter 3 was conducted in the presence of high concentration of vasodilator. Besides vascular tone, compliance is primarily mediated by collagen and elastin¹³. The lack of difference in the longitudinal extensibility of the carotid artery between groups suggests the difference in circumferential compliance to be due to altered collagen¹⁸. Additionally, adventitial collagen appeared less dense in OPN null mice as compared to wild type (Figure 16). Alterations of collagen with the loss of OPN is further supported by previous work as our laboratory²⁸¹ and others²⁸³ have noted OPN null mice to have thicker collagen fibers in a less dense matrix than that of wild type mice.

As compliance is affected by the geometric arrangement of the collagen fibers as well as both the type and amounts of collagen expressed, analysis will include both quantification and examination of the collagen network. The carotid artery will be used as the composition of the aorta has been shown to vary along its length²⁰. Carotid arteries will be harvested from groups of 16 week old wild type and OPN null mice (n=6 from each group), normalized for total protein, and then quantified for total collagen and elastin by western blot. Though collagen is normally insoluble, the quantification of total collagen by western blot has been described 288. The quantification of collagen sub-type will be done by immunostaining. As collagen fibrillogenesis is known to be mediated by many factors and fibrils may form so as to mask the presence of a collagen sub-type, a brief pepsin digest will precede immunostaining. Our laboratory currently has serial crosssections from carotid arteries of wild type and OPN null mice. These sections (n=6 from each group) will be immunostained with fluorescent tagged antibodies to collagens I, III, and V (Southern Biotech), and digitally photographed. Total light can then be used to quantify collagen sub-type in each vessel layer. Non-specific fluorescent labeled IgG will be used to assess non-specific binding. As it was successfully used in previous analyses of the OPN effect on collagen networks^{281,283}, examination of the collagen network will be done with a comparison of electron micrographs of cross sections of the carotid artery (n=6 from each group). The subjective work will be summarized with the selection of a representative section from each group.

The expected result of these experiments is to confirm the collagen structure of the arteries of OPN null mice to consist of thinner fibers in a less dense matrix than wild type. The work presented in the text (Figure 16) suggests elastin structure is not altered

in OPN null mice. Consistent with this result, there are no reports of OPN binding elastin. However, Giachelli et al. used immunostaining to localize OPN near the elastic laminae²⁷⁴. Thus, it would not be especially surprising to find the ultrastructure of elastin to be altered by the loss of OPN.

A problem with the electron microscope experiments is the lack of quantitation. The difference in elastin/ collagen structure between groups would have to be obvious for the experiments to be at all convincing. Though this is the expected result for collagen, if the result is not obvious, then the quantification of density of collagen matrices will be attempted using a variation of a procedure described by Ramanujan et al.²⁸⁹ Briefly, fluourescein labeled dextrans of variable molecular weight (Sigma) will be allowed to permeate the freshly harvested vessels of wild type and OPN null mice. The tissue permeation should not be a problem as Netti et al. were able to monitor the flow of large molecules through tumor tissue²⁹⁰. Assuming success, the vessels successfully permeated with the heaviest dextran will then have a small (20 μ m radius) spot exposed to 488 nm laser light so as to permanently bleach the exposed fluorochromes. The increase in light over time can then be measured as unbleached fluorochromes diffuse into the area to provide a measure of barrier to diffusion. Whereas the barrier to diffusion of small molecules is primarily effected by proteoglycans, the movement of large molecules is primarily effected by the collagen matrix²⁹⁰. Comparison of the diffusion times for large molecules should then provide a quantitative measure of density of the collagen network.

Does osteopontin colocalize with collagen or elastin?

Both Butler¹⁸⁶ and Kaartinen et al.²⁰¹ demonstrated OPN binding wells coated with collagens I-V. Butler reported dissociation constants ranging from 20-50 nM, and Kaartinen showed collagen type V binding to be stronger than type I and type I binding stronger than type III. However the in vivo binding of OPN to collagen has not been shown. Assuming the technical difficulties with immunostaining can be resolved, the OPN antibody will be tagged with a fluorochrome (Fluoreporter labeling kit, Molecular Probes), and used to demonstrate colocalization in confocal micrographs with the fluorescent tagged collagen antibodies (Southern Biotech) and with elastin antibodies (Elastin Products Company). With proper selection of fluorochromes, the excitiation of one fluorochrome by the light emitted from the other fluorochrome can be used to localize the antibodies to be close (10-100 angstroms) to each other. However, as background fluoresence levels need to be especially low for FRET to be valid, and staining of extracellular matrix typically shows at least some background staining, a false positive result may occur. Thus, as always, good controls are necessary. The demonstration of fluoresence resonance energy transfer will clarify the colocalization as it will rule out all but very small bridge molecules. Even if fluoresence resonance energy transfer is not possible in this system, the experiment will verify or rule out colocalization.

The expected result of this experiment is the demonstration of colocalization with fluoresence resonance energy transfer of OPN with collagen in the medial layer. The binding of osteopontin to collagen has been described and the presence of both has been described in the medial layer. Though the work in this text showed collagen structure to be altered in the adventitial layer of OPN null mice, Giachelli et al. showed osteopontin not to be expressed in this layer²⁷⁴. The colocalization of osteopontin with elastin is also

expected as Giachelli et al. have already made this observation²⁷⁴, but the observation of fluoresence resonance energy transfer with the elastin colocalization would be especially interesting as the binding of osteopontin to elastin has not been reported. The requirement for a bridge protein for the binding of OPN to elastin/ collagen will be tested using in vitro experiments which will be described.

Does increasing concentration of osteopontin further decrease circumferential compliance?

In chapter 3 a model of the action of OPN proposed OPN null mice to have greater vascular tone in compensation for their increased compliance. As chapter 1 describes that vascular compliance can be altered by hemodynamics, it is equally possible the increased compliance of OPN null mice occurs in compensation for increased vascular tone. To determine whether the action of OPN on the vasculature is direct or secondary to its action at another site, the compliance of vessels with an increased concentration of OPN will be measured. As osteopontin transgenic mice are available, the effect of increased OPN expression on compliance can be determined by comparison of pressure myograph measurements of compliance of these mice to those presented in chapter 3.

In addition, the effect of the increased expression of OPN following ligation will be determined by comparison of pressure myograph measures of compliance of the 4, 14, and 28 day ligated vessels of wild type mice to those of OPN null mice. As it is unlikely the local increase in OPN will affect any other sites in the body, a further decrease in circumferential compliance in response to increased vascular OPN would suggest a direct effect. As demonstrated in chapter 3, ligation of the left common carotid artery results in increased expression of OPN in the region around the ligature. Groups of wild type mice (n=6) will have left common carotid arteries ligated, then harvested at 4 days, 2 weeks, 4 weeks, and 8 weeks. Compliance of the vessels will be determined using the pressure myograph technique also described in chapter 3. As they can also affect compliance, following measurement, collagen and elastin will be quantified by western blot and immunostain as described above.

Though not conclusive, these are especially exciting experiments as they will provide evidence as to the vessel being a primary site of osteopontin action. The data presented in this text showed less constrictive remodeling in wild type mice at a time of increased OPN expression. The further decrease of compliance in response to additional OPN could explain this result. Certainly there are other molecular changes induced by ligation (chapter one), but few follow the kinetics of OPN. Tracking changes in compliance with the change in OPN over time will either refute or further support a role for OPN in mediating compliance. The drawback of the experiment is it can not control for other differentially expressed proteins that follow OPN kinetics. Thus, the observed effect, if there is one, may be due to the action of a protein other than OPN, so the expected result of this experiment is evidence that further supports OPN mediation of the compliance of the carotid artery.

Does osteopontin have multiple collagen or elastin binding sites?

Though the use of recombinant OPN in the binding assays of Kaartinen et al. demonstrated post-translational modification of OPN is not necessary for collagen binding201, previous binding assays did not identify the specific collagen binding site(s) on OPN. The binding domains required for OPN binding of collagen will be determined by measuring the ability of increasingly smaller fragments of OPN to bind collagen. Interestingly Kaartinen et al. found the binding of collagen by OPN to be calcium dependent²⁰¹, suggesting the need to retain the calcium binding sites of OPN (aa 86-95 and aa 216-228) for collagen binding. Our laboratory currently has recombinant expressed proteins equating to full-length OPN and fragments resulting from the matrix metalloproteinase cleavage of OPN (OPN40kD: aa 17-166, OPN32kD: aa 167-314, OPN25kD: aa 211-314, OPN15kD: aa 167-210). These fragments can be used to further localize the binding site(s). The OPN fragments/ domains will be quantified, radiolabeled (Custom label service, Amersham Bioscience) then serially diluted. The solutions will then be placed in wells coated with known amounts of collagens I-V. Wells coated with bovine serum albumin will be used as negative control²⁰¹. The free OPN will then be washed from the wells, and bound OPN will be quantified using the radiation emitted from each well. Though the Scatchard plot has been used for determination of binding strength and valence, it has been criticized both in theory 291 and the way it has been applied²⁹². A simpler and more accurate analysis has been described by Lodish et al.²⁹³ From the data, a plot of bound OPN vs. OPN dilution will be made. Non-specific binding will be determined by carrying out the same experiment in the presence of 100 fold excess unlabeled OPN. As the specific binding sites will be occupied by excess OPN, labeled OPN will represent non-specific binding at each concentration. The specific binding at each concentration can then be determined by subtraction of non-specific binding from the total binding determined by the first experiment. The valence can be determined by the number of bumps in the curve, or, as it is possible different sites may have the same affinity, from the amount of OPN required to saturate a known amount of collagen / elastin. As the binding constant KD is defined as the concentration of ligand necessary to

bind half the receptors, inspection of the graph will provide a close approximation. The application of curvilinear regression to the data can locate KD with greater precision. Our recombinant protein expression system will then be used to express smaller OPN fragments to further refine the required protein region(s).

Elastin will also be assayed for its ability to bind OPN. Should such binding occur, the OPN binding sites for elastin will be similarly determined. The identification of multiple collagen or elastin binding sites would indicate OPN ability to form aggregates.

Can osteopontin alter the compliance of elastin/ collagen matrices in vitro?

In vitro work will also include analysis of the effect of OPN binding on the physical properties of elastin and collagen matrices. The formation of collagen²⁹⁴ and elastin²⁹⁵ matrix disks have been described. Separate disks containing collagen I-V and elastin will be made with increasing amounts of OPN (the upper limit to be 10x the concentration of OPN in injured vessels). Bovine serum albumin will be substituted for OPN as a negative control. The deformation of the disks in response to the application of force will then be quantified from digital photographs to provide measures of compliance. Additional experiments will be done with OPN fragments/ domains as indicated by the binding assays.

The drawback of this experiment is its inability to accurately represent the geometry of the matrix in vivo. Collagen fibrillogenesis is known to be mediated by many factors (e.g. temperature), and the complexity of in vivo regulation of collagen fibrillogenesis simply can not be replicated in vitro. However, the study of the effects of OPN fragments in this system could provide the mechanism by which OPN mediates compliance as well as the specific domains necessary. The expected result of this

experiment is the disks containing OPN (or the collagen binding domains) and collagen will demonstrate decreased compliance through a mechanism that involves OPN bridging.

Specific Aim 2: Identify the basis for the difference in vascular tone between wild type and OPN null mice.

Hypothesis: The presence of osteopontin decreases the reactivity of smooth muscle cells to vasoconstricting hormones.

Strategy: Comparison of amounts of factors known to affect vascular tone between wild type and OPN null mice in conjunction with reactivity assays.

Do OPN null mice show greater vascular tone?

Our model of the action of OPN in blood vessels has smooth muscle cells showing increased tone in the absence of OPN. The evidence supporting this aspect of the model is weak as we compared the in situ diameter of arteries of anesthetized mice to diameters predicted by arteries in vitro treated with vasodilator. A better comparison can be made with measurements of the exposed carotid arteries of anesthetized mice simultaneously monitored for blood pressure, blood flow and heart rate. The response of the arteries to vasodilators and vasoconstrictors can then be determined. It is possible that the manipulation of heart rate and blood pressure of anesthetized mice with epinephrine and intravenous fluids may allow the hemodynamics of alert mice to be replicated. Interestingly, atropine has little, if any, effect on mice due to their poorly developed parasympathetic nervous system,

Smooth muscle cell reactivity will be quantified with functional assays. Smooth muscle cells from OPN null mice will be grown on elastin and collagen matrix disks

described earlier in both the presence and absence of OPN. Similar to the previous experiments, the deformation of the disks in response to being released from the dish will then be quantified. The experiment will be repeated in the presence / absence of known vasoconstrictors / vasodilators. The resulting data will address the reactivity of smooth muscle cells to vasodilators / vasoconstrictors in the presence / absence of OPN.

It is expected that these experiments will identify a quantitative difference in either vasodilators/ vasoconstrictors, their associated receptors, or smooth muscle cell reactivity. To confirm the result in vivo, carotid arteries will be harvested from wild type (n=6) and OPN null mice (n=6), mounted in a pressure myograph. The vessels will then be inflated to 140 mm Hg, and digitally photographed before and after treatment with vasodilators/ vasoconstrictors identified in earlier experiments to be differentially involved. The response can be measured against the pressure diameter curves shown in chapter 3.

Though OPN is a substrate for smooth muscle cell attachment²⁸⁵, it may be that OPN affects smooth muscle cell binding to collagen or elastin through competition for binding sites. If this were true, OPN null mice show greater vascular tone simply because they grip the extracellular matrix better. While this may appear unlikely, our laboratory has observed the presence of OPN and specific fragments of OPN to substantially affect cell adhesion (unpublished results). To rule out OPN effects on smooth muscle cell adhesion, the collagen and elastin disks in the presence of OPN and fragments of OPN will be plated with a known number of cells. The cells will be allowed to set on the disk for ten minutes, then unattached cells will be washed off. Comparison of the number of attached cells will demonstrate the effect of OPN on cell binding to extracellular matrix.

Limitations of the research design

The proposed research design thoroughly examines the interaction of OPN with collagen and elastin. Additionally, the experiments will identify the domains of OPN necessary for interaction with collagen and possibly with elastin. As OPN contains no known domains for these interactions, the domains identified will be novel and may contribute to our understanding of other proteins. Furthermore, the proposed experiments will identify the role of OPN in mediating vascular tone. Together these experiments will allow the hypothesis that OPN affects vascular function through a direct interaction with collagen to be addressed, and will provide critical information for the project goal of a mechanistic description of OPN function in normal vessels. As described above, if OPN does indeed have primary effects on the vasculature, these experiments could identify it as a target for a new class of drugs. For these reasons, the proposed experiments, though relatively simple, may be quite rewarding. However, the proposed design has two major limitations: 1) If OPN does not have direct action on the vasculature, then the proposed experiments do very little to identify the primary site of action. Should the proposed experiments show that OPN does not directly act on blood vessels, the differences in smooth muscle cell reactivity and vasoconstrictor/vasodilator/receptor levels in OPN null mice from that of wild type mice may provide insights to some candidate sites of OPN action. 2) The experiments will not address the original project goal of this text, determination of the role of osteopontin in vascular injury. Addressing the role of osteopontin in vascular injury using the original strategy will require OPN null mice that have been somehow normalized to wild type vascular function. The data that will result from these proposed experiments should provide insights into how such normalization could be done

In general, the proposed experiments are relatively simple. As demonstrated by the work presented in this text, many of the procedures have already been practiced. Other potentially challenging tasks, such as recombinant protein expression, have been worked out by others in the laboratory. The greatest technical problem in carrying out the experiments is the lack of a key piece of equipment. The proposed research design relies heavily upon electron microscopy to demonstrate structural differences between wild type and OPN null mice. Unfortunately our laboratory possesses neither an electron microscope nor the sample preparation materials. Thus, this aspect of the project will be addressed through collaboration. One possible collaborator is the electron microscopy facility at the University of Maine.

Timeline for the proposed research design

The anticipated time to complete the proposed experiments is two years. A rough estimate of the sequence and time commitment to the different parts of the project are shown in Figure 23.



Figure 23. Anticipated sequence and time requirements for the different phases of

the proposed project.

REFERENCES

Ross R. The pathogenesis of atherosclerosis: a perspective for the 1990s. Nature 1993;
 362:801-809.

2. World Health Organization. World Health Report. 2002.

www.who.int/whr/2002/annex/en

3. American Heart Association. Cardiovascular Disease Statistics, 2002, www.americanheart.jhtml?identifier=4478

4. Thayer JM, Meyers K, Giachelli CM, Schwartz SM. Formation of the arterial media during vascular development. Cell Mol Biol Res 1995; 41:251-262.

5. Ross J, Rappaport SI. Best and Taylorís Physiological Basis of Medical Practice. Eleventh edition. 1985. Williams and Wilkens, Maryland.

6. Streeter, VL. Fluid Mechanics. 1966. McGraw-Hill Book Company, New York.

7. Longwell, PA. Mechanics of Fluid Flow. 1966. McGraw-Hill Book Company, New York.

8. Chien S, Vsami S, Taylor HM, Lundberg JL, Gregersen MI. Effects of hematocrit and plasma proteins on human blood rheology at low shear rates. J Applied Physiology 1966; 2181-2187.

9. Fahreus R., Lindqvist T. The viscosity of blood in narrow tubes. Am J of Physiol 1961; 200: 931-950

10. Hart CY, Burnett JC Jr, Redfield MM. Effects of avertin versus xylazine-ketamine anesthesia on cardiac function in normal mice. Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol 2001; 281:H1938-H1945.

11. Laurent S, Tropeano AI, Lillo-Lelouet A, Jondeau G, Laloux B, Boutouyrie P. Local pulse pressure is a major determinant of large artery remodelling. Clin Exp Pharmacol Physiol 2001; 28:1011-1014.

12. Intengan HD, Schiffrin EL. Structure and mechanical properties of resistance arteries in hypertension: role of adhesion molecules and extracellular matrix determinants.Hypertension 2000; 36:312-318.

13. Silver FH, Horvath I, Foran DJ. Viscoelasticity of the vessel wall: the role of collagen and elastic fibers. Crit Rev Biomed Eng 2001; 29:279-301.

14. Emoto N, Onose H, Yamada H, Minami S, Tsushima T, Wakabayashi I. Growth factors increase pericellular proteoglycans independently of their mitogenic effects on A10 rat vascular smooth muscle cells. Int J Biochem Cell Biol 1998; 30:47-54.

15. Shekhonin BV, Domogatsky SP, Muzykantov VR, Idelson GL, Rukosuev VS.

Distribution of type I, III, IV and V collagen in normal and atherosclerotic human arterial wall: immunomorphological characteristics. Coll Relat Res 1985; 5:355-368.

16. Li DY, Faury G, Taylor DG, Davis EC, Boyle WA, Mecham RP, Stenzel P, Boak B, Keating MT. Novel arterial pathology in mice and humans hemizygous for elastin. J Clin Invest 1998; 102:1783-1787.

17. Mills AN and Haworth SG. Pattern of connective tissue development in swine pulmonary vasculature by immunolocalization. J Pathol 1987; 153:171-176.

18. Dobrin PB, Canfield TR. Elastase, collagenase, and the biaxial elastic properties of dog carotid artery. Am J Physiol 1984; 247:H124-311.

19. Vouyouka AG, Pfeiffer BJ, Liem TK, Taylor TA, Mudaliar J, Phillips CL. The role of type I collagen in aortic wall strength with a homotrimeric. J Vasc Surg 2001; 33:1263-1270.

20. Shadwick RE. Mechanical design in arteries. J Exp Biol 1999; 202 Pt 23:3305-3313.
21. Campbell DI. Cardiac output determination using compliance. Anaesthesia 2002; 57(11):185.

22. Dart AM, Kingwell BA. Pulse pressure--a review of mechanisms and clinical relevance. J Am Coll Cardiol 2001; 37:975-984.

23. Ferguson JJ 3rd, Randall OS. Hemodynamic correlates of arterial compliance. Cathet Cardiovasc Diagn 1986; 12:376-380.

24. Stergiopulos N, Westerhof N. Determinants of pulse pressure. Hypertension 1998;32:556-559.

25. Kato H, Suzuki H, Tajima S, Ogata Y, Tominaga T, Sato A, Saruta T. Angiotensin II stimulates collagen synthesis in cultured vascular smooth muscle cells. J Hypertens 1991;
9:17-22.

26. Li JS, Knafo L, Turgeon A, Garcia R, Schiffrin EL. Effect of endothelin antagonism on blood pressure and vascular structure in renovascular hypertensive rats. Am J Physiol 1996; 271:H88-93.

27. Yogo K, Shimokawa H, Funakoshi H, Kandabashi T, Miyata K, Okamoto S, Egashira K, Huang P, Akaike T, Takeshita A. Different vasculoprotective roles of NO synthase isoforms in vascular lesion formation in mice. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol 2000;
20:E96-E100.

 Pannier BM, Avolio AP, Hoeks A, Mancia G, Takazawa K. Methods and devices for measuring arterial compliance in humans. Am J Hypertens 2002; 15:743-753.
 Deng LY, Schiffrin EL. Effects of endothelin on resistance arteries of DOCA-salt hypertensive rats. Am J Physiol 1992; 262:H1782-1787. 30. Sharifi AM, Li JS, Endemann D, Schiffrin EL. Effects of enalapril and amlodipine on small-artery structure and composition, and on endothelial dysfunction in spontaneously hypertensive rats. J Hypertens 1998; 16:457-466.

 Intengan HD, Deng LY, Li JS, Schiffrin EL. Mechanics and composition of human subcutaneous resistance arteries in essential hypertension. Hypertension 1999; 33:569-574.

32. Schiffers PM, Henrion D, Boulanger CM, Colucci-Guyon E, Langa-Vuves F, van Essen H, Fazzi GE, Levy BI, De Mey JG. Altered flow-induced arterial remodeling in vimentin-deficient mice. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol 2000; 20:611-616.

33. L'Italien GJ, Chandrasekar NR, Lamuraglia GM, Pevec WC, Dhara S, Warnock DF, Abbott WM. Biaxial elastic properties of rat arteries in vivo: influence of vascular wall cells on anisotropy. Am J Physiol 1994; 267:H574-579.

34. Nicosia MA, Kasalko JS, Cochran RP, Einstein DR, Kunzelman KS. Biaxial mechanical properties of porcine ascending aortic wall tissue. J Heart Valve Dis 2002; 11:680-686; discussion 686-687.

35. Lew MJ and Angus JA. Wall thickness to lumen diameter ratios of arteries from SHR and WKY: comparison of pressurised and wire-mounted preparations. J Vasc Res 1992; 29:435-442.

36. Mulvany MJ and Aalkjaer C. Structure and function of small arteries. Physiol Rev 1990; 70:921-961.

37. Senger DR. Molecular framework for angiogenesis: a complex web of interactions between extravasated plasma proteins and endothelial cell proteins induced by angiogenic cytokines [comment]. Am J Pathol 1996; 149:1-7.

38. Yancopoulos GD, Davis S, Gale NW, Rudge JS, Wiegand SJ, Holash J. Vascularspecific growth factors and blood vessel formation. Nature 2000; 407:242-248.

39. Gale NW and Yancopoulos GD. Growth factors acting via endothelial cell-specific receptor tyrosine kinases: VEGFs, angiopoietins, and ephrins in vascular development. Genes Dev 1999; 13:1055-1066.

40. Wang HU, Chen ZF, Anderson DJ. Molecular distinction and angiogenic interaction between embryonic arteries and veins revealed by ephrin-B2 and its receptor Eph-B4. Cell 1998; 93:741-753.

41. Oettgen P. Transcriptional regulation of vascular development. Circ Res 2001; 89:380-388.

42. Schwartz SM and Liaw L. Growth control and morphogenesis in the development and pathology of arteries. J Cardiovasc Pharmacol 1993; 21 Suppl 1:S31-49.

43. Welm B, Mott J, Werb Z. Developmental biology: vasculogenesis is a wreck without RECK. Curr Biol 2002; 12:R209-211.

44. Ross J, Rappaport SI. Best and Taylorís Physiological Basis of Medical Practice. eleventh edition. 1985. Williams and Wilkens. Maryland

45. Gilbert S. Developmental Biology. Fifth edition. 1997. Sinauer Associates, Inc., Massachussetts.

46. Tokimitsu I, Kato H, Wachi H, Tajima S. Elastin synthesis is inhibited by angiotensin II but not by platelet-derived growth factor in arterial smooth muscle cells. Biochim Biophys Acta 1994; 1207:68-73.

47. Lund-Johansen P. Relationship between cardiovascular haemodynamics and goals of antihypertensive therapy. J Hum Hypertens 1993; 7 Suppl 1:S21-28.

48. Baumbach GL, Hajdu MA. Mechanics and composition of cerebral arterioles in renal and spontaneously hypertensive rats. Hypertension 1993; 21:816-826.

49. d'Uscio LV, Barton M, Shaw S, Moreau P, Luscher TF. Structure and function of small arteries in salt-induced hypertension: effects of chronic endothelin-subtype-A-receptor blockade. Hypertension 1997; 30:905-911.

50. Hajdu MA and Baumbach GL. Mechanics of large and small cerebral arteries in chronic hypertension. Am J Physiol 1994; 266:H1027-1033.

51. Hashimoto H, Prewitt RL, Efaw CW. Alterations in the microvasculature of onekidney, one-clip hypertensive rats. Am J Physiol 1987; 253:H933-940.

52. Ono Z, Prewitt RL, Stacy DL. Arteriolar changes in developing and chronic stages of two-kidney, one clip hypertension. Hypertension 1989; 14:36-43.

53. Prewitt RL, Chen I, Dowell R. Development of microvascular rarefaction in the spontaneously hypertensive rat. Am J Physiol 1982; 243:H243-251.

54. Schiffrin EL and Hayoz D. How to assess vascular remodelling in small and mediumsized muscular arteries in humans. J Hypertens 1997; 15:571-584.

55. Deng LY and Schiffrin EL. Morphological and functional alterations of mesenteric small resistance arteries in early renal hypertension in rats. Am J Physiol 1991; 261:H1171-1177.

56. Laurant P, Touyz RM, Schiffrin EL. Effect of pressurization on mechanical properties of mesenteric small arteries from spontaneously hypertensive rats. J Vasc Res 1997; 34:117-125.

57. Schiffrin EL, Deng LY, Larochelle P. Morphology of resistance arteries and comparison of effects of vasoconstrictors in mild essential hypertensive patients. Clin Invest Med 1993; 16:177-186.
58. Aalkjaer C, Heagerty AM, Petersen KK, Swales JD, Mulvany MJ. Evidence for increased media thickness, increased neuronal amine uptake, and depressed excitation--contraction coupling in isolated resistance vessels from essential hypertensives. Circ Res 1987; 61:181-186.

59. Laurent S, Caviezel B, Beck L, Girerd X, Billaud E, Boutouyrie P, Hoeks A, Safar M. Carotid artery distensibility and distending pressure in hypertensive humans. Hypertension 1994; 23:878-883.

60. Armentano R, Megnien JL, Simon A, Bellenfant F, Barra J, Levenson J. Effects of hypertension on viscoelasticity of carotid and femoral arteries in humans. Hypertension 1995; 26:48-54.

61. Bashey RI, Cox R, McCann J, Jimenez SA. Changes in collagen biosynthesis, types, and mechanics of aorta in hypertensive rats. J Lab Clin Med 1989; 113:604-611.

62. Chamiot-Clerc P, Renaud JF, Blacher J, Legrand M, Samuel JL, Levy BI, Sassard J, Safar ME. Collagen I and III and mechanical properties of conduit arteries in rats with genetic hypertension. J Vasc Res 1999; 36:139-146.

63. Cheng KS, Tiwari A, Baker CR, Morris R, Hamilton G, Seifalian AM. Impaired carotid and femoral viscoelastic properties and elevated intima-media thickness in peripheral vascular disease. Atherosclerosis 2002; 164:113-120.

64. Hayoz D, Rutschmann B, Perret F, Niederberger M, Tardy Y, Mooser V, Nussberger J, Waeber B, Brunner HR. Conduit artery compliance and distensibility are not necessarily reduced in hypertension. Hypertension 1992; 20:1-6.

65. Gaballa MA, Jacob CT, Raya TE, Liu J, Simon B, Goldman S. Large artery
remodeling during aging: biaxial passive and active stiffness. Hypertension 1998; 32:437443.

66. Intengan HD, Thibault G, Li JS, Schiffrin EL. Resistance artery mechanics, structure, and extracellular components in spontaneously hypertensive rats : effects of angiotensin receptor antagonism and converting enzyme inhibition. Circulation 1999; 100:2267-2275.
67. Safar M, Chamiot-Clerc P, Dagher G, Renaud JF. Pulse pressure, endothelium function, and arterial stiffness in spontaneously hypertensive rats. Hypertension 2001; 38:1416-1421.

68. Bezie Y, Lamaziere JM, Laurent S, Challande P, Cunha RS, Bonnet J, Lacolley P. Fibronectin expression and aortic wall elastic modulus in spontaneously hypertensive rats. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol 1998; 18:1027-1034.

69. Castro CM, Cruzado MC, Miatello RM, Risler NR. Proteoglycan production by vascular smooth muscle cells from resistance arteries of hypertensive rats. Hypertension 1999; 34:893-896.

70. Thybo NK, Mulvany MJ, Jastrup B, Nielsen H, Aalkjaer C. Some pharmacological and elastic characteristics of isolated subcutaneous small arteries from patients with essential hypertension. J Hypertens 1996; 14:993-998.

Mizutani K, Ikeda K, Kawai Y, Yamori Y. Biomechanical properties and chemical composition of the aorta in genetic hypertensive rats. J Hypertens 1999; 17:481-487.
 Lichtenstein O, Safar ME, Poitevin P, Levy BI. Biaxial mechanical properties of carotid arteries from normotensive and hypertensive rats. Hypertension 1995; 26:15-19.
 Intengan HD, He G, Schiffrin EL. Effect of vasopressin antagonism on structure and mechanics of small arteries and vascular expression of endothelin-1 in deoxycorticosterone acetate salt hypertensive rats. Hypertension 1998; 32:770-777.

83. Rosenblum WI, Nelson GH, Povlishock JT. Laser-induced endothelial damage inhibits endothelium-dependent relaxation in the cerebral microcirculation of the mouse. Circ Res 1987; 60:169-176.

84. Weiler H, Lindner V, Kerlin B, Isermann BH, Hendrickson SB, Cooley BC, Meh DA, Mosesson MW, Shworak NW, Post MJ, Conway EM, Ulfman LH, von Andrian UH, Weitz JI. Characterization of a mouse model for thrombomodulin deficiency. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol 2001; 21:1531-1537.

85. Lijnen HR, Soloway P, Collen D. Tissue inhibitor of matrix metalloproteinases-1 impairs arterial neointima formation after vascular injury in mice. Circ Res 1999; 85:1186-1191.

86. Schwartz SM, Stemerman MB, Benditt EP. The aortic intima. II. Repair of the aortic lining after mechanical denudation. Am J Pathol 1975; 81:15-42.

87. Simon DI, Dhen Z, Seifert P, Edelman ER, Ballantyne CM, Rogers C. Decreased neointimal formation in Mac-1(-/-) mice reveals a role for inflammation in vascular repair after angioplasty. J Clin Invest 2000; 105:293-300.

88. Corjay MH, Diamond SM, Schlingmann KL, Gibbs SK, Stoltenborg JK, Racanelli
AL. alphavbeta3, alphavbeta5, and osteopontin are coordinately upregulated at early time points in a rabbit model of neointima formation. J Cell Biochem 1999; 75:492-504.
89. Drew AF, Tucker HL, Kombrinck KW, Simon DI, Bugge TH, Degen JL.
Plasminogen is a critical determinant of vascular remodeling in mice. Circ Res 2000; 87:133-139.

90. Curry BD, Bain JL, Yan JG, Zhang LL, Yamaguchi M, Matloub HS, Riley DA. Vibration injury damages arterial endothelial cells. Muscle Nerve 2002; 25:527-534.

91. Kumar A and Lindner V. Remodeling with neointima formation in the mouse carotid artery after cessation of blood flow. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol 1997; 17:2238-2244.
92. Kawasaki T, Dewerchin M, Lijnen HR, Vreys I, Vermylen J, Hoylaerts MF. Mouse carotid artery ligation induces platelet-leukocyte-dependent luminal fibrin, required for neointima development. Circ Res 2001; 88:159-166.

93. McPherson JA, Barringhaus KG, Bishop GG, Sanders JM, Rieger JM, Hesselbacher SE, Gimple LW, Powers ER, Macdonald T, Sullivan G, Linden J, Sarembock IJ.

Adenosine A(2A) receptor stimulation reduces inflammation and neointimal growth in a murine carotid ligation model. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol 2001; 21:791-796.

94. Rudic RD, Bucci M, Fulton D, Segal SS, Sessa WC. Temporal events underlying arterial remodeling after chronic flow reduction in mice: correlation of structural changes with a deficit in basal nitric oxide synthesis. Circ Res 2000; 86:1160-1166.

95. Bassiouny HS, Song RH, Hong XF, Singh A, Kocharyan H, Glagov S. Flow regulation of 72-kD collagenase IV (MMP-2) after experimental arterial injury. Circulation 1998; 98:157-163.

96. La M, Tailor A, D'Amico M, Flower RJ, Perretti M. Analysis of the protection afforded by annexin 1 in ischaemia-reperfusion injury: focus on neutrophil recruitment. Eur J Pharmacol 2001; 429:263-278.

97. Song RH, Kocharyan HK, Fortunato JE, Glagov S, Bassiouny HS. Increased flow and shear stress enhance in vivo transforming growth factor-beta1 after experimental arterial injury. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol 2000; 20:923-930.

98. Bendeck MP, Irvin C, Reidy M, Smith L, Mulholland D, Horton M, Giachelli CM. Smooth muscle cell matrix metalloproteinase production is stimulated via alpha(v)beta(3) integrin. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol 2000; 20:1467-1472. 99. Bendeck MP, Regenass S, Tom WD, Giachelli CM, Schwartz SM, Hart C, Reidy MA. Differential expression of alpha 1 type VIII collagen in injured platelet-derived growth factor-BB--stimulated rat carotid arteries. Circ Res 1996; 79:524-531.

100. Singh R, Pan S, Mueske CS, Witt T, Kleppe LS, Peterson TE, Slobodova A, Chang JY, Caplice NM, Simari RD. Role for tissue factor pathway in murine model of vascular remodeling. Circ Res 2001; 89:71-76.

101. Rectenwald JE, Moldawer LL, Huber TS, Seeger JM, Ozaki CK. Direct evidence for cytokine involvement in neointimal hyperplasia. Circulation 2000; 102:1697-1702.
102. Kawashima S, Yamashita T, Ozaki M, Ohashi Y, Azumi H, Inoue N, Hirata K, Hayashi Y, Itoh H, Yokoyama M. Endothelial NO synthase overexpression inhibits lesion formation in mouse model of vascular remodeling. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol 2001; 21:201-207.

103. Godin D, Ivan E, Johnson C, Magid R, Galis ZS. Remodeling of carotid artery is associated with increased expression of matrix metalloproteinases in mouse blood flow cessation model. Circulation 2000; 102:2861-2866.

104. Fishel RS, Thourani V, Eisenberg SJ, Shai SY, Corson MA, Nabel EG, Bernstein KE, Berk BC. Fibroblast growth factor stimulates angiotensin converting enzyme expression in vascular smooth muscle cells. Possible mediator of the response to vascular injury. J Clin Invest 1995; 95:377-387.

105. Faraci FM and Sigmund CD. Vascular biology in genetically altered mice : smaller vessels, bigger insight. Circ Res 1999; 85:1214-1225.

106. Rogers C, Edelman ER, Simon DI. A mAb to the beta2-leukocyte integrin Mac-1 (CD11b/CD18) reduces intimal thickening after angioplasty or stent implantation in rabbits. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 1998; 95:10134-10139.

107. Shi C, Zhang X, Chen Z, Robinson MK, Simon DI. Leukocyte integrin Mac-1 recruits toll/interleukin-1 receptor superfamily signaling intermediates to modulate NFkappaB activity. Circ Res 2001; 89:859-865.

108. Barron MK, Lake RS, Buda AJ, Tenaglia AN. Intimal hyperplasia after balloon injury is attenuated by blocking selectins. Circulation 1997; 96:3587-3592.

109. Kumar A, Hoover JL, Simmons CA, Lindner V, Shebuski RJ. Remodeling and neointimal formation in the carotid artery of normal and P-selectin-deficient mice. Circulation 1997; 96:4333-4342.

110. Dietrich H, Hu Y, Zou Y, Dirnhofer S, Kleindienst R, Wick G, Xu Q. Mouse model of transplant arteriosclerosis: role of intercellular adhesion molecule-1. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol 2000; 20:343-352.

111. Zou Y, Hu Y, Mayr M, Dietrich H, Wick G, Xu Q. Reduced neointima hyperplasia of vein bypass grafts in intercellular adhesion molecule-1-deficient mice. Circ Res 2000; 86:434-440.

112. Simon DI, Chen Z, Xu H, Li CQ, Dong J, McIntire LV, Ballantyne CM, Zhang L,
Furman MI, Berndt MC, Lopez JA. Platelet glycoprotein ibalpha is a counterreceptor
for the leukocyte integrin Mac-1 (CD11b/CD18). J Exp Med 2000; 192:193-204.
113. Rogers C, Welt FG, Karnovsky MJ, Edelman ER. Monocyte recruitment and
neointimal hyperplasia in rabbits. Coupled inhibitory effects of heparin. Arterioscler
Thromb Vasc Biol 1996; 16:1312-1318.

114. Emanueli C, Salis MB, Chao J, Chao L, Agata J, Lin KF, Munao A, Straino S,
Minasi A, Capogrossi MC, Madeddu P. Adenovirus-mediated human tissue kallikrein
gene delivery inhibits neointima formation induced by interruption of blood flow in mice.
Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol 2000; 20:1459-1466.

115. Murakami H, Yayama K, Miao RQ, Wang C, Chao L, Chao J. Kallikrein gene delivery inhibits vascular smooth muscle cell growth and neointima formation in the rat artery after balloon angioplasty. Hypertension 1999; 34:164-170.

116. Liaw L and Schwartz SM. Comparison of gene expression in bovine aortic endothelium in vivo versus in vitro. Differences in growth regulatory molecules. Arterioscler Thromb 1993; 13:985-993.

117. Aizawa Y, Kawabe J, Hasebe N, Takehara N, Kikuchi K. Pioglitazone enhances cytokine-induced apoptosis in vascular smooth muscle cells and reduces intimal hyperplasia. Circulation 2001; 104:455-460.

118. Yamashita T, Kawashima S, Ozaki M, Rikitake Y, Hirase T, Inoue N, Hirata K, Yokoyama M. A calcium channel blocker, benidipine, inhibits intimal thickening in the carotid artery of mice by increasing nitric oxide production. J Hypertens 2001; 19:451-458.

119. Hirata A, Igarashi M, Yamaguchi H, Suwabe A, Daimon M, Kato T, Tominaga M. Nifedipine suppresses neointimal thickening by its inhibitory effect on vascular smooth muscle cell growth via a MEK-ERK pathway coupling with Pyk2. Br J Pharmacol 2000; 131:1521-1530.

120. Lemay J, Tea BS, Hamet P, deBlois D. Regression of neointimal lesions in the carotid artery of nifedipine-treated SHR and WKY rats: possible role of apoptosis. J Vasc Res 2001; 38:462-470.

121. Babaei S, Teichert-Kuliszewska K, Monge JC, Mohamed F, Bendeck MP, Stewart DJ. Role of nitric oxide in the angiogenic response in vitro to basic fibroblast growth factor. Circ Res 1998; 82:1007-1015.

122. Denhardt DT and Chambers AF. Overcoming obstacles to metastasis--defenses against host defenses: osteopontin (OPN) as a shield against attack by cytotoxic host cells. J Cell Biochem 1994; 56:48-51.

123. Frank S, Madlener M, Pfeilschifter J, Werner S. Induction of inducible nitric oxide synthase and its corresponding tetrahydrobiopterin-cofactor-synthesizing enzyme GTPcyclohydrolase I during cutaneous wound repair. J Invest Dermatol 1998; 111:1058-1064. 124. Takeda K, Ichiki T, Tokunou T, Funakoshi Y, Iino N, Hirano K, Kanaide H, Takeshita A. Peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor gamma activators downregulate angiotensin II type 1 receptor in vascular smooth muscle cells. Circulation 2000; 102:1834-1839.

125. Tanaka Y, Schuster DP, Davis EC, Patterson GA, Botney MD. The role of vascular injury and hemodynamics in rat pulmonary artery remodeling. J Clin Invest 1996; 98:434-442.

126. Ishizaka N, Saito K, Mitani H, Yamazaki I, Sata M, Usui S, Mori I, Ohno M, Nagai R. Iron overload augments angiotensin II-induced cardiac fibrosis and promotes neointima formation. Circulation 2002; 106:1840-1846.

127. Young W, Mahboubi K, Haider A, Li I, Ferreri NR. Cyclooxygenase-2 is required for tumor necrosis factor-alpha- and angiotensin II-mediated proliferation of vascular smooth muscle cells. Circ Res 2000; 86:906-914.

128. Peifley KA, Alberts GF, Hsu DK, Feng SL, Winkles JA. Heparin-binding epidermal growth factor-like growth factor regulates fibroblast growth factor-2 expression in aortic smooth muscle cells. Circ Res 1996; 79:263-270.

129. Couper LL, Bryant SR, Eldrup-Jorgensen J, Bredenberg CE, Lindner V. Vascular endothelial growth factor increases the mitogenic response to fibroblast growth factor-2 in vascular smooth muscle cells in vivo via expression of fms-like tyrosine kinase-1. Circ Res 1997; 81:932-939.

130. Bryant SR, Bjercke RJ, Erichsen DA, Rege A, Lindner V. Vascular remodeling in response to altered blood flow is mediated by fibroblast growth factor-2. Circ Res 1999;84:323-328.

131. Rogers C, Karnovsky MJ, Edelman ER. Inhibition of experimental neointimal hyperplasia and thrombosis depends on the type of vascular injury and the site of drug administration. Circulation 1993; 88:1215-1221.

132. Matrisian LM, Ganser GL, Kerr LD, Pelton RW, Wood LD. Negative regulation of gene expression by TGF-beta. Mol Reprod Dev 1992; 32:111-120.

133. Kerr LD, Miller DB, Matrisian LM. TGF-beta 1 inhibition of transin/stromelysin gene expression is mediated through a Fos binding sequence. Cell 1990; 61:267-278.

134. Smith JD, Bryant SR, Couper LL, Vary CP, Gotwals PJ, Koteliansky VE, LindnerV. Soluble transforming growth factor-beta type II receptor inhibits negative remodeling,fibroblast transdifferentiation, and intimal lesion formation but not endothelial growth.Circ Res 1999; 84:1212-1222.

135. Tolbert T, Thompson JA, Bouchard P, Oparil S. Estrogen-induced vasoprotection is independent of inducible nitric oxide synthase expression: evidence from the mouse carotid artery ligation model. Circulation 2001; 104:2740-2745.

136. Wohlfeil ER and Campbell WB. 25-hydroxycholesterol increases eicosanoids and alters morphology in cultured pulmonary artery smooth muscle and endothelial cells. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol 1999; 19:2901-2908.

137. Namiki M, Kawashima S, Yamashita T, Ozaki M, Hirase T, Ishida T, Inoue N,

Hirata K, Matsukawa A, Morishita R, Kaneda Y, Yokoyama M. Local overexpression of monocyte chemoattractant protein-1 at vessel wall induces infiltration of macrophages and formation of atherosclerotic lesion: synergism with hypercholesterolemia.

Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol 2002; 22:115-120.

138. Numaguchi Y, Naruse K, Harada M, Osanai H, Mokuno S, Murase K, Matsui H, Toki Y, Ito T, Okumura K, Hayakawa T. Prostacyclin synthase gene transfer accelerates reendothelialization and inhibits neointimal formation in rat carotid arteries after balloon injury. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol 1999; 19:727-733.

139. Poon M, Gertz SD, Fallon JT, Wiegman P, Berman JW, Sarembock IJ, Taubman MB. Dexamethasone inhibits macrophage accumulation after balloon arterial injury in cholesterol fed rabbits. Atherosclerosis 2001; 155:371-380.

140. Bray PJ, Du B, Mejia VM, Hao SC, Deutsch E, Fu C, Wilson RC, Hanauske-Abel H, McCaffrey TA. Glucocorticoid resistance caused by reduced expression of the glucocorticoid receptor in cells from human vascular lesions. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol 1999; 19:1180-1189.

141. Tai JT, Brooks EE, Liang S, Somogyi R, Rosete JD, Lawn RM, Shiffman D. Determination of temporal expression patterns for multiple genes in the rat carotid artery injury model. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol 2000; 20:2184-2191.

142. Shekhonin BV, Domogatsky SP, Idelson GL, Koteliansky VE, Rukosuev VS. Relative distribution of fibronectin and type I, III, IV, V collagens in normal and atherosclerotic intima of human arteries. Atherosclerosis 1987; 67:9-16.

143. Langille BL, Bendeck MP, Keeley FW. Adaptations of carotid arteries of young and mature rabbits to reduced carotid blood flow. Am J Physiol 1989; 256:H931-939.

144. Ruoslahti E and Pierschbacher MD. New perspectives in cell adhesion: RGD and integrins. Science 1987; 238:491-497.

145. Pierschbacher MD and Ruoslahti E. Influence of stereochemistry of the sequenceArg-Gly-Asp-Xaa on binding specificity in cell adhesion. J Biol Chem 1987; 262:17294-17298.

146. Carey I, Williams CL, Ways DK, Noti JD. Overexpression of protein kinase Calpha in MCF-7 breast cancer cells results in differential regulation and expression of alphavbeta3 and alphavbeta5. Int J Oncol 1999; 15:127-136.

147. Scatena M, Almeida M, Chaisson ML, Fausto N, Nicosia RF, Giachelli CM. NFkappaB mediates alphavbeta3 integrin-induced endothelial cell survival. J Cell Biol 1998; 141:1083-1093.

148. Chaulet H, Desgranges C, Renault MA, Dupuch F, Ezan G, Peiretti F, Loirand G, Pacaud P, Gadeau AP. Extracellular nucleotides induce arterial smooth muscle cell migration via osteopontin. Circ Res 2001; 89:772-778.

149. Liaw L, Skinner MP, Raines EW, Ross R, Cheresh DA, Schwartz SM, Giachelli CM. The adhesive and migratory effects of osteopontin are mediated via distinct cell surface integrins. Role of alpha v beta 3 in smooth muscle cell migration to osteopontin in vitro. J Clin Invest 1995; 95:713-724.

150. Jones PL, Cowan KN, Rabinovitch M. Tenascin-C, proliferation and subendothelial fibronectin in progressive pulmonary vascular disease. Am J Pathol 1997; 150:1349-1360.
151. Jones PL, Crack J, Rabinovitch M. Regulation of tenascin-C, a vascular smooth muscle cell survival factor that interacts with the alpha v beta 3 integrin to promote epidermal growth factor receptor phosphorylation and growth. J Cell Biol 1997; 139:279-293.

152. Bendeck MP, Zempo N, Clowes AW, Galardy RE, Reidy MA. Smooth muscle cell migration and matrix metalloproteinase expression after arterial injury in the rat. Circ Res 1994; 75:539-545.

153. Scatena M and Giachelli C. The alpha(v)beta3 integrin, NF-kappaB, osteoprotegerin endothelial cell survival pathway. Potential role in angiogenesis. Trends Cardiovasc Med 2002; 12:83-88.

154. Mogford JE, Davis GE, Platts SH, Meininger GA. Vascular smooth muscle alpha v beta 3 integrin mediates arteriolar vasodilation in response to RGD peptides. Circ Res 1996; 79:821-826.

155. Hoshiga M, Alpers CE, Smith LL, Giachelli CM, Schwartz SM. Alpha-v beta-3 integrin expression in normal and atherosclerotic artery. Circ Res 1995; 77:1129-1135.
156. Baron JH, Moiseeva EP, de Bono DP, Abrams KR, Gershlick AH. Inhibition of vascular smooth muscle cell adhesion and migration by c7E3 Fab (abciximab): a possible mechanism for influencing restenosis. Cardiovasc Res 2000; 48:464-472.

157. Srivatsa SS, Fitzpatrick LA, Tsao PW, Reilly TM, Holmes DR Jr, Schwartz RS, Mousa SA. Selective alpha v beta 3 integrin blockade potently limits neointimal hyperplasia and lumen stenosis following deep coronary arterial stent injury: evidence for the functional importance of integrin alpha v beta 3 and osteopontin expression during neointima formation. Cardiovasc Res 1997; 36:408-428.

158. Liaw L, Lindner V, Schwartz SM, Chambers AF, Giachelli CM. Osteopontin and beta 3 integrin are coordinately expressed in regenerating endothelium in vivo and stimulate Arg-Gly-Asp-dependent endothelial migration in vitro. Circ Res 1995; 77:665-672. 159. Zheng DQ, Woodard AS, Tallini G, Languino LR. Substrate specificity of alphavbeta3 integrin-mediated cell migration and PI 3-kinase/AKT pathway activation. J Biol Chem 2000; 275(32):24565-24574.

160. Veinot JP, Srivatsa S, Carlson P. Beta3 integrin--a promiscuous integrin involved in vascular pathology. Can J Cardiol 1999; 15:762-770.

161. Bendeck MP, Irvin C, Reidy MA. Inhibition of matrix metalloproteinase activity inhibits smooth muscle cell migration but not neointimal thickening after arterial injury. Circ Res 1996; 78:38-43.

162. Agnihotri R, Crawford HC, Haro H, Matrisian LM, Havrda MC, Liaw L.

Osteopontin, a novel substrate for matrix metalloproteinase-3 (stromelysin-1) and matrix metalloproteinase-7 (matrilysin). J Biol Chem 2001; 276:28261-28267.

163. O'Brien ER, Alpers CE, Stewart DK, Ferguson M, Tran N, Gordon D, Benditt EP, Hinohara T, Simpson JB, Schwartz SM. Proliferation in primary and restenotic coronary atherectomy tissue. Implications for antiproliferative therapy. Circ Res 1993; 73:223-231.

164. Rectenwald JE, Minter RM, Moldawer LL, Abouhamze Z, La Face D, Hutchins E, Huber TS, Seeger JM, Ozaki CK. Interleukin-10 fails to modulate low shear stressinduced neointimal hyperplasia. J Surg Res 2002; 102:110-118.

165. Harmon KJ, Couper LL, Lindner V. Strain-dependent vascular remodeling phenotypes in inbred mice. Am J Pathol 2000; 156:1741-1748.

166. Sindermann JR, Smith J, Kobbert C, Plenz G, Skaletz-Rorowski A, Solomon JL, Fan L, March KL. Direct evidence for the importance of p130 in injury response and arterial remodeling following carotid artery ligation. Cardiovasc Res 2002; 54:676-683.

167. Freund, RJ, Littell, RC, Spector, PC. SAS system for linear models. 1991. SAS Institute Inc..

168. Sata M and Walsh K. Fas ligand-deficient mice display enhanced leukocyteinfiltration and intima hyperplasia in flow-restricted vessels. J Mol Cell Cardiol 2000;32:1395-1400.

169. Nugent HM, Rogers C, Edelman ER. Endothelial implants inhibit intimal hyperplasia after porcine angioplasty. Circ Res 1999; 84:384-391.

170. Rudic RD, Shesely EG, Maeda N, Smithies O, Segal SS, Sessa WC. Direct evidence for the importance of endothelium-derived nitric oxide in vascular remodeling. J Clin Invest 1998; 101:731-736.

171. Hochleitner BW, Hochleitner EO, Obrist P, Eberl T, Amberger A, Xu Q, Margreiter R, Wick G. Fluid shear stress induces heat shock protein 60 expression in endothelial cells in vitro and in vivo. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol 2000; 20:617-623.

172. Bayless KJ and Davis GE. Identification of dual alpha 4beta1 integrin binding sites within a 38 amino acid domain in the N-terminal thrombin fragment of human osteopontin. J Biol Chem 2001; 276:13483-13489.

173. Oldberg A, Franzen A, Heinegard D. Cloning and sequence analysis of rat bone sialoprotein (osteopontin) cDNA reveals an Arg-Gly-Asp cell-binding sequence. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 1986; 83:8819-8823.

174. Ritter NM, Farach-Carson MC, Butler WT. Evidence for the formation of a complex between osteopontin and osteocalcin. J Bone Miner Res 1992; 7:877-885.
175. Denhardt DT and Guo X. Osteopontin: a protein with diverse functions. FASEB J 1993; 7:1475-1482.

176. Craig AM and Denhardt DT. The murine gene encoding secreted phosphoprotein 1 (osteopontin): promoter structure, activity, and induction in vivo by estrogen and progesterone. Gene 1991; 100:163-171.

177. Tezuka Ki, Denhardt DT, Rodan GA, Harada Si. Stimulation of mouse osteopontin promoter by v-Src is mediated by a CCAAT box-binding factor. J Biol Chem 1996; 271:22713-22717.

178. Moses S, Franzen A, Lovdahl C, Hultgardh-Nilsson A. Injury-induced osteopontin gene expression in rat arterial smooth muscle cells is dependent on mitogen-activated protein kinases ERK1/ERK2. Arch Biochem Biophys 2001; 396:133-137.

179. Craig AM, Smith JH, Denhardt DT. Osteopontin, a transformation-associated cell adhesion phosphoprotein, is induced by 12-O-tetradecanoylphorbol 13-acetate in mouse epidermis. J Biol Chem 1989; 264:9682-9689.

180. Ashizawa N, Graf K, Do YS, Nunohiro T, Giachelli CM, Meehan WP, Tuan TL,
Hsueh WA. Osteopontin is produced by rat cardiac fibroblasts and mediates A(II)induced DNA synthesis and collagen gel contraction. J Clin Invest 1996; 98:2218-2227.
181. Campos AH, Zhao Y, Pollman MJ, Gibbons GH. DNA microarray profiling to
identify angiotensin-responsive genes in vascular smooth muscle cells: potential mediators
of vascular disease. Circ Res 2003; 92:111-118.

182. Kubota, T, Zhang, Q, Wrana, JL, Ber, R, Aubin, JE, Butler, WT, Sodek, J. Multiple forms of Spp1 (secreted phosphoprotein, osteopontin) synthesized by normal and transformed rat bone cell populations: regulation by TGF-beta. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 1989; 162:1453-1459.

183. Xie Y, Sakatsume M, Nishi S, Narita I, Arakawa M, Gejyo F. Expression, roles, receptors, and regulation of osteopontin in the kidney. Kidney Int 2001; 60:1645-1657.

184. Matsue M, Kageyama R, Denhardt DT, Noda M. Helix-loop-helix-type transcription factor (HES-1) is expressed in osteoblastic cells, suppressed by 1,25(OH)2 vitamin D3, and modulates 1,25(OH)2 vitamin D3 enhancement of osteopontin gene expression. Bone 1997; 20:329-334.

185. Moore MA, Gotoh Y, Rafidi K, Gerstenfeld LC. Characterization of a cDNA for chicken osteopontin: expression during bone development, osteoblast differentiation, and tissue distribution. Biochemistry 1991; 30:2501-2508.

186. Butler WT. Structural and functional domains of osteopontin. Ann N Y Acad Sci 1995; 760:6-11.

187. Senger DR, Perruzzi CA, Papadopoulos-Sergiou A, Van de Water L. Adhesive properties of osteopontin: regulation by a naturally occurring thrombin-cleavage in close proximity to the GRGDS cell-binding domain. Mol Biol Cell 1994; 5:565-574.
188. Smith LL and Giachelli CM. Structural requirements for alpha 9 beta 1-mediated

adhesion and migration to thrombin-cleaved osteopontin. Exp Cell Res 1998; 242:351-360.

189. Yokosaki Y, Matsuura N, Sasaki T, Murakami I, Schneider H, Higashiyama S, Saitoh Y, Yamakido M, Taooka Y, Sheppard D. The integrin alpha(9)beta(1) binds to a novel recognition sequence (SVVYGLR) in the thrombin-cleaved amino-terminal fragment of osteopontin. J Biol Chem 1999; 274:36328-36334.

190. Smith LL, Cheung HK, Ling LE, Chen J, Sheppard D, Pytela R, Giachelli CM. Osteopontin N-terminal domain contains a cryptic adhesive sequence recognized by alpha9beta1 integrin. J Biol Chem 1996; 271:28485-28491.

191. Ikeda T, Shirazawa T, Esaki Y, Yoshiki S, and Hirokawa K. Osteopontin mRNA is expressed by smooth muscle-derived foam cells in human atherosclerotic lesions of the aorta. J Clin Invest 1993; 92: 2814-2820.

192. Singh K, Deonarine D, Shanmugam V, Senger DR, Mukherjee AB, Chang PL, Prince CW, Mukherjee BB. Calcium-binding properties of osteopontin derived from nonosteogenic sources. J Biochem (Tokyo) 1993; 114:702-707.

193. Kon S, Maeda M, Segawa T, Hagiwara Y, Horikoshi Y, Chikuma S, Tanaka K, Rashid MM, Inobe M, Chambers AF, Uede T. Antibodies to different peptides in osteopontin reveal complexities in the various secreted forms. J Cell Biochem 2000; 77:487-498.

194. Lopez CA, Olson ES, Adams JC, Mou K, Denhardt DT, Davis RL. Osteopontin expression detected in adult cochleae and inner ear fluids. Hear Res 1995; 85:210-222.

195. Sorensen ES and Petersen TE. Phosphorylation, glycosylation, and transglutaminase sites in bovine osteopontin. Ann N Y Acad Sci 1995; 760:363-366.

196. Ek-Rylander B, Flores M, Wendel M, Heienegard D, Andersen G.

Dephosphorylation of osteopontin and bone sialoprotein by osteoclastic tartrateresistant acid phosphatase. J Biol Chem 1994; 269: 14853-14856.

197. Anderson RA, Boronenkov IV, Doughman SD, Kunz J, Loijens JC.

Phosphatidylinositol phosphate kinases, a multifaceted family of signaling enzymes. J Biol Chem 1999; 274:9907-9990.

198. Jono S, Peinado C, Giachelli CM. Phosphorylation of osteopontin is required for inhibition of vascular smooth muscle cell calcification. J Biol Chem 2000; 275:20197-20203.

199. Fedarko NS, Fohr B, Robey PG, Young MF, and Fisher LW. Factor H binding of bone sialoprotein and osteopontin enables tumor cell evasion of complement-mediated attack. J Biol Chem 2000; 275: 16666-16672.

200. Gorski JP, Kremer E, Ruiz-Perez J, Wise GE, Artigues A. Conformational analyses on soluble and surface bound osteopontin. Ann N Y Acad Sci 1995; 760:12-23.

201. Kaartinen MT, Pirhonen A, Linnala-Kankkunen A, Maenpaa PH. Cross-linking of osteopontin by tissue transglutaminase increases its collagen binding properties. J Biol Chem 1999; 274:1729-1735.

202. Mukherjee BB, Nemir M, Beninati S, Cordella-Miele E, Singh K, Chackalaparampil I, Shanmugam V, DeVouge MW, Mukherjee AB. Interaction of osteopontin with fibronectin and other extracellular matrix molecules. Ann N Y Acad Sci 1995; 760:201-212.

203. Kaartinen MT, Pirhonen A, Linnala-Kankkunen A, Maenpaa PH.

Transglutaminase-catalyzed cross-linking of osteopontin is inhibited by osteocalcin. J Biol Chem 1997; 272:22736-22741.

204. Kaartinen MT, El-Maadawy S, Rasanen NH, Maenpaa PH, Moradian-Oldak J, McKee M. Osteopontin as a substrate for transglutaminase. Presented at Third International Conference on Osteopontin and Related Proteins, May 10-12, 2002. San Antonio, Texas.

205. Beninati S, Senger DR, Cordella-Miele E, Mukherjee AB, Chackalaparampil I, Shanmugam V, Singh K, Mukherjee BB. Osteopontin: its transglutaminase-catalyzed posttranslational modifications and cross-linking to fibronectin. J Biochem (Tokyo) 1994; 115:675-682. 206. Senger DR, Brown LF, Perruzzi CA, Papadopoulos-Sergiou A, Van de Water L. Osteopontin at the tumor/host interface. Functional regulation by thrombin-cleavage and consequences for cell adhesion. Ann N Y Acad Sci 1995; 760:83-100.

207. Liaw L and Crawford HC. Functions of the extracellular matrix and matrix degrading proteases during tumor progression. Braz J Med Biol Res 1999; 32:805-812.

208. Senger DR and Perruzzi CA. Cell migration promoted by a potent GRGDScontaining thrombin-cleavage fragment of osteopontin. Biochim Biophys Acta 1996;

1314:13-24.

209. Lacolley P, Challande P, Boumaza S, Cohuet G, Laurent S, Boutouyrie P, Grimaud JA, Paulin D, Lamaziere JM, Li Z. Mechanical properties and structure of carotid arteries in mice lacking desmin. Cardiovasc Res 2001; 51:178-187.

210. Zohar R, Suzuki N, Suzuki K, Arora P, Glogauer M, McCulloch CAG, Sodek J. Intracellular osteopontin is an integral component of the CD44-ERM complex involved in cell migration. J Cell Physiol 2000; 184: 118-130.

211. Zohar R, Zhu B., McCulloch CAG., and Sodek J. Intracellular osteopontin and cell survival. Presented at Third International Conference on Osteopontin and Related Proteins. May 10-12, 2002. San Antonio, Texas.

212. Caltabiano S, Hum WT, Attwell GJ, Gralnick DN, Budman LJ, Cannistraci AM, Bex FJ. The integrin specificity of human recombinant osteopontin. Biochem Pharmacol 1999; 58:1567-1578.

213. Giancotti FG and Ruoslahti E. Integrin signaling. Science 1999; 285:1028-1032.
214. Duong LT, Lakkakorpi1 P, Nakamura I, Rodan GA. Integrins and signaling in osteoclast function. Matrix Biol 2000; 19:97-105.

215. Chellaiah M, Fitzgerald C, Filardo E J, Cheresh DA, and Hruska KA. Osteopontin activation of c-src in human melanoma cells requires the cytoplasmic domain of the integrin av-subunit. Endocrinology 1996; 137: 2432-2440.

216. Helluin O, Chan C, Vilaire G, Mousa S, DeGrado WF, Bennett JS. The activation state of alphavbeta 3 regulates platelet and lymphocyte adhesion to intact and thrombincleaved osteopontin. J Biol Chem 2000; 275:18337-18343.

217. Giachelli CM, Liaw L, Murry CE, Schwartz SM, Almeida M. Osteopontin expression in cardiovascular diseases. Ann N Y Acad Sci 1995; 760:109-126.

218. Smith LL, Greenfield BW, Aruffo A, Giachelli CM. CD44 is not an adhesive receptor for osteopontin. J Cell Biochem 1999; 73:20-30.

219. Goodison S, Urquidi V, Tarin D. CD44 cell adhesion molecules. Mol Pathol 1999;52:189-196.

220. Weber GF, Ashkar S, Glimcher MJ, Cantor H. Receptor-ligand interaction between CD44 and osteopontin (Eta-1). Science 1996; 271:509-512.

221. Lin YH, Huang CJ, Chao JR, Chen ST, Lee SF, Yen JJ, Yang-Yen HF. Coupling of osteopontin and its cell surface receptor CD44 to the cell survival response by interleukin-3 or ganulocyte-macrophage colony stimulating factor. Mol Cell Biol 2000; 20:2734-2742.

222. Weber GF, Ashkar S, Cantor H. Interaction between CD44 and osteopontin as a potential basis for metastasis formation. Proc Assoc Am Physicians 1997; 109:1-9.

223. Weiss JM, Renkl AC, Sleeman J, Dittmar H, Termeer CC, Taxis S, Howells N, Schopf E, Ponta H, Herrlich P, Simon JC. CD44 variant isoforms are essential for the function of epidermal Langerhans cells and dendritic cells. Cell Adhes Commun 1998; 6:157-160.

224. Weiss JM, Sleeman J, Renkl AC, Dittmar H, Termeer CC, Taxis S, Howells N, Hofmann M, Kohler G, Schopf E, Ponta H, Herrlich P, Simon JC. An essential role for CD44 variant isoforms in epidermal Langerhans cell and blood dendritic cell function. J Cell Biol 1997; 137:1137-1147.

225. Brown LF, Berse B, Van de Water L, Papadopoulos-Sergiou A, Perruzzi CA, Manseau EJ, Dvorak HF, Senger DR. Expression and distribution of osteopontin in human tissues: widespread association with luminal epithelial surfaces. Mol Biol Cell 1992; 3:1169-1180.

226. Bayless KJ, Davis GE, Meininger GA. Isolation and biological properties of osteopontin from bovine milk. Protein Expr Purif 1997; 9:309-314.

227. Senger DR, Perruzzi CA, Papadopoulos A, Tenen DG. Purification of a human milk protein closely similar to tumor-secreted phosphoproteins and osteopontin. Biochim Biophys Acta 1989; 996:43-48.

228. Nomura S and Takano-Yamamoto T. Molecular events caused by mechanical stress in bone. Matrix Biol 2000; 19:91-96.

229. Chiba S, Okamoto H, Kon S, Kimura C, Murakami M, Inobe M, Matsui Y, Sugawara T, Shimizu T, Uede T, Kitabatake A. Development of atherosclerosis in osteopontin transgenic mice. Heart Vessels 2002; 16:111-117.

230. Goppelt-Struebe M, Wiedemann T, Heusinger-Ribeiro J, Vucadinovic M, Rehm M, Prols F. Cox-2 and osteopontin in cocultured platelets and mesangial cells: role of glucocorticoids. Kidney Int 2000; 57:2229-2238.

231. Rittling SR, Matsumoto HN, McKee MD, Nanci A, An XR, Novick KE, Kowalski AJ, Noda M, Denhardt DT. Mice lacking osteopontin show normal development and bone structure but display altered osteoclast formation in vitro. J Bone Miner Res 1998; 13:1101-1111.

232. Rittling SR and Denhardt DT. Osteopontin function in pathology: lessons from osteopontin-deficient mice. Exp Nephrol 1999; 7:103-113.

233. Asou Y, Rittling SR, Yoshitake H, Tsuji K, Shinomiya K, Nifuji A, Denhardt DT, Noda M. Osteopontin facilitates angiogenesis, accumulation of osteoclasts, and resorption in ectopic bone. Endocrinology 2001; 142:1325-1332.

234. Ihara H, Denhardt DT, Furuya K, Yamashita T, Muguruma Y, Tsuji K, Hruska KA, Higashio K, Enomoto S, Nifuji A, Rittling SR, Noda M. Parathyroid hormone-induced bone resorption does not occur in the absence of osteopontin. J Biol Chem 2001; 276:13065-13071.

235. Ishijima M, Rittling SR, Yamashita T, Tsuji K, Kurosawa H, Nifuji A, Denhardt DT, Noda M. Enhancement of osteoclastic bone resorption and suppression of osteoblastic bone formation in response to reduced mechanical stress do not occur in the absence of osteopontin. J Exp Med 2001; 193:399-404.

236. Yoshitake H, Rittling SR, Denhardt DT, Noda M. Osteopontin-deficient mice are resistant to ovariectomy-induced bone resorption [published erratum appears in Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 1999 Sep 14;96(19):10944]. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 1999; 96:8156-8160.

237. Hullinger TG, Taichman RS, Linseman DA, Somerman MJ. Secretory products from PC-3 and MCF-7 tumor cell lines upregulate osteopontin in MC3T3-E1 cells. J Cell Biochem 2000; 78:607-616.

238. Kazanecki CC, Fisher LW, Sorensen ES, and Denhardt DT. A fluid flow response deficiency of osteopontin knock-out long bone cells. Presented at Third International Conference on Osteopontin and Related Proteins. May 10-12, 2002. San Antonio, Texas. 239. You J, Reilly GC, Zhen X, Osteopontin-deficient bone cells are defective in their ability to produce NO in response to pulsatile fluid flow. Biochem Biophys Res Com 2001; 288: 448-453.

240. Hudkins KL, Giachelli CM, Cui Y, Couser WG, Johnson RJ, Alpers CE.Osteopontin expression in fetal and mature human kidney. J Am Soc Nephrol 1999;10:444-457.

241. Endlich N, Sunohara M, Nietfeld W, Wolski EW, Schiwek D, Kranzlin B, Gretz N, Kriz W, Eickhoff H, Endlich K. Analysis of differential gene expression in stretched podocytes: osteopontin enhances adaptation of podocytes to mechanical stress. FASEB J 2002; 16:1850-1852.

242. Chae CU, Lee RT, Rifai N, Ridker PM. Blood pressure and inflammation in apparently healthy men. Hypertension 2001; 38:399-403.

243. Jamjourn LS, Bielak LF, Turner ST, Sheedy II PF, Boerwinkle E, Raghunathan TE, Peyser PA. Relationship of blood pressure measures with coronary artery calcification. Med Sci Monit 2002; 8:CR775-781.

252. McKee MD and Nanci A. Secretion of osteopontin by macrophages and its accumulation at tissue surfaces during wound healing in mineralized tissues: a potential requirement for macrophage adhesion and phagocytosis. Anat Rec 1996; 245:394-409.
253. O'Regan AW, Hayden JM, Body S, Liaw L, Mulligan N, Goetschkes M, Berman JS. Abnormal pulmonary granuloma formation in osteopontin-deficient mice. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 2001; 164:2243-2247.

254. Weber GF and Cantor H. The immunology of Eta-1/osteopontin. Cytokine Growth Factor Rev 1996; 7:241-248.

255. Weiss JM, Renkl AC, Maier CS, Kimmig M, Liaw L, Ahrens T, Kon S, Maeda M, Hotta H, Uede T, Simon JC. Osteopontin is involved in the initiation of cutaneous contact hypersensitivity by inducing Langerhans and dendritic cell migration to lymph nodes. J Exp Med 2001; 194:1219-1229.

256. Ophascharoensuk V, Giachelli CM, Gordon K, Hughes J, Pichler R, Brown P, Liaw L, Schmidt R, Shankland SJ, Alpers CE, Couser WG, Johnson RJ. Obstructive uropathy in the mouse: role of osteopontin in interstitial fibrosis and apoptosis. Kidney Int 1999; 56:571-580.

257. Rich G, Yoder EJ, Moore SA. Regulation of prostaglandin H synthase-2 expression in cerebromicrovascular smooth muscle by serum and epidermal growth factor. J Cell Physiol 1998; 176:495-505.

258. Ashkar S, Weber GF, Panoutsakopoulou V, Sanchirico ME, Jansson M, Zawaideh S, Rittling SR, Denhardt DT, Glimcher MJ, Cantor H. Eta-1 (osteopontin): an early component of type-1 (cell-mediated) immunity. Science 2000; 287:860-864.

259. Chabas D, Baranzini SE, Mitchell D, Bernard CC, Rittling SR, Denhardt DT, Sobel RA, Lock C, Karpuj M, Pedotti R, Heller R, Oksenberg JR, Steinman L. The influence of the proinflammatory cytokine, osteopontin, on autoimmune demyelinating disease. Science 2001; 294:1731-1735.

260. Rollo EE, Laskin DL, Denhardt DT. Osteopontin inhibits nitric oxide production and cytotoxicity by activated RAW264.7 macrophages. J Leukoc Biol 1996; 60:397-404.
261. Feng B, Rollo EE, Denhardt DT. Osteopontin (OPN) may facilitate metastasis by protecting cells from macrophage NO-mediated cytotoxicity: evidence from cell lines down-regulated for OPN expression by a targeted ribozyme. Clin Exp Metastasis 1995; 13:453-462.

262. Crawford HC, Matrisian LM, Liaw L. Distinct roles of osteopontin in host defense activity and tumor survival during squamous cell carcinoma progression in vivo. Cancer Res 1998; 58:5206-5215.

263. Brown LF, Papadopoulos-Sergiou A, Berse B, Manseau EJ, Tognazzi K, Perruzzi CA, Dvorak HF, Senger DR. Osteopontin expression and distribution in human carcinomas. Am J Pathol 1994; 145:610-623.

264. Chambers AF, Behrend EI, Wilson SM, Denhardt DT. Induction of expression of osteopontin (OPN; secreted phosphoprotein) in metastatic, ras-transformed NIH 3T3 cells. Anticancer Res 1992; 12:43-47.

265. Senger DR, Perruzzi CA, Papadopoulos A. Elevated expression of secreted phosphoprotein I (osteopontin, 2ar) as a consequence of neoplastic transformation. Anticancer Res 1989; 9:1291-1299.

266. Senger DR, Asch BB, Smith BD, Perruzzi CA, Dvorak HF. A secreted phosphoprotein marker for neoplastic transformation of both epithelial and fibroblastic cells. Nature 1983; 302:714-715.

267. Senger DR and Perruzzi CA. Secreted phosphoprotein markers for neoplastic
transformation of human epithelial and fibroblastic cells. Cancer Res 1985; 45:5818-5823.
268. Nakano T, Raines EW, Abraham JA, Wenzel FG 4th, Higashiyama S, Klagsbrun M,
Ross R. Glucocorticoid inhibits thrombin-induced expression of platelet-derived growth
factor A-chain and heparin-binding epidermal growth factor-like growth factor in human
aortic smooth muscle cells. J Biol Chem 1993; 268:22941-22947.

269. Behrend EI, Craig AM, Wilson SM, Denhardt DT, Chambers AF. Expression of antisense osteopontin RNA in metastatic mouse fibroblasts is associated with reduced malignancy. Ann N Y Acad Sci 1995; 760:299-301.

270. Behrend EI, Craig AM, Wilson SM, Denhardt DT, Chambers AF. Reduced malignancy of ras-transformed NIH 3T3 cells expressing antisense osteopontin RNA. Cancer Res 1994; 54:832-837.

271. Gardner HA, Berse B, Senger DR. Specific reduction in osteopontin synthesis by antisense RNA inhibits the tumorigenicity of transformed Rat1 fibroblasts. Oncogene 1994; 9:2321-2326.

272. Waterhouse P, Parhar RS, Guo X, Lala PK, Denhardt DT. Regulated temporal and spatial expression of the calcium-binding proteins calcyclin and OPN (osteopontin) in mouse tissues during pregnancy. Mol Reprod Dev 1992; 32:315-323.

273. Al-Shami R, Thathiah A, Lagow E, Carson D, and Farach-Carson, MC. Role of osteopontin charge forms in human embryo implantation. Presented at Third International Conference on Osteopontin and Related Proteins. May 10-12, 2002. San Antonio, Texas.

274. Giachelli CM, Bae N, Almeida M, Denhardt DT, Alpers CE, Schwartz SM.
Osteopontin is elevated during neointima formation in rat arteries and is a novel component of human atherosclerotic plaques. J Clin Invest 1993; 92:1686-1696.
275. Lesauskaite V, Tanganelli P, Sassi C, Neri E, Diciolla F, Ivanoviene L, Epistolato MC, Lalinga AV, Alessandrini C, Spina D. Smooth muscle cells of the media in the dilatative pathology of ascending thoracic aorta: morphology, immunoreactivity for osteopontin, matrix metalloproteinases, and their inhibitors. Hum Pathol 2001; 32:1003-1011.

276. O'Brien KD, Kuusisto J, Reichenbach DD, Ferguson M, Giachelli C, Alpers CE,
Otto CM. Osteopontin is expressed in human aortic valvular lesions. Circulation 1995;
92:2163-2168.

277. Graf K, Do YS, Ashizawa N, Meehan WP, Giachelli CM, Marboe CC, Fleck E, Hsueh WA. Myocardial osteopontin expression is associated with left ventricular hypertrophy. Circulation 1997; 96:3063-3071.

278. Speer MY, McKee MD, Guldberg RE, Liaw L, Yang HY, Tung E, Karsenty G, Giachelli CM. Inactivation of the osteopontin gene enhances vascular calcification of matrix Gla protein-deficient mice: evidence for osteopontin as an inducible inhibitor of vascular calcification in vivo. J Exp Med 2002; 196:1047-1055.

279. Isoda K, Nishikawa K, Kamezawa Y, Yoshida M, Kusuhara M, Moroi M, Tada N, Ohsuzu F. Osteopontin plays an important role in the development of medial thickening and neointimal formation. Circ Res 2002; 91:77-82.

280. Liaw L, Lombardi DM, Almeida MM, Schwartz SM, deBlois D, Giachelli CM. Neutralizing antibodies directed against osteopontin inhibit rat carotid neointimal thickening after endothelial denudation. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol 1997; 17:188-193. 281. Liaw L, Birk DE, Ballas CB, Whitsitt JS, Davidson JM, Hogan BL. Altered wound healing in mice lacking a functional osteopontin gene (spp1). J Clin Invest 1998; 101:1468-1478.

282. Kon S, Yokosaki Y, Maeda M, Segawa T, Horikoshi Y, Tsukagoshi H, Rashid MM, Morimoto J, Inobe M, Shijubo N, Chambers AF, Uede T. Mapping of functional epitopes of osteopontin by monoclonal antibodies raised against defined internal sequences. J Cell Biochem 2002; 84:420-432.

283. Trueblood NA, Xie Z, Communal C, Sam F, Ngoy S, Liaw L, Jenkins AW, Wang J, Sawyer DB, Bing OH, Apstein CS, Colucci WS, Singh K. Exaggerated left ventricular dilation and reduced collagen deposition after myocardial infarction in mice lacking osteopontin. Circ Res 2001; 88:1080-1087.

284. Hoffman AS, Grande LA, Park JB. Sequential enzymolysis of human aorta and resultant stress-strain behavior. Biomater Med Devices Artif Organs 1977; 5:121-145.
285. Liaw L, Almeida M, Hart CE, Schwartz SM, Giachelli CM. Osteopontin promotes vascular cell adhesion and spreading and is chemotactic for smooth muscle cells in vitro. Circ Res 1994; 74:214-224.

286. Abramson JL, Weintraub WS, Vaccarino V. Association between pulse pressure and C-reactive protein among apparently healthy US adults. Hypertension 2002; 39:197-202.
287. Turner ST, Bielak LF, Narayana AK, Sheedy PF 2nd, Schwartz GL, Peyser PA. Ambulatory blood pressure and coronary artery calcification in middle-aged and younger adults. Am J Hypertens 2002; 15:518-524.

288. Hoemann CD, Sun J, Chrzanowski V, Buschmann MD. A multivalent assay to detect glycosaminoglycan, protein, collagen, RNA, and DNA content in milligram samples of cartilage or hydrogel-based repair cartilage. Anal Biochem 2002; 300:1-10.

289. Ramanujan S, Pluen A, McKee TD, Brown EB, Boucher Y, Jain RK. Diffusion and convection in collagen gels: implications for transport in the tumor interstitium. Biophys J 2002; 83:1650-1660.

290. Netti PA, Berk DA, Swartz MA, Grodzinsky AJ, Jain RK. Role of extracellular matrix assembly in interstitial transport in solid tumors. Cancer Res 2000; 60:2497-503.
291. Graphpad Software Inc. Curvefit.com:the complete guide to non-linear regression.
"http://www.curvefit.com".

292. Yuryov D. Absurd trivial errors in Scatchard plot analysis. 2003.

"http://www.orc.ru/~yur77/absurd.html".

293. Lodish H, Berk A, Zipursky SL, Matsudaira P, Baltimore D, Darnell J. Molecular Cell Biology. 2000. W.H. Freeman and Company, New York, NY.

294. Spilker MH, Asano K, Yannas IV, Spector M. Contraction of collagenglycosaminoglycan matrices by peripheral nerve cells in vitro. Biomaterials 2001; 22:1085-1093.

295. Robb BW, Wachi H, Schaub T, Mecham RP, Davis EC. Characterization of an in vitro model of elastic fiber assembly. Mol Biol Cell 1999; 10:3595-3605.

296. Kuykindoll RJ, Nishimura H, Thomason DB, Nishimoto SK. Osteopontin expression in spontaneously developed neointima in fowl (Gallus gallus). J Exp Biol 2000; 203: 273-282

297. Yumoto K, Ishijima M, Ritling SR, Tsuji K, Tsuchiya Y, Kon S, Nifuji A, Uede T, Denhardt DT, Noda M. Osteopontin deficiency protects joints against destruction in anti-type II collagen antibody-induced arthritis in mice. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2002; 99(7):4556-4561. 298. Lo CG, Lu TT, Cyster JG. Integrin-dependence of lymphocyte entry into the splenic white pulp. J Exp Med. 2003; 197(3):353-361.

299. Yee KO, Schwartz SM. Why atherosclerotic vessels narrow: the fibrin hypothesis. Thromb Haemost. 1999; 82(2):762-771.

300. Thibault G, Lacombe MJ, Schnapp LM, Lacasse A, Bouzeghrane F, Lapalme G. Upregulation of alpha(8)beta(1)-integrin in cardiac fibroblast by angiotensin II and transforming growth factor-beta1. Am J Physiol Cell Physiol. 2001; 281(5):C1457-1467.

BIOGRAPHY OF THE AUTHOR

Daniel L. Myers was born in Lewiston, Maine on April 4, 1963. He was raised in Portland, Maine and graduated from Portland High School in 1981. He attended the University of Maine and graduated in 1989 with Bachelor's degrees in Zoology and Chemistry. He attended Saint Louis University and graduated in 1992 with a Bachelor's degree in Nursing. While caring for pediatric patients at Maine Medical Center, a large hospital in southern Maine, he graduated in 1994 with a Bachelor's degree in Human Development from the University of Maine.

Dan is a candidate for the Doctor of Philosophy degree in Biological Sciences from The University of Maine in May, 2004.